2 VR o
{d l %@

2. Richmond

"

Agenda

CNCL-12

CNCL-26

CNCL-34

City Council

Council Chambers, City Hall
6911 No. 3 Road

Monday, May 13, 2019
7:00 p.m.

ITEM

MINUTES

1. Motion to:

(1) adopt the minutes of the Regular Council meeting held on April 23,

2019;

(2) adopt the minutes of the Special Council meeting held on April 23,

2019 and May 6, 2019;

(3) receive for information the Metro Vancouver ‘Board in Brief’ dated

April 26, 2019.

AGENDAADDITIONS & DELETIONS

PRESENTATION

Liesl Jauk, Manager Arts Services, to present the Arts Services Year in

Review video.
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Council Agenda - Monday, May 13, 2019

Pg. #

6177644

ITEM

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

Motion to resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on
agenda items.

Delegations from the floor on Agenda items.

PLEASE NOTE THAT FOR LEGAL REASONS, DELEGATIONS ARE
NOT PERMITTED ON ZONING OR OCP AMENDMENT BYLAWS
WHICH ARE TO BE ADOPTED OR ON DEVELOPMENT
PERMITS/DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMITS.

Motion to rise and report.

RATIFICATION OF COMMITTEE ACTION

CONSENT AGENDA

PLEASE NOTE THAT ITEMS APPEARING ON THE CONSENT
AGENDA WHICH PRESENT A CONFLICT OF INTEREST FOR
COUNCIL MEMBERS MUST BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT
AGENDA AND CONSIDERED SEPARATELY.

CONSENT AGENDA HIGHLIGHTS

= Receipt of Committee minutes
= Arts Services Year in Review 2018
= Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024

= Strengthening the Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw Related to
Vacant Homes

=  Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 20192029
= 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements

=  Amendment to Heritage Alteration Permit (HA 18-818536) for 3711 and
3731 Chatham Street and Steveston Village Heritage Conservation Grant
Program Application by the Richmond Hospital/Healthcare Auxiliary
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CNCL-47

CNCL-68
CNCL-72
CNCL-76

CNCL-83

6177644

= Land use applications and other matters for first reading (to be further
considered at the Public Hearing on June 17, 2019):

= 5800 Cedarbridge Way — Zoning Text Amendment to IR1 to permit
a distillery (Paul Doroshenko — applicant)

= 9520 Beckwith Road — OCP Amendment to Schedule 2.10 to create
Z119 and Rezone RS1/F to ZI19 (IBI Group Architects (Canada)
Inc. — applicant)

= 11540 Railway Avenue — Rezone from RS1/E to RDA (Evernu
Developments — applicant)

= City-wide Signage Improvements for Rezoning and Development
Projects — (City of Richmond — applicant)

=  Development Notification Requirements and Service Levels

Motion to adopt Items No. 6 through No. 17 by general consent.

COMMITTEE MINUTES

That the minutes of:

(1) the Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee meeting held
on April 24, 2019;

(2) the General Purposes Committee meeting held on May 6, 2019;
(3) the Einance Committee meeting held on May 6, 2019;

(4) the Planning Committee meeting held on May 7, 2019;
be received for information.

ARTS SERVICES YEAR IN REVIEW 2018
(File Ref. No. 11-7000-01) (REDMS No. 6156917 v. 2)

See Page CNCL -83 for full report

PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION

That the Arts Services Year in Review 2018 as presented in the staff report
titled, “Arts Services Year in Review 2018,” dated March 29, 2019, from the
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services, be circulated to the
Community Partners and Funders for their information.
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CNCL-147

CNCL-200

6177644

ITEM

DRAFT RICHMOND ARTS STRATEGY 2019-2024
(File Ref. No. 11-7000-01) (REDMS No. 6158128; 6160962)

See Page CNCL -147 for full report

PARKS, RECREATION AND CULTURAL SERVICES COMMITTEE
RECOMMENDATION

(1)

(2)

That the Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, included as
Attachment 1 of the staff report titled “Draft Richmond Arts Strategy
2019-2024,” dated April 2, 2019, from the Director, Arts, Culture and
Heritage Services, be adopted for the purpose of seeking stakeholder
and public feedback on the strategy; and

That the Final Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, including the
results of the stakeholder and public feedback, be reported back to the
Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee.

STRENGTHENING THE UNSIGHTLY PREMISES REGULATION

BYLAW RELATED TO VACANT HOMES
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-02-01; 12-8060-20-009819/9820/9821) (REDMS No. 6129635 v. 3; 5717742;
6152819; 6152828)

See Page CNCL.-200 for full report

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

1)

(2)

©)

That Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, Amendment
Bylaw No. 9819, to strengthen the City’s approach to unsightly
properties and vacant homes, be introduced and given first, second
and third readings;

That Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9820, to increase fines for unsightly
properties, be introduced and given first, second and third readings;
and

That Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No.
8122, Amendment Bylaw No. 9821, to add additional ticketing
authority, be introduced and given first, second and third readings.

CNCL -4



Council Agenda - Monday, May 13, 2019

Consent
Agenda
Item

Consent
Agenda
Item

Consent
Agenda
Item

Pg. #

CNCL-214

CNCL-257

CNCL-325

6177644

ITEM

10.

11.

12.

DRAFT RICHMOND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2019-2029
(File Ref. No. 08-4057-11-01) (REDMS No. 6153845 v. 3)

See Page CNCL -214 for full report

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

(1) That the Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029, as
outlined in Attachment 1 of the staff report titled “Draft Richmond
Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029”, dated April 12, 2019, be
approved for the purpose of seeking public feedback on the Draft
Strategy; and

(2) That the final Richmond Homelessness Strategy, including a
summary of public feedback received, be reported back to General
Purposes Committee.

2018 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(File Ref. No. 03-09-05-01) (REDMS No. 6168681 v. 2; 6143862; 6168895; 6172261)

See Page CNCL -257 for full report

FINANCE COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

That the City’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018 be accepted.

APPLICATION BY PAUL DOROSHENKO FOR A ZONING TEXT
AMENDMENT TO THE “INDUSTRIAL RETAIL (IR1)” ZONE TO

PERMIT A DISTILLERY AT 5800 CEDARBRIDGE WAY
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-010022; ZT 18-815709) (REDMS No. 5981442; 6157113)

See Page CNCL -325 for full report

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10022, for a
Zoning Text Amendment to the “Industrial Retail (IR1)” zone to permit
“microbrewery, winery and distillery”, as a site-specific use and limited to
one establishment, at 5800 Cedarbridge Way, be introduced and given first
reading.
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CNCL-340

CNCL-376
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ITEM

13.

14.

AMENDMENT TO HERITAGE ALTERATION PERMIT (HA 18-
818536) FOR 3711 AND 3731 CHATHAM STREET AND STEVESTON
VILLAGE HERITAGE CONSERVATION GRANT PROGRAM
APPLICATION BY THE RICHMOND HOSPITAL/HEALTHCARE

AUXILIARY
(File Ref. No. HA 18-818536) (REDMS No. 6162947 v. 2)

See Page CNCL -340 for full report

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

(1) That an amendment to the Heritage Alteration Permit
(HA 18-818536) for foundation replacement work at 3711 and 3731
Chatham Street, which was issued on May 14, 2018, be approved;
and

(2) That a grant request of $150,000 to the Richmond
Hospital/Healthcare Auxiliary be approved under the Steveston
Village Heritage Conservation Grant Program to assist with the
foundation replacement work for the heritage protected building
located at 3711 and 3731 Chatham Street and disbursed in
accordance with Council Policy 5900.

APPLICATION BY IBI GROUP ARCHITECTS (CANADA) INC. TO
AMEND SCHEDULE 2.10 OF OFFICIAL COMMUNITY BYLAW
7100 (CITY CENTRE AREA PLAN), CREATE THE “LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE (ZI119) - BRIDGEPORT VILLAGE
(CITY CENTRE)” ZONE, AND REZONE THE SITE AT 9520
BECKWITH ROAD FROM THE “SINGLE DETACHED (RS1/F)”
ZONE TO THE “LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE (ZI19) -

BRIDGEPORT VILLAGE (CITY CENTRE)” ZONE
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-009931/010019/010034; RZ 18-821103) (REDMS No. 6156129 v. 6;
6166391; 6157112; 6157109; 6157114; 6157177; 5870814)

See Page CNCL -376 for full report

See Page CNCL -448 for staff memo and revised Bylaw 10034
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Pg. #

6177644

ITEM

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

(1)

()

(3)

(4)

()

That Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 10019, to amend
Schedule 2.10 of Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100 (City Centre
Area Plan) to change the “Specific Land Use Map: Bridgeport
Village — Detailed Transect Descriptions” to provide a maximum
density of 1.85 floor area ratio (FAR) and a maximum of 60% of the
net floor area for non-industrial uses within the “General Urban
(T4) Area B — Industrial Reserve: Limited Commercial” designation
for 9520 Beckwith Road, be introduced and given First Reading;

That Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 10034, to amend
Schedule 2.10 of Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100 (City Centre
Area Plan) to amend the term “Industrial Reserve” in Appendix 1 —
Definitions to require that all office use within the “Industrial
Reserve: Limited Commercial” area be limited to one strata lot or one
air space parcel per storey or a minimum floor area of 1,858m?
(20,000ft?) where the total development density exceeds that in the
underlying Transect; and amend the term “Village Centre Bonus” in
Appendix 1 — Definitions, to require that all office use within the
Village Centre Bonus (VCB) floor area be limited to one strata lot or
one air s?ace parcel per storey or a minimum floor area of 1,858m?
(20,000ft°) where the VCB exceeds 1.0 FAR, be introduced and given
First Reading;

That Bylaw 10019 and Bylaw 1034, having been considered in
conjunction with:

(a) the City’s Financial Plan and Capital Program; and

(b) the Greater Vancouver Regional District Solid Waste and
Liquid Waste Management Plans;

are hereby found to be consistent with said program and plans, in
accordance with Section 477(3)(a) of the Local Government Act;

That Bylaw 10019 and Bylaw 10034, having been considered in
accordance with OCP Bylaw Preparation Consultation Policy 5043,
are hereby found not to require further consultation;

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 9931, to
create the ""Light Industrial and Office (Z119) — Bridgeport Village
(City Centre)™ zone, and to rezone 9520 Beckwith Road from the
""Single Detached (RS1/F)" zone to the "Light Industrial and Office
(Z119) — Bridgeport Village (City Centre)™ zone, be introduced and
given First Reading; and

CNCL -7



Council Agenda - Monday, May 13, 2019

Consent
Agenda
Item

Consent
Agenda
Item

Pg. #

CNCL-453

CNCL-475
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ITEM

15.

16.

(6) That staff be directed to conduct public consultation with property
owners, the development community and general public regarding
whether potential restrictions on stratification and airspace
subdivision of office space should be considered, and report back.

APPLICATION BY EVERNU DEVELOPMENTS FOR REZONING
AT 11540 RAILWAY AVENUE FROM THE “SINGLE DETACHED
(RSIVE)” ZONE TO <“ARTERIAL ROAD THE TWO-UNIT

DWELLINGS (RDA)” ZONE
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-010030; RZ 18-819258) (REDMS No. 6162976; 6163247)

See Page CNCL -453 for full report

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10030, for the
rezoning of 11540 Railway Avenue from the “Single Detached (RS1/E)”
zone to “Arterial Road Two-Unit Dwellings (RDA)” zone, be introduced
and given First Reading.

SIGNAGE IMPROVEMENTS FOR REZONING AND

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
(File Ref. No. 08-4100-01; 12-8060-20-010004/010005) (REDMS No. 6118110 v. 2; 6165828;
6122871; 6137680; 6137679)

See Page CNCL -475 for full report

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

(1) That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10004,
respecting changes to rezoning signs, be introduced and given first
reading; and

(2) That Development Permit, Development Variance Permit and
Temporary Commercial and Industrial Use Permit Procedure Bylaw
No. 7273, Amendment Bylaw 10005, respecting changes to
Development Permit and Development Variance Permit signs and to
add Temporary Use Permit signs, be in introduced and given first
reading.
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CNCL-497

CNCL-509

6177644

ITEM

17.

18.

DEVELOPMENT NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS AND SERVICE

LEVELS
(File Ref. No. 01-0105-06-01; 12-8060-20-010031) (REDMS No. 6088524; 6164384)

See Page CNCL -497 for full report

PLANNING COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION

(1) That the proposed updates to the format of the Public Hearing,
Development Permit Panel and Board of Variance meeting notices
and mailed notices, as outlined in the staff report dated April 2, 2019
from the Director, City Clerk’s Office, be endorsed;

(2) That the opportunity to subscribe to email notifications for
development notices be provided to members of the public as an
enhanced level of service;

(3) That staff bring forward the appropriate bylaw amendments and/or
Council policies to implement and to recover costs for an expanded
level of service in relation to development notices in accordance with
Option 3, as outlined in the staff report dated April 2, 2019; and

(4) That Richmond Development Permit, Development Variance Permit
and Temporary Commercial and Industrial Use Permit Procedure
Bylaw No. 7273, Amendment Bylaw No. 10031, to make various
housekeeping amendments, be introduced and given first, second and
third readings.

*khhhhhkkkkhkhkhkhihhikhkkhkhiikx

CONSIDERATION OF MATTERS REMOVED FROM THE
CONSENT AGENDA

*hkkkkhkhkkkhkkhkkkhkhkkikkikkhkkikkiiikk

PUBLIC DELEGATIONS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

Motion to resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on
non-agenda items.

Nancy Trant, Richmond resident, to speak on gycling in Richmond and
climate change.
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19. Motion to rise and report.

RATIFICATION OF COMMITTEE ACTION

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS AND EVENTS

NEW BUSINESS
BYLAWS FOR ADOPTION

CNCL-510 Development Cost Charges Imposition Bylaw No. 9499, Amendment Bylaw
No. 10003

Opposed at 1% Reading — None.
Opposed at 2"/3" Readings — None.

CNCL-512 Building Regulation Bylaw No. 7230, Amendment Bylaw No. 10013
Opposed at 1% Reading — None.
Opposed at 2"/3" Readings — None.

CNCL-514 Council Procedure delaw No. 7560, Amendment Bylaw No. 10015
Opposed at 1/2"/3" Readings — None.

CNCL -10
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CNCL-516 Annual Property Tax Rates (2019) Bylaw No. 10016
Opposed at 1/2"/3" Readings — None.

CNCL-521 Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9977
(6260 Graybar Road, ZT 18-841250)
Opposed at 1% Reading — None.
Opposed at 2"/3" Readings — None.

ADJOURNMENT

CNCL - 11
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Place:

Present:

Call to Order:
RESNO. ITEM
R19/7-1 1.

Regular Council

Tuesday, April 23, 2019

Council Chambers
Richmond City Hall

Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie
Councillor Chak Au
Councillor Carol Day
Councillor Kelly Greene
Councillor Alexa Loo
Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Harold Steves
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Corporate Officer — David Weber

Mayor Brodie called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

MINUTES \

It was moved and seconded
That:

(1) the minutes of the Regular Council meeting held on April 8, 2019, be
adopted as circulated; and

(2) the minutes of the Regular Council meeting for Public Hearings held
on April 15, 2019, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

CNCL -12 L.



City of
Richmond Minutes

Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

R19/7-2 2. It was moved and seconded
That Council resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on
agenda items (7:01 p.m.).

CARRIED

3. Delegations from the floor on Agenda items.
Item No. 17 — Non-Farm Use Fill Application — 21800 River Road (Yee)

Stephen Easterbrook, Richmond resident, farmer and member of the
Agricultural Advisory Committee, spoke in favour of the non-farm use fill
application. He noted that the subject site does not lend itself well to farming
due to the grade of the soil and as a result of previous improper fill. Mr.
Easterbrook stated that the applicant is proposing to bring in fertile top soil,
and the soil will be approved by an agrologist. He then remarked that the
applicant is seeking a modest amount of fill (approximately 0.6 meters) and
highlighted that the soil to be deposited will render the subject site farmable.

R19/7-3 4. It was moved and seconded
That Committee rise and report (7:12 p.m.).

CARRIED
CONSENT AGENDA
R19/7-4 5. It was moved and seconded
That Items No. 6 through No. 16 be adopted by general consent.
CARRIED

6. COMMITTEE MINUTES

That the minutes of:
(I) the Community Safety Committee meeting held on April 9, 2019;

CNCL -13
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

(2) the General Purposes Committee meeting held on April 15, 2019;
(3)  the Special Finance Committee meeting held on April 15, 2019;
(4)  the Planning Committee meeting held on April 16, 2019;

(5) the Public Works and Transportation Committee meeting held on
April 17, 2019;
be received for information.
ADOPTED ON CONSENT

7. IMPERIAL PARKING CANADA CORPORATION CONTRACT

RENEWAL

(File Ref. No. 03-1000-20-4688) (REDMS No. 6023553 v. 5; 4214152)

(1)  That the City enter into a five year-renewal contract (2019-2023) with
Imperial Parking Canada Corporation, as outlined in the staff report
titled, “Imperial Parking Canada Corporation Contract Renewal”,
dated March 19, 2019, from the General Manager, Community
Safety; and

(2) That the General Manager of Community Safety be authorized to
execute the contract with Imperial Parking Canada Corporation.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT
8.  HOMELESS CAMPS IN HAMILTON
(File Ref. No. 08-4057-11-01)

That staff be directed to conduct a public meeting with Hamilton area
residents regarding the homeless camp as soon as possible.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

CNCL -14
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

9. APPLICATION FOR A NEW FOOD PRIMARY LIQUOR LICENCE
WITH PATRON PARTICIPATION ENTERTAINMENT
ENDORSEMENT FOR KARAOKE AND EXTENDED HOURS FROM
1091919 BC LTD., AT 3300 - 4000 NO. 3 ROAD
(File Ref. No. 12-8275-30-001) (REDMS No. 6150172 v. 2)

(I)  That the application from 1091919 BC Ltd, operating at 3300 — 4000
No. 3 Road, requesting a Food-Primary Liquor Licence with
Entertainment Endorsement for Patron Participation to enable
karaoke at the establishment, be supported;

(2) That a letter be sent to Liquor and Cannabis Regulation Branch
advising that:

(a) Council supports the application for a Food Primary Liquor
Licence with:

(i) Patron Participation Entertainment Endorsement which
ends at Midnight,

(i) hours of liquor service, Monday to Sunday, from 9:00 AM
to 2:00 AM;

(b) person capacity will be set at 120 seats and 20 staff for total
capacity of 140 persons;

(3) Council’s comments on the prescribed criteria (Section 71 of the
Liquor Control and Licensing Regulations) are as follows:

(a) the potential for additional noise and traffic in the area was
considered;

(b) the impact on the community was assessed through a
community consultation process;

(c) given that this business is new, there is no history of non-
compliance with the operation, the addition to permit patron
participation entertainment endorsement under the Food
Primary Liquor Licence should not change the establishment
such that it is operated contrary to its primary purpose;
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Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

(d) as the operation of a licenced establishment may affect nearby
residents, businesses and property owners, the impact
assessment was conducted through the City’s community
consultation process as follows:

(i) residents, businesses and property owners within a 50
meter radius of the subject property were notified by letter.
The letter provided information on the application with
instructions on how to submit comments or concerns; and

(i) signage was posted at the subject property and three public
notices were published in a local newspaper. The signage
and public notice provided information on the application
with instructions on how comments or concerns could be
submitted;

(e) Council’s comments and recommendations respecting the view
of the residents, businesses and property owners are as follows:

(i) the community consultation process was completed as part
of the application process; and

(i) that based on the number of letters sent and the few
opposed responses received and significant supporting
responses received from all public notifications, Council
considers that the approval of this application is
acceptable to the majority of the residents, businesses and
property owners in the area and the community;

(f) Council recommends the approval of the Food Primary Liquor
Licence with patron participation entertainment for the reasons
that the application is acceptable to the majority of the residents,
businesses and property owners in the area and the community.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

10. 2019 ANNUAL PROPERTY TAX RATES BYLAW
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-010016) (REDMS No. 6152233 v. 4; 6151947)

That the Annual Property Tax Rates (2019) Bylaw No. 10016 be introduced
and given first, second and third readings.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

3.
CNCL -16
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Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

11. APPLICATION BY THE CITY OF RICHMOND FOR A
TEMPORARY COMMERCIAL USE PERMIT AT 8620 AND 8660
BECKWITH ROAD
(File Ref. No. TU 18-841880) (REDMS No. 6139926)

(1) That the application by the City of Richmond for a Temporary
Commercial Use Permit for the properties at 8620 and 8660 Beckwith
Road to allow non-accessory parking as a permitted use be
considered for a period of three years; and

(2) That this application be forwarded to the May 21, 2019 Public
Hearing at 7:00 pm in the Council Chambers of Richmond City Hall.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

12. VANCOUVER AIRPORT AUTHORITY’S PROPOSED AIRPORT
ZONING REGULATIONS: PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE
CITY CENTRE AREA PLAN AND ZONING BYLAW
(File Ref. No. 01-0153-01, 12-8060-20-0010020/21 Xr: 01-0153-01) (REDMS No. 6150504 v. 3,
6155467, 6156349)

(1) That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment
Bylaw 10020, be introduced and given first reading;

(2)  That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment
Bylaw 10020, having been considered in conjunction with:

(a) the City’s Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan and Capital
Program; and

(b) the Greater Vancouver Regional District Solid Waste and
Liquid Waste Management Plans;

is hereby found to be consistent with said program and plans, in
accordance with Section 477(3)(a) of the Local Government Act;

(3)  That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment
Bylaw 10020, having been considered in accordance with Section 475
of the Local Government Act and the City’s Official Community Plan
Bylaw Preparation Consultation Policy 5043, is found not to require
further consultation; and

CNCL -17
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(4) That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10021, be
introduced and given first reading.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

13. ICBC-CITY OF RICHMOND ROAD IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM -

2019 UPDATE

(File Ref. No. 01-0150-20-ICBC1-01, 03-1000-03-006) (REDMS No. 6143801)

(1) That the list of proposed road safety improvement projects, as
described in Attachment 2 of the staff report titled “ICBC-City of
Richmond Road Improvement Program - 2019 Update,” dated
March 27, 2019 from the Director, Transportation be endorsed for
submission to the ICBC 2019 Road Improvement Program for
consideration of cost-share funding; and

(2) That should the above applications be successful, the Chief
Administrative Officer and General Manager, Planning and
Development be authorized to negotiate and execute the cost-share
agreements, and that the Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan (2019-
2023) be amended accordingly.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

14. ANNUAL REPORT 2018: RECYCLING AND SOLID WASTE
MANAGEMENT - BUILDING MOMENTUM TOWARDS 80%
DIVERSION
(File Ref. No. 10-6370-01) (REDMS No. 6149029 v. 3)

(1) That the annual report titled, “Report 2018: Recycling and Solid
Waste Management — Building Momentum Towards 80% Diversion”
be endorsed and be made available to the community on the City’s
website and through various communication tools including social
media channels and as part of community outreach initiatives; and

(2) That the annual report titled, “Report 2018: Recycling and Solid
Waste Management — Building Momentum Towards 80% Diversion”
be forwarded to the Council/School Board Liaison Committee.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

CNCL -18
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Minutes

Regular Council
Tuesday, April 23, 2019

15. MITCHELL ISLAND ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP
INITIATIVES
(File Ref. No. 10-6175-01, 10-6125-11-06) (REDMS No. 6121739 v. 5)
That the outreach initiatives proposed within the staff report titled “Mitchell
Island Environmental Stewardship Initiatives” dated March 11, 2019 from
the Senior Manager, Sustainability and District Energy, be endorsed.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

16.  WATER METER PROGRAM AND SEWER RATE UPDATE
(File Ref. No. 10-6650-02) (REDMS No. 6037213 v. 8)
That Option 3 — Sewer Rate Cap, as outlined in the report titled “Water
Meter Program and Sewer Rate Update” dated March 21, 2019, from the
Acting Director, Engineering, be endorsed for use in the preparation of the
2020 utility rate options.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

MONTHLY PARKING PERMIT FEE AT 8620 AND 8660 BECKWITH
ROAD

(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-008636)

Discussion took place on the cost of a monthly parking permit fee of $41 and
in reply to a query from Council, Wayne Craig, Director, Development,
advised that the fee is in accordance with the Consolidated Fees Bylaw No.
8636. As a result of the discussion, the following referral motion was
introduced:

R19/7-5 It was moved and seconded
That staff review the parking rates in the Consolidated Fees Bylaw No. 8636
in relation to 8620 and 8660 Beckwith Road and report back through
Commilttee.

CARRIED
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NON-CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE —
Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie, Chair

17. NON-FARM USE FILL APPLICATION - 21800 RIVER ROAD (YEE)
(File Ref. No. 12-8080-12-01, 12-8350-05-CD43803, 08-4105-04-04) (REDMS No. 6112332 v. 17;
5981518, 5981518)

R19/7-6 It was moved and seconded

That the Non-Farm Use Fill Application proposed for the purpose of
developing a vegetable farm and the corresponding staff report titled “Non-
Farm Use Fill Application for the Property Located at 21800 River Road
(Yee)”, dated November 14, 2018 (Attachment 1), be referred to the
Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for the ALC’s review and decision as
all reporting requirements specified by the City have been satisfied by the
proponent.

The question on Resolution R19/7-6 was not called as discussion took place
and the following Council comments were noted:

= farmland should be farmed based on what the land’s soil is conducive
to growing in an effort to eliminate the need for soil deposits;

. due to rising sea level, it is a matter of time until the subject site will
have to be raised;

. the Applicant has followed the City’s process and met all its
conditions;

. there is uncertainty with regard to the integrity of the soil to be
deposited as a result of past illegal fill on this site and throughout the
city;

- the Applicant’s projected earnings are much less than the potential
amount of tipping fees that may be collected; and

. the Applicant is seeking a modest amount of fill (approximately 0.6
meters).
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In reply to queries from Council, staff advised that the Applicant wishes to
grow vegetables on the subject site, and the proposed soil deposit would
render the subject site’s soil rating to a Class 4 from its current Class 2 rating.

The question on R19/7-6 was then called and it was DEFEATED with Cllrs.
Au, Day, Greene, McNulty, Steves, and Wolfe opposed.

PUBLIC DELEGATIONS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

R19/7-7 18. It was moved and seconded
That Council resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on
non-agenda items (8:00 p.m.).

CARRIED

With the aid of a PowerPoint presentation (copy on file, City Clerk’s Office),
Gordon Cornwall, Volunteer, West Coast Environmental Law, spoke on
recovering climate costs and the West Coast Environmental Law’s “Climate
Law in our Hands” campaign and the following information was highlighted:

» the costs of climate change are significant;

. Richmond is at risk of flooding due to rising sea level and the costs of
raising the dike to protect the city fall on its taxpayers;

» fossil fuel corporations profit without sharing the costs of the pollution
caused by their operations and their products;

o a number of cities in the United States are managing their exposure by
suing companies that have contributed to climate change; and

. in Ontario, Bill 21 - Liability for Climate-Related Harms Act —
proposed to provide that a fossil fuel producer is strictly liable for
climate-related harms that occur if the producer is responsible for
greenhouse gas emissions at a globally detectable level.

Mr. Cornwall concluded by requesting that Council send climate
accountability letters to the 20 largest fossil fuel companies and a letter to the
Honourable John Horgan, Premier of British Columbia, requesting the
introduction of climate liability legislation.
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In response to queries from Council, Mr. Cornwall, accompanied by Dustin
Klaudt, Lawyer, Power Law, and Anna Barford, Fossil Fuel Moratorium
Community Organizer, Georgia Strait Alliance, provided the following
information:

" support at the municipal level is key in garnering support at the Lower
Mainland Local Government Association (LMLGA), the Union of
British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM), and the Federation of
Canadian Municipalities (FCM);

" sample letters to fossil fuel companies were included for reference as
part of the agenda materials;

" the Province of BC has indicated that it would support the direction of
BC municipalities; and

" an economic impact analysis has not been conducted.

In reply to further queries from Council, Mr. Klaudt commented on various
arguments with regard to liability and negligence litigation, noting that
recovering climate costs is a novel form of litigation.

R19/7-8 19. It was moved and seconded
That Commiittee rise and report (8:38 p.m.).

CARRIED

Discussion took place on the non-agenda delegation and the following
Council comments were noted:

" the matter is of a political nature and therefore a referral to staff is
unnecessary;
" Council should (a) send climate accountability letters to the 20 largest

fossil fuel companies, (b) send a letter to the Honourable John Horgan,
Premier of British Columbia, requesting the introduction of climate
liability legislation, (c) submit a resolution to UBCM, and (d) join other
municipalities in seeking damages if the Province of BC does not act;

L] it would be valuable for Council to review a draft letter to the Province
of BC; and

11.
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n a draft resolution to UBCM should accompany any staff report back to
Council on the matter.

As a result of the discussion, the following referral motion was introduced:

R19/7-9 It was moved and seconded
That the presentation titled “Recovering Climate Costs” by Gordon

Cornwall be referred to staff to:

(1) examine how it aligns with City policies and strategies;

(2)  provide an analysis of the impacts of any proposed legislation;
(3)  prepare a draft letter to the Province of BC; and

(4)  prepare a draft resolution to UBCM;

and report back.
CARRIED
Opposed: Cllrs. Day
Greene
Steves
Wolfe
PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENT

Mayor Brodie announced that Contract 6512Q for the On-Call Repair and
Maintenance Services for Refrigeration Systems at the Richmond Ice Centre
and Minoru Arenas has been awarded to Cimco Refrigeration, for a five-year
term in the estimated average annual amount of $150,000, for an estimated
total of $750,000.
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BYLAWS FOR 2ND AND 370 READINGS

R19/7-10 It was moved and seconded
(I) That Development Cost Charges Imposition Bylaw No. 9499,
Amendment Bylaw No. 10003 be given second and third readings;
and

(2) That Building Regulation Bylaw No. 7230, Amendment Bylaw No.
10013 be given second and third readings.

CARRIED

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PANEL

R19/7-11  20. It was moved and seconded
(1) That the minutes of the Development Permit Panel meeting held on
April 10, 2019, and the Chair’s report for the Development Permit
Panel meeting held on April 10, 2019 be received for information;
and

(2)  That the recommendations of the Panel to authorize the issuance of:

(a) a Development Variance Permit (DV 18-829639) for the
property at 7266 Lynnwood Drive; and

(b) a Development Permit (DP 18-835560) for the property at 5991
No. 3 Road;

be endorsed, and the Permits so issued.

CARRIED
ADJOURNMENT
R19/7-12 It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (8:58 p.m.).
CARRIED
13.
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Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the Regular meeting of the
Council of the City of Richmond held on
Tuesday, April 23, 2019.

Mayor (Malcolm D. Brodie) Corporate Officer (David Weber)
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Place: Anderson Room
Richmond City Hall

Present: Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie
Councillor Chak Au
Councillor Carol Day

Councillor Kelly Greene
Councillor Alexa Loo
Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Harold Steves
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Corporate Officer — David Weber

Call to Order: Mayor Brodie called the meeting to order at 4:03 p.m.

RESNO. ITEM

1. CHAUFFEUR'S PERMIT APPEAL - MR. AMRITPAL SANDHU
(File Ref. No.: 12-8275-02 ) (REDMS No. 6163823, 6050671, 6136252)

The Chair remarked that Council has received Cpl. Etienne’s report and in
reply to queries from Council, Cpl. Etienne advised that the Motor Vehicle
Act does not specify a time period before an applicant may re-apply, and
police files were reviewed dating back to 2008 as he found them to be
relevant to Mr. Sandhu’s application.

Amritpal Sandhu, applicant for a Chauffeur’s Permit, appeared before Council
and provided the following information with regard to his application:

. he has been sober for approximately six months;
. he has been driving a taxi for 37 years and does not drink and drive;

= he has a valid Chauffeur’s Permit in Burnaby and works as a taxi driver
for Bonny’s Taxi;
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= he does not have any traffic violations and thus queried why he was
denied a Chauffeur’s Permit in Richmond;

= his family is pleased with his sobriety; and

= he approaches his sobriety one day at a time and works with a
counsellor and sponsor.

Mr. Sandhu then provided the Chair with a copy of his driving abstract that he
obtained from the driver licencing office.

The Chair read Mr. Sandhu’s driving abstract aloud, stating that Mr. Sandhu
has “no record of any prohibitions from driving or licence suspensions as of
April 23, 2019 (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1).

In response to queries from Council, Cpl. Etienne advised that (i) the Motor
Vehicle Act delegates authority on Chauffeur Permits to municipalities and
therefore the manner in which permits are managed are unique to each
municipality, (ii) the files noted on the report are strictly those where police
were involved; there may be other instances where the police were not
contacted, (iii) Mr. Sandhu’s substance abuse history is found to be relevant
to his ability to operate a taxi, and (iv) it would be up to Mr. Sandhu to bring
forward evidence or witnesses to speak to his rehabilitation.

SP19/4-1 It was moved and seconded
That the RCMP’s denial of a Chauffeur’s Permit to Mr. Amritpal Sandhu
be upheld.

The question on the motion was not called as discussion ensued and Council
commented that Mr. Sandhu’s livelihood is unaffected as he remains a full-
time taxi driver in Burnaby and ultimately, the community’s safety is
paramount; although Mr. Sandhu can be applauded for overcoming his
problems, a longer track record of sobriety and improved mental health would
be encouraging.

The question on the motion was then called and it was CARRIED with Cllr.
Au opposed.
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Discussion then took place on the potential to delay consideration of the
application and a time period in which a subsequent application for a
Chauffeur’s Permit by Mr. Sandhu may be considered.

As a result of the discussion, the following motion was introduced:

SP19/4-2 It was moved and seconded
That a Chauffeur’s Permit application for Mr. Amritpal Sandhu not be re-
considered until April 23, 2020.

The question on the motion was not called as discussion took place on the
value of hearing from Mr. Sandhu’s employer, sponsor and family when he
re-applies. Also, Council commented on Mr. Sandhu’s rehabilitation efforts,
noting that he has indicated he has been sober for approximately six months.
As a result, the following amendment motion was introduced:

SP19/4-3 It was moved and seconded
That the main motion be amended to read “until January 1, 2020.”
CARRIED
The question on Resolution SP19/4-2, as amended, was then called and it was
CARRIED.
ADJOURNMENT
SP19/4-4 It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (4:28 p.m.).
CARRIED

Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the Special meeting of the
Council of the City of Richmond held on
Tuesday, April 23, 2019.

Mayor (Malcolm D. Brodie) Corporate Officer (David Weber)
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Schedule 1 to the Minutes of the

‘ Special meeting of Richmond
City Council held on Tuesday,
April 23, 2019.
BRITISH COLUMBIA DRIVING RECORD SEARCH P
SANDHU, AMRITPAL SINGH LICENCE NO : 4132002 DRIVER CLASS: 100
7931 18TH AVE TYPE ¢ 5 YR RENEWAL
BURNABY BC V3N 137 BIRTHDATE ¢ 11NOV1962 EXPIRY DATE : 11NOV2022
DRIVER STATUS : NORMAL ORIGINAL DATE: 01JUN1982

FILE REFERENCE: F000000

RESTRICTIONS/ENDORSEMENTS

15: VEHICLES WITH AIR BRAKES
NO CONTRAVENTIONS

NO CORRESPONDENCE
THIS OFFICE HAS NO RECORD OF ANY PROHIBITIONS FROM DRIVING OR LICENCE SUSPENSIONS AS OF 23 APRIL, 2019

THIS SEARCH REPORTS ONLY CONTRAVENTIONS, PROHIBITIONS FROM DRIVING AND LICENCE SUSPENSIONS
FOR THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS THAT HAVE BEEN RECEIVED AT THIS OFFICE AS OF 23 APRIL, 2019

A COPY OF INSURANCE RECORDS MAY BE OBTAINED FROM:
PUBLIC INFORMATION, INSURANCE CORPORATION OF BRITISH COLUMBIA,
151 WEST ESPLANADE, NORTH VANCOUVER B.C., V7M 3H9.
PHONE: 1-800-663-3051 OR 1-604-661-2800

INSURANCE CORPORATION OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 23 APRIL, 2019
VICTORIA B.C.
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PO Box 3750 | Victoria BC | VBW 3Y5 | Tel 250-978-8300 | Toll-Free 1-800-950-1498 | Fax 250-978-8006 icbc.corr
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Place: Anderson Room
Richmond City Hall
Present: Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie

Councillor Kelly Greene
Councillor Alexa Loo
Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Harold Steves
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Corporate Officer — David Weber

Absent: Councillor Chak Au
Councillor Carol Day

Call to Order: Mayor Brodie called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.
RESNO. ITEM

COMMUNITY SAFETY DIVISION

1. NUISANCE STRUCTURES AT 10280 SPRINGMONT DRIVE AND

10140/10160 CORNERBROOK CRESCENT
(File Ref. No. 12-8080-05) (REDMS No. 6166204, 6166871)

Carli Williams, Manager, Community Bylaws and Licencing, advised that
staff have continued to monitor the nuisance structures since the writing of the
report and the properties remain non-compliant with the City’s bylaws.

In reply to queries from Council, Ms. Williams advised that the photographs
included as part of staff’s report remain accurate depictions of the state of the
subject properties, and a recent title search indicated that no mortgages are
registered for either property.
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Carson Lei, owner of 10280 Springmont Drive, stated that he wishes to obtain
a property survey in the upcoming two weeks and then he would proceed to
apply for a demolition permit. Mr. Lei remarked that the property has
remained as-is due to unfavourable market conditions.

In reply to queries from Council, James Cooper, Director, Building
Approvals, reviewed the City’s demolition permit process and noted that (i) a
legal survey is required, (i1) the City would follow the same process as a
homeowner for obtaining a demolition permit, (iii) the demolition permit
process may be expedited to fulfil any Council resolution(s), (iv) a tree
protection review would be conducted as part of the demolition permit
process, and (v) following demolition, active construction sites require
perimeter fencing.

In reply to further queries from Council, Ms. Williams advised that staff have
not pursued remedial action of nuisance properties in the past; however a
referral from Council on how the City can effectively manage nuisance
properties lead staff to examine this avenue under the provisions of the
Community Charter. Also, Ms. Williams commented on the length of time to
bring these matters before Council, noting a combination of factors such a
change in ownership and ongoing investigations contributed to the delay.

Discussion then took place on impacts of the subject properties to the
neighbourhood and in particular with regard to pest management and Council
remarked that pest management be included in staff’s process of nuisance
properties in the future.

As a result of the discussions, the following motion was introduced:

SP19/5-1 It was moved and seconded
(1)  That the existing structures at 10280 Springmont Drive are declared
a nuisance and the owner be required to demolish all structures
within 60 days of the date this motion is passed by Council and take
necessary steps in relation to non-toxic pest control; and
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(2) That the existing structures at 10140 and 10160 Cornerbrook
Crescent are declared a nuisance and the owner be required to
demolish all structures within 60 days of the date this motion is
passed by Council and take necessary steps in relation to non-toxic
pest control.

CARRIED

DEPUTY CAQO’S OFFICE

2. UBCM COMMUNITY EXCELLENCE AWARDS
(File Ref. No. 01-0185-01) (REDMS No. 6176291)

SP19/5-2 It was moved and seconded
That the City’s entries for the Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM)
Community Excellence Awards be endorsed, including:

(1)  Excellence in Governance: 2017-2022 Richmond Child Care Needs
Assessment and Strategy;

(2)  Excellence in Service Delivery: MyRichmond; and

(3) Excellence in Sustainability: Richmond development and
implementation of BC Energy Step Code.

CARRIED
ADJOURNMENT
SP19/5-3 It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (4:25 p.m.).
CARRIED
3.
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Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the Special meeting of the
Council of the City of Richmond held on
Monday, May 6, 2019.

Mayor (Malcolm D. Brodie) Corporate Officer (David Weber)
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For Metro Vancouver meetings on Friday, April 26, 2019

Please note these are not the official minutes. Board in Brief is an informal summary. Material relating to any of the
following items is available on request from Metro Vancouver. For more information, please contact
Greg.Valou@metrovancouver.org or Kelly.Sinoski@metrovancouver.org

Metro Vancouver Regional District
E 1.1 Metro Vancouver Regional Greenways Plan Update APPROVED

Metro Vancouver is undertaking an update of the Metro Vancouver Regional Greenways Plan. The
updated plan will guide collaborative planning and development of regional greenways and clarify the role
of Metro Vancouver in their implementation. A stakeholder and public engagement process will ensure
that the final plan is reflective of municipal, stakeholder and public input.

The Board authorized staff to proceed with the public engagement process as presented. Staff anticipate
the stakeholder engagement will occur between May and June and the public survey between October
and November 2019.

E 1.2 Widgeon Marsh Regional Park — Draft Management Plan and Public Engagement APPROVED
Process

Development of Widgeon Marsh Regional Park is a significant addition to the Metro Vancouver regional
parks system. At 621 hectares (1,535 acres) once open, regional parks visitors will have the opportunity to
explore these diverse and natural landscapes. Over the past two years, staff hosted a series of public and
stakeholder engagement opportunities, met with governmental and non-governmental agencies and local
First Nations. The information gathered during this process informed the development of the draft
management plan. Key concepts and ideas from the engagement process were focused on ensuring the
continued protection of sensitive areas, limiting the impacts on park development to previously
developed areas, incorporating First Nations culture into park management, exploring interpretative
opportunities, and providing locations for wildlife viewing.

The Board approved the scope of the proposed Widgeon Marsh Regional Park Draft Management Plan
and authorized staff to proceed with the engagement process as presented.

E 2.1 Transit-Oriented Affordable Housing Study Phase 2 — Key Findings APPROVED

The Transit-Oriented Affordable Housing Study (TOAH) is a multi-year policy research initiative led by
Metro Vancouver and undertaken in partnership with the BC Non-Profit Housing Association, BC Housing,
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, TransLink, Urban
Development Institute, and Vancity. The Study aims to expand the knowledge base of practitioners and
decision-makers about the challenges and opportunities to incrementally increase affordable rental
housing along the Frequent Transit Network.
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TOAH Phase 2 comprised two research components: a business framework for a regional TOAH fund; and
review of policy tools to address the barrier of high land cost. The research components are set out in the
Regional Affordable Housing Strategy.

A regional TOAH fund shows promise as a financial tool that could incrementally improve the delivery of
affordable rental housing in transit-oriented locations. In the Metro Vancouver region, this would be an
innovative undertaking and would entail a deeper integration of regional land use and housing objectives
with the business side of housing development.

The MVRD Board resolved to send a letter communicating the key findings from the Transit-Oriented
Affordable Housing Study Phase 2 to the following parties to encourage continued efforts to support
transit-oriented affordable rental housing and equitable transit-oriented communities:

e the Federal Ministers of Infrastructure, and Families, Children and Social Development

¢ the Provincial Ministers of Municipal Affairs and Housing, Transportation and Infrastructure, and
Finance, as well as the Parliamentary Secretary for TransLink

e Mayors’ Council on Regional Transportation and TransLink Board of Directors

e Member jurisdiction Councils

Furthermore, the Board directed staff to continue to explore options to collaborate with interested
partners on a regional transit-oriented affordable rental housing fund, including identifying potential
champions, and report back to the Regional Planning Committee.

E 2.2 Land Value Capture and Opportunities for Regional Transportation and Transit- RECEIVED
Oriented Affordable Rental Housing APPROVED

Land value capture can be seen as a potential way to collect tax revenues on a portion of the increased
property values that have resulted from regional transportation investments and to invest those revenues
back into the regional transportation system. The research and policy proposals to date have not
addressed the potential impacts on or synergies with funding transit-oriented affordable rental housing
development as well.

Given the housing affordability crisis in the region, the significant mismatch in available rental housing
affordable to lower income renters currently and projected, and the transit ridership boost that renters,
in particular lower income renters, generate, it is appropriate to consider evaluating tools such as land
value capture as a means of funding, not only for regional transportation, but also for delivering
affordable rental housing supply in transit-oriented locations. An important component of the evaluation
will be on the equitable distribution of benefits and detriments to property owners and land uses in
affected neighbourhoods.

The Board received the report for information and directed staff to work with TransLink to explore
additional research regarding Land Value Capture.
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E 2.3 Regional Long-Range Growth and Transportation Scenarios Summary Report RECEIVED

Following authorization from the MVRD Board, Metro Vancouver and TransLink partnered in the
development of long-range scenarios to: better understand future global trends and disruptors and their
impacts on our region; test the resiliency of current and future plans and policies; and to support future
updates to population, jobs and housing projections. The scenarios will inform updates to the regional
growth strategy and the new Regional Transportation Strategy.

The scenarios have been developed with a focus on what might happen in the absence of substantive
changes to the existing policy framework. Exploring and testing policy responses will be included as part
of anticipated updates to the regional growth strategy.

The Board received the report for information.

E 2.4 Towards Metro 2050: Updating Metro Vancouver 2040: Shaping our Future APPROVED

The proposed update to Metro 2040 will be largely framed around the results of the policy reviews,
recognizing that the reviews themselves were undertaken to address already identified gaps and
opportunities for improvements. The proposed update will extend the strategy to the year 2050 and
leverage its strengths, supplemented with a greater focus on climate adaptation, the addition of an equity
lens, and strengthening the resilience of policies to future uncertainties. In addition, the policy actions for
Metro Vancouver and municipalities will be updated to reflect plans that have been completed since
Metro 2040’s adoption - with a greater focus on affordable housing in transit locations and enhanced
integration of land use and transportation planning.

The Board initiated a comprehensive update to Metro Vancouver 2040, directed staff to prepare a
Stakeholder Engagement Plan for the update to Metro Vancouver 2040 and authorized staff to partner
with TransLink in its May to September 2019 ‘Vision and Values’ public engagement process for the future
of the region.

E 2.5 Metro 2040 Environment Policy Review — Scope and Process RECEIVED

The Board received an overview of the proposed scope and process for the Metro 2040 Environment
Policy Review.

Metro 2040 Environment Policy Review, consists of three phases:

1. Evaluating the existing policies and researching good examples from other areas,

2. Hosting a policy forum with key stakeholders to better understand environmental policy gaps and
implementation challenges, and

3. Exploring environmental policy options.

Metro Vancouver staff will involve the Regional Planning Advisory Committee, the RPAC-Environment
Subcommittee, and the Regional Planning Committee throughout the process and will report on the
outcomes at the end of each phase.
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E 3.1 Audited 2018 Financial Statements APPROVED

The Board approved the Audited 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements for the Metro Vancouver
Regional District.

Legislation requires that annual Audited Financial Statements be prepared for the Metro Vancouver
Districts and Metro Vancouver Housing Corporation and presented at a public meeting of the Board of
Directors. The Audited Financial Statements for 2018 have been prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards and have received an unqualified audit opinion by the
external auditors, BDO Canada LLP.

E 3.2 2018 Financial Results Year-End RECEIVED

The Board received the final report on financial performance for the year ending December 31, 2018 as
compared to the 2018 annual budget.

Overall, the 2018 financial results for the Metro Vancouver entities and functions were favourable to
budget with a surplus of $31.8 million.

E 4.1 George Massey Crossing — Project Principles and Goals APPROVED

The Province completed the first phase of the George Massey Crossing project engagement with input
from TransLink, local municipalities, and First Nations and Metro Vancouver. Based on this engagement,
the Province developed four high level principles and goals for the George Massey Crossing project for
consideration by the Finance and Intergovernment Committee and MVRD Board.

The Board supported the principles and goals for the George Massey Crossing developed by the Ministry
of Transportation and Infrastructure and directed staff to send a letter to the Ministry of Transportation
and Infrastructure to express general support for the principles and goals.

E 4.2 Regional Parks Asset Management Policy APPROVED

The Board approved the Asset Management for Regional Parks Policy as presented, which will establish
asset management principles and a framework to balance asset performance, risk and cost that supports
the long-term provision of Regional Parks Service.

The goal of the Asset Management for Regional Parks Policy is to balance asset performance, risk, and
cost. This policy outlines MVRD’s commitment and methodology to manage regional parks assets in a
manner that minimizes asset failure risks and impacts to park users while optimizing the life cycle of
assets. The policy will guide Regional Parks to meet asset performance targets within a specified budget
and enable evidence based decision making with respect to infrastructure rehabilitation and replacement.
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E 5.1 Abandoned Waste — 2019 Waste in its Place Regional Campaign Update RECEIVED

The Board received for information a summary of the 2019 Waste in its Place regional campaign.

Abandoned waste is a regional issue, with environmental, health and social impacts. The financial burden
is also significant; local governments spend around $5 million annually to clean up abandoned waste and
operate associated large-item disposal programs. The 2019 Waste in its Place regional campaign builds
upon the findings of research conducted with members and the public to clearly provide local alternatives
to illegally dumping unwanted items. The campaign will enter market in mid-April via a range of digital,
outdoor and ethnic advertising; all materials will promote the www.wasteinitsplace.ca webpage, which
promotes regional disposal options and municipal programs.

E 5.2 National Zero Waste Council 2018 Update RECEIVED

The Board received an update on the activities and work of the National Zero Waste Council in 2018.

In May, the Council released a major report —a Food Loss and Waste Strategy for Canada — identifying
important actions for reducing food waste which was followed by a launch in July of a cross Canada
behaviour change campaign to reduce household food waste. In addition, the Council became a founding
member of the Circle Economy Leadership Coalition —an important leadership collaboration on increasing
awareness of the economic and environmental benefits of moving to a closed-loop production and
consumption system and in identifying potential policy-levers and other tools that will facilitate a
transition to the circular economy.

Currently the Council enjoys tremendous in-kind support and engagement through its working groups,
management board and others, however, ongoing financial support is mainly through Metro Vancouver;
both in terms of providing staff for the Secretariat and funding program delivery and administration
activities. Initiatives in late 2018 and early 2019 have confirmed the opportunity for the Council to
leverage Metro Vancouver’s financial support to attract project funding as demonstrated with the launch
of Love Food Hate Waste Canada and work on the circular economy plastics. Efforts in 2019 will focus on
developing a business model for the Council that will ensure its financial sustainability into the future.

E 6.1 Development and Engagement Process for the Metro Vancouver Clean Air Plan RECEIVED

Development of the Clean Air Plan is proposed to set air quality and greenhouse gas management
directions for Metro Vancouver for the next five to ten years. A refreshed plan will identify a vision for the
future and describe Metro Vancouver’s role in further improving air quality and reducing emissions in the
region. The Clean Air Plan will also support development of the Climate 2050 Roadmaps. A Discussion
Paper will be developed as the basis for stakeholder engagement on the Clean Air Plan and the
Roadmaps. The engagement process will inform the development of the Clean Air Plan, which staff expect
to bring to Committee and Board for consideration in 2020.

The Board received the report for information.
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E 6.2 Staff Appointment as a Board-designated Officer APPROVED

A recent staff hire has resulted in a need to update staff appointments as MVRD Board-designated officers
under Greater Vancouver Regional District Air Quality Management Bylaw and the Environmental
Management Act.

The Board, pursuant to the Greater Vancouver Regional District Air Quality Management Bylaw and the
Environmental Management Act, appointed Curtis Wan, Project Engineer, as an officer.

E 6.3 Wildfire Smoke Preparedness and Air Quality Advisory Planning for 2019 RECEIVED

The Board received for information a report about Metro Vancouver’s wildfire smoke preparedness and
air quality advisory planning for the 2019 summer season.

The summers of 2015, 2017 and 2018 all had unprecedented wildfire smoke impacts on the Metro
Vancouver region, with each successive year establishing new records in terms of geographic scope,
duration and intensity of smoke impacts. Communications have increased with counterparts in other
Canadian and US jurisdictions with similar recent experience and concerns relating to wildfire smoke.

In light of this, Metro Vancouver staff are preparing for the 2019 season in anticipation there may be
significant wildfire smoke impacts occurring again. In cooperation with partner agencies, staff are refining
advisory procedures, developing updated messaging and outreach materials, and conducting early
engagement with local media. Additionally, staff in other functions are actively working to prevent
wildfires within our region, such as in watersheds and regional parks, thus ensuring that local sources of
smoke are not compounding the impacts of wildfires outside of the region.

E 6.4 Metro Vancouver Odour Management Communication and Engagement Strategy APPROVED

The Board endorsed the communication and engagement strategy described in the report, intended to
increase awareness of Metro Vancouver’s enhanced framework for managing emissions of odorous air
contaminants.

In July 2018, the MVRD Board approved the Odour Management Policy Development Plan to enhance the
management of emissions of odorous air contaminants in the Metro Vancouver region, which included
initiatives related to increased communication and engagement based on feedback received during
consultation. Metro Vancouver has outlined an Odour Management Communication and Engagement
Strategy to raise awareness about odour management in the region and to pursue opportunities for
municipal staff, local firms specialized in emission monitoring and measurement, industry, and the public
to participate in enhancing odour management in the region.
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E 6.5 Outreach on the Non-Road Diesel Engine Emission Program and Future Directions RECEIVED

The Board received an update about upcoming outreach activities related to the Tier 1 engine registration
deadline for the MVRD Non-Road Diesel Engine Emission Regulation Bylaw No. 1161, 2012 and the
process for considering any future directions or expansions in scope of the bylaw requirements that could
be pursued to further reduce emissions from non-road diesel engines.

The Bylaw has initially focused on Tier 0 and Tier 1 engines and has been successful in promoting emission
reductions over time. To continue to improve emissions and reduce impacts from non-road diesel
engines, potential expansions to the scope of the Bylaw could encompass: registration and labelling
requirements for Tier 2, Tier 3 and Tier 4 engines; phased-in prohibitions for unregistered Tier 2 and Tier 3
engines; and expansion of the types of approved emission reduction measures to include engine
electrification or switching of fuel to propane or natural gas. The Bylaw’s economic incentives have been
successful for encouraging emission reductions, and adjustments to the registration fee rebate program
could be considered to create further incentives for the retirement of higher emitting engines. Future
directions would be consulted on prior to the Board considering adoption of any Bylaw amendments.

E 7.1 Delegations Received at Committee April 2019 RECEIVED

The Board received summaries of delegations received at committee.

e Regional Planning Committee: Brian Clifford, Policy Manager, BC Non-Profit Housing Association
e (Climate Action Committee: Rebecca Hamilton, Lilah Williamson and Amy Daiminger,
Sustainabiliteens

E 7.2 City of Pitt Meadows’ Regional Context Statement — Reacceptance APPROVED

The Board accepted the City of Pitt Meadows’ Regional Context Statement as submitted to Metro
Vancouver on January 14, 2019.

The City of Pitt Meadows has requested continued acceptance of its 2013 Regional Context Statement. In
accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act, each member jurisdiction’s RCS must be
reviewed at least every five years, giving the local government an opportunity to consider whether any
recent municipal planning studies, initiatives or changes to its OCP trigger changes to its RCS.

The City’s 2013 Regional Context Statement remains generally consistent with the goals, strategies and
actions in Metro 2040. Continued acceptance of the City of Pitt Meadows’ Regional Context Statement is
advisable, acknowledging the City’s intent to update its RCS in concert with the OCP update that is
underway and anticipated to be completed by 2020.

G 1.1 Metro 2040 Land Use Designation Amendment Request from the City of Delta - WITHDRAWN
MK Delta Lands
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Greater Vancouver Water District
E 1.1 Audited 2018 Financial Statements APPROVED

The Board approved the Audited 2018 Financial Statements for the Greater Vancouver Water District.

Legislation requires that annual Audited Financial Statements be prepared for the Metro Vancouver
Districts and Metro Vancouver Housing Corporation and presented at a public meeting of the Board of
Directors. The Audited Financial Statements for 2018 have been prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards and have received an unqualified audit opinion by the
external auditors, BDO Canada LLP.

E 2.1 Water Supply Forecast and Water Consumption Update for Summer 2019 RECEIVED

The Board received the annual update on the current water supply and water consumption situation in
advance of the approaching summer peak demand period.

Although the existing snowpack is at slightly lower-than-average levels, it is expected that source lake
storage will be sufficient to ensure adequate water supply for the 2019 summer season. Overall
precipitation in the form of rainfall also contributes to the water levels in the three source lakes.

Although the region’s population continues to grow; historically, overall water demand has remained
relatively steady, generally offset by conservation measures. However, overall water use is increasing
gradually as the effect of the rate of population growth on water demands begins to exceed the per capita
water use reductions.

Summer 2019 will be the second summer implementing water restrictions under the new Drinking Water
Conservation Plan. Stage 1 restrictions on outdoor watering, between May 1 and October 15, along with
Metro Vancouver and member local government implementation of the Board endorsed Region-wide
Guide for Enforcement of the DWCP, are expected to help manage water demands during the peak
season. During periods of water shortages and emergencies, or when experiencing unusually high
demand for water, Metro Vancouver has the ability to implement higher stages of the Drinking Water
Conservation Plan, if necessary.

Recent system improvements such as the Barnston/Maple Ridge Pump Station, the Port Mann Water
Supply Tunnel, Clayton Reservoir, and South Delta Main No. 1 Replacement (Phases 1 and 2) have
increased the capacity of the transmission system to meet peak summer demands.

E 2.2 Regional Assessment of Residential Water Metering RECEIVED

The Board received an update on the work completed to date on the Regional Assessment of Residential
Water Metering.

Based on a triple-bottom-line evaluation, the Regional Assessment of Residential Water Metering
evaluated the overall regional costs and benefits of residential water metering for single-family homes.
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The study findings conclude that the greatest regional benefits would be achieved by implementing
universal metering on all single-family residential dwellings over an accelerated timeframe; however,
more gradual approaches would also provide net benefits assuming that initial meter installation costs
associated with specific metering programs are paid for by developers, home builders, and homeowners.

Overall benefits of water metering include several non-financial benefits, such as improved billing equity,
water efficiency and conservation, leak detection and reduction, overall water systems management, and
environmental stewardship. Reducing water use through metering practices also builds resiliency to
climate change by encouraging sustainable water use habits.

E 2.3 GVWD Capital Program Expenditure Update as at December 31, 2018 RECEIVED

The Board received the final report on the financial performance of the capital program for the year
ending December 31, 2018.

In 2018, the GVWD underspent its Capital Budget by $133.7 million or 64.94%. The delays experienced in
projects in the early stages of completion resulted in the timing of expenditures differing from
expectations. The underspending in the 2018 GVWD Capital Budget, resulted in a realization of a surplus
in capital funding of $2.9 million. This surplus, per policy, will be used in future years to fund capital and
avoid debt.

Although the 2018 GVWD Capital Budget was underspent, the variance is a result of timing with the actual
overall spending on a capital project expected to be close to or less than the overall budget for that
project due to the savings of any budgeted contingencies.

E 2.4 2018 GVWD Water Quality Annual Report RECEIVED

The Board received a summary of the 2018 GVWD Water Quality Annual Report.

Metro Vancouver’s water quality monitoring program continues to fulfill its role in confirming that the
multiple protection barriers for drinking water that the GVYWD has in place including watershed
protection, water treatment and ongoing operation of the water system to maintain water quality, are
working effectively. As such, the drinking water provided by the GVWD to its customers met or exceeded
water quality standards and guidelines in 2018.

E 2.5 Award of Contract Resulting from Tender No. 18-414: Installation of Whalley Main APPROVED

The Board approved the award of a contract in the amount of $17,205,000 (exclusive of taxes) to Graham
Infrastructure LP resulting from Tender No. 18-414 for the Installation of Whalley Main.
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Greater Vancouver Sewage and Drainage District
E 1.1 Audited 2018 Financial Statements APPROVED

Legislation requires that annual Audited Financial Statements be prepared for the Metro Vancouver
Districts and Metro Vancouver Housing Corporation and presented at a public meeting of the Board of
Directors. The Audited Financial Statements for 2018 have been prepared by management in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards and have received an unqualified audit opinion by the
external auditors, BDO Canada LLP.

The Board approved the Audited 2018 Financial Statements for the Greater Vancouver Sewerage and
Drainage District.

E 2.1 Impact of Wipes on the Wastewater System RECEIVED

Wipes cause major issues for the wastewater industry both in Canada and the Metro Vancouver region.
Many of these wipes are labelled ‘flushable’” which causes confusion for consumers. Metro Vancouver has
sought to address this issue through public education, by endorsing the International Water Industry
Position Statement on Non-flushable and Flushable Labelled Products and by contributing funds and staff
time to efforts by the wastewater industry to develop a standard for “flushability.” A specification
developed and approved by the wastewater industry exists, but has not yet been made into an
enforceable Canadian standard.

The Board received the report for information.

E 2.2 Recreational Water Quality Monitoring Program RECEIVED

The Board received for information a report with an overview of the Recreational Water Quality
Monitoring Program in the region prior to the 2019 monitoring season and to offer additional information
about the program arising from the March 14, 2019 Liquid Waste Committee meeting.

Metro Vancouver’s Recreational Water Quality Monitoring Program currently includes sample collection
at 113 sites and 41 beach locations across the region. The samples are analyzed at Metro Vancouver’s
Microbiology Laboratory, and results are reported to the health authorities and beach operators. The
Vancouver Coastal Health and Fraser Health Authority use the information reported to assess the risk to
public health and issue swimming advisories, as they deem appropriate.

E 2.3 Award of a Contract Resulting from Tender No. 18-328: Construction of the APPROVED
Annacis Island Wastewater Treatment Plant Stage 5 Phase 2 Influent Pump Station
Expansion Project

The Board approved the award of a contract in the amount of $15,946,950 (exclusive of taxes) to Graham
Infrastructure LP & AECON Water Infrastructure Inc. —a Joint Venture, resulting from Tender No. 18-328:
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Construction of the Annacis Island Wastewater Treatment Plant Stage 5 Phase 2 Influent Pump Station
Expansion Project.

E 2.4 Award of a Contract Resulting from Tender No. 18-412: Construction of the Lulu APPROVED
Island Wastewater Treatment Plant Biogas Cleanup Project

The Board approved the award of a contract in the amount of $9,731,000 (exclusive of taxes) to Maple
Reinders Constructors Ltd., resulting from Tender No. 18-412: Construction of the Lulu Island Wastewater
Treatment Plant Biogas Cleanup Project, and increased the budget for the project by $1,931,000.

E 2.5 Status of Liquid Waste Services Capital Expenditures to December 31, 2018 RECEIVED

The Board received for information a report with an update on the status of utility capital expenditures for
the Liquid Waste Services for the year ending December 31, 2018.

In 2018, Liquid Waste Services underspent its Capital Budget by $82.6 million or 21.7%. The delays
experienced in projects in the early stages of completion resulted in the timing of expenditures differing
from expectations. The underspending in the 2018 Liquid Waste Services Capital Budget, resulted in a
realization of a surplus in capital funding of $1.8 million. This surplus, per policy, will be used in future
years to fund capital and avoid debt.

Although the 2018 Liquid Waste Services Capital Budget was underspent, the variance is a result of timing
with the actual overall spending on a capital project expected to be close to or less than the overall
budget for that project due to the savings of any budgeted contingencies.

E 3.1 Recycling Update RECEIVED

The Board received a report containing an update on recycling markets and Extended Producer
Responsibility programs.

Recycling producers throughout North America and Europe have been impacted as a result of changes in
contamination standards for recyclables entering China and other foreign markets. This report provides
an overview of the recycling markets and Extended Producer Responsibility programs in the region.
Investments by Recycle BC as well as high quality recyclables have helped ensure that recyclables from
Metro Vancouver and the rest of British Columbia continue to be marketed for recycling either locally or
other markets.

E 3.2 Acceptance of Health Care Facility Waste at Metro Vancouver Transfer Stations RECEIVED

The Board received a report about the acceptance of health care facility waste at Metro Vancouver
transfer stations.

Metro Vancouver, the City of Vancouver, Metro Vancouver’s contractor Emterra and the health
authorities have worked together to safely accept health care facility waste at both the North Shore and
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Coquitlam Transfer Stations. Access to these transfer stations will allow health authorities to reduce
waste hauling costs, reduce truck travel distance by 13,500 km per year and reduce greenhouse gas
emissions by approximately 50 tonnes CO2 equivalent per year.

E 3.3 Reallocation of Capital Funds for Transfer Station Compactor Replacements APPROVED

The Board authorized reallocation of 2019 capital funds originally approved for a Surrey Transfer Station
compactor to the purchase of a compactor for the replacement Coquitlam Transfer Station.

Recent inspections have indicated that the Surrey and North Shore Transfer Station compactors’ service
lives can be extended. A review of the potential to move the compactor from the existing Coquitlam
Transfer Station to the replacement facility concluded that moving the compactor would not be efficient.

E 3.4 Waste-to-Energy Facility 2018 Financial Update RECEIVED

The Board received for information a financial update for the Metro Vancouver Waste-to-Energy Facility
located in Burnaby.

Expenditures in 2018 for the Waste-to-Energy Facility totaled $20.5 million, including $0.88 million in debt
charges, resulting in an expenditure of $80.98 per tonne. Metro Vancouver’s portion of electrical and
metals revenues totaled $5,775,836 or $22.82 per tonne. Based on the plant processing 253,123 tonnes
of municipal solid waste, the net unit cost per tonne for operation and maintenance of the Waste-to-
Energy Facility in 2018 was $58.16 per tonne. Tipping fee revenues are accounted for separately and are
not included in this analysis.

E 3.5 Status of Solid Waste Services Capital Expenditures to December 31, 2018 RECEIVED

The Board received for information an update on the status of utilities capital expenditures for the Solid
Waste Services Department for the year ending December 31, 2018.

In 2018, the Solid Waste Services underspent its Capital Budget by $17.3 million or 41.6%. The delays
experienced in projects in the early stages of completion resulted in the timing of expenditures differing
from expectations. The underspendingin the 2018 Solid Waste Capital Budget, resulted in a realization of
a surplus in capital funding of $1.1 million. This surplus, per policy, will be used in future years to fund
capital and avoid debt.

Although the 2018 Solid Waste Capital Budget was underspent, the variance is a result of timing with the
actual overall spending on a capital project expected to be close to or less than the overall budget for that
project due to the savings of any budgeted contingencies.
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E 3.6 Board Appointment and Rescindments of Bylaw Enforcement Officers APPROVED

Recent changes in staff have resulted in a need to update staff appointments as Board-designated officers
under Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Municipal Solid Waste and Recyclable Material
Regulatory Bylaw and the Offence Act.

The Board, pursuant to Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Municipal Solid Waste and
Recyclable Material Regulatory Bylaw, rescinded the officer appointments of Lynne Bosquet, Donna
Hargreaves, Alex Clifford, and Jeff Gogol, then appointed Brian Kerin as officer.

The Board, pursuant to the Offence Act appoint the following Metro Vancouveremployee for the purpose
of serving summons under section 28 of the Offence Act for alleged violations under the Greater
Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Municipal Solid Waste and Recyclable Material Regulatory
Bylaw, appointed Brian Kerin as Permitting and Enforcement Officer.

E 4.1 Delegations Received at Committee April 2019 RECEIVED

The Board received for information a submission received from Helmut Blanken, HBHE Consulting,
Duncan, delegate to the Zero Waste Committee.

G 1.1 Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District Development Cost Charge APPROVED
Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw No. 325, 2019

The 2018 budget contemplated the transfer of DCC revenues collected to meet actual debt charge funding
requirements related to the Liquid Waste growth capital program. This bylaw completes that process.

The Board gave first, second and third readings to Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District
Development Cost Charge Reserve Fund Expenditure Bylaw No. 325, 2019; and passed and finally adopted
the bylaw.

Metro Vancouver Housing Corporation
E 1.1 Audited 2018 Financial Statements APPROVED

Legislation requires that annual Audited Financial Statements be prepared for the Metro Vancouver
Districts and Metro Vancouver Housing Corporation and presented at a public meeting of the Board of
Directors. The Audited Financial Statements for 2018 have been prepared by management in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and have received an unqualified audit
opinion by the external auditors, BDO Canada LLP.

The Board approved the Audited 2018 Financial Statements for the Metro Vancouver Housing
Corporation.
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee

Date: Wednesday, April 24, 2019
Place: Anderson Room

Richmond City Hall
Present: Councillor Harold Steves, Chair

Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Absent: Councillor Chak Au
Also Present: Councillor Carol Day — entered at 4:01 p.m.

Call to Order: The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.

MINUTES

It was moved and seconded
That the minutes of the meeting of the Parks, Recreation and Cultural
Services Committee held on March 26, 2019, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

NEXT COMMITTEE MEETING DATE

May 28, 2019, (tentative date) at 4:00 p.m. in the Anderson Room

AGENDAADDITIONS AND DELETIONS

It was moved and seconded

That Item No. 3, “Proposed Tidally Influenced Terra Nova Slough Update”
be deferred to the next Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee
meeting.

CARRIED
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COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION

ARTS SERVICES YEAR IN REVIEW 2018

(File Ref. No. 11-7000-01) (REDMS No. 6156917 v. 2)

A brief video providing an overview and highlights of the Arts Services year
in review for 2018 was presented to Committee (copy on file, City Clerk’s
Office).

Councillor Carol Day entered the meeting (4:01 p.m.).

Discussion took place on (i) presenting the video at the next Council meeting
(ii) Door’s Open, and (iii) posting the Arts Services Year in Review 2018
report on the City’s website.

In response to queries from Committee, Liesl G. Jauk, Manager Arts Services
remarked that summer activities and workshops offered at Branscombe House
by the artist-in-residence will be listed online and the Art Truck program has
been in operation since 2011.

It was moved and seconded

That the Arts Services Year in Review 2018 as presented in the staff report
titled, “Arts Services Year in Review 2018,” dated March 29, 2019, from the
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services, be circulated to the
Community Partners and Funders for their information.

CARRIED

DRAFT RICHMOND ARTS STRATEGY 2019-2024
(File Ref. No. 11-7000-01) (REDMS No. 6158128; 6160962)

With the aid of a PowerPoint presentation (attached to and forming part of

these minutes as Schedule 1), Ms. Jauk reviewed the draft Richmond arts
strategy 2019-2024 and provided the following additional comments:

u the Richmond Arts Strategy 2012-2017 has reached the end of its
intended life and a new Arts Strategy is necessary to align with current
community needs and build on successes and lessons learned;

a this draft strategy was developed with, by and for the community;

n the Arts Strategy Task Group comprised of Richmond-based arts and
culture stakeholders, City staff and a diverse selection of community
members from a range of sectors, cultural backgrounds and age groups
provided support, direction and feedback and serve as community
champions to promote public involvement in the planning process and
act as a sounding board;
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n staff took a proactive approach to involving those typically under-
represented in planning processes such as youth, Chinese-speakers and
the Indigenous community; and

= in open-ended question asking people what they think makes
Richmond’s Arts scene unique, top points of pride were Richmond’s
Public Art, its Cultural Diversity and Natural Beauty, particularly
coupled with the cultural heritage of Steveston.

In response to questions from Committee, Ms. Jauk remarked that (1)
identifying short, medium and long term goals will be part of the
implementation framework, (ii) the strategic directions and objectives are part
of building leadership in the community and staff will utilize past experiences
for ways to improve and staff will be presenting to the School District, (iii)
work has begun on the cultural facilities needs assessment with completion
anticipated over the summer for presentation to Council in the fall, (iv) often
opportunities for cultural amenity spaces from new developments are ad hoc
and staff are reviewing space needs criteria and general guidelines for future
developer contribution opportunities for cultural amenity space, and (v) the
dedicated affordable artist housing units are owned and operated by the
developer there are specific criteria that need to be met to rent.

Discussion ensued regarding utilizing developer contributions and the rental
of display space for artists in city facilities and in reply to queries, Ms. Jauk
advised that artists who display their work at Minoru receive greatly
subsidized rates and there is no cost for showcasing in any public space.

In response to additional questions from Committee, Ms. Jauk further noted
that all materials regarding the Draft Strategy have been made available to the
public and staff have already received a lot of feedback. Ms. Jauk further
advised that the task group was comprised of members from a variety of
groups and backgrounds including youth representation and staff will be
presenting the draft strategy to the Richmond School District to speak on
more specific ways to involve youth.

It was moved and seconded

(1) That the Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, included as
Attachment 1 of the staff report titled “Draft Richmond Arts Strategy
2019-2024,” dated April 2, 2019, from the Director, Arts, Culture and
Heritage Services, be adopted for the purpose of seeking stakeholder
and public feedback on the strategy; and

(2) That the Final Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, including the
results of the stakeholder and public feedback, be reported back to the
Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Committee.

CARRIED
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PROPOSED TIDALLY INFLUENCED TERRA NOVA SLOUGH
UPDATE
(File Ref. No. 06-2345-20-TNOV4) (REDMS No. 6160886 v. 10; 5621988)

Please see Page 1 of these minutes for action on this item.

UPDATE ON COMMUNITY RECREATION PROGRAMS AND
SERVICES 2018

(File Ref. No. 11-7000-01) (REDMS No. 6151724 v. 41)

David Ince, Manager, Community Recreation Services provided an overview
on the community recreation programs and services 2018 update, noting that
services offered were in collaboration with community associations and
societies.

In reply to queries from Committee, Mr. Ince remarked that (i) the East
Richmond Community Association will be looking at program development
in the Bridgeport area, (ii) the number of volunteer hours noted in the staff
report are based on self-reporting, and (iii) the recreation fee subsidy program
allows those between the ages of 55 and 65 who no longer qualify for seniors
facility passes to still benefit from a cost savings and that staff anticipate that
the same amount of opportunities are provided for those who qualify for a
subsidy.

It was moved and seconded

That the staff report titled “Update on Community Recreation Programs
and Services 2018,” dated April 5, 2019, from the Director, Recreation and
Sport Services be received for information.

CARRIED

LONDON FARM MASTER PLAN
(File Ref. No.) (REDMS No.)

The Chair spoke to a referral regarding a Master Plan for the London Heritage
Farm and discussion took place on site orientation and building locations.

As aresult of the discussion, the following referral motion was introduced:

It was moved and seconded

That staff update the London Farm Master Plan and investigate the cost,
and potential, of reconstructing a timber barn, similar to the barn re-
constructed, with a barn raising event, in Ladner by Delta Municipality.

CARRIED

MANAGER’S REPORT
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Committee offered congratulations to Jane Fernyhough, Director, Arts,
Culture and Heritage Services on her retirement and recognized and
commended her for her 39 years of service to the City.

ADJOURNMENT

It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (4:47 p.m.).

CARRIED

Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the meeting of the Parks,
Recreation = and  Cultural  Services
Committee of the Council of the City of
Richmond held on Wednesday, April 24,

20109.
Councillor Harold Steves Amanda Welby
Chair Legislative Services Coordinator
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Date:

Place:

Present:

Absent:

Call to Order:

City of
Richmond Minutes

General Purposes Committee

Monday, May 6, 2019

Anderson Room
Richmond City Hall

Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie, Chair
Councillor Kelly Greene
Councillor Alexa Loo

Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Harold Steves
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Councillor Chak Au
Councillor Carol Day

The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:26 p.m.

MINUTES

It was moved and seconded
That the minutes of the meeting of the General Purposes Committee held on
April 15, 2019, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

COMMUNITY SAFETY DIVISION

STRENGTHENING THE UNSIGHTLY PREMISES REGULATION

BYLAW RELATED TO VACANT HOMES
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-02-01; 12-8060-20-009819/9820/9821) (REDMS No. 6129635 v. 3; 5717742;
6152819; 6152828)

In reply to queries from Committee, Carli Williams, Manager, Community
Bylaws and Licencing, provided the following information:

" the proposed bylaw amendments will considerably strengthen the
City’s enforcement tools with regard to nuisance properties;
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6183094

long form prosecution is when an offence is taken to court and is a
separate process from ticketing and the fine amounts for this process
are set by the court;

a maximum fine of $10,000 may be considered, however, it is
recommended that a minimum fine of $1,000 be added to Unsightly
Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162; and

a minimum fine of $1,000 is recommended as this amount provides the
City leverage to arrange guilty pleas; also, staff have found that higher
fines are typically reduced by the court.

It was moved and seconded

1)

(2)

(3)

That Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, Amendment
Bylaw No. 9819, to strengthen the City’s approach to unsightly
properties and vacant homes, be introduced and given first, second
and third readings;

That Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9820, to increase fines for unsightly
properties, be introduced and given first, second and third readings;
and

That Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No.
8122, Amendment Bylaw No. 9821, to add additional ticketing
authority, be introduced and given first, second and third readings.

CARRIED

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION

DRAFT RICHMOND HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2019-2029
(File Ref. No. 08-4057-11-01) (REDMS No. 6153845 v. 3)

In reply to queries from Committee, Kim Somerville, Manager, Community
Social Development and Cody Spencer, Program Manager, Affordable
Housing, provided the following information with regard to the proposed
Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029:

the proposed Strategy is a collaborative approach focused on multi-
stakeholders including housing and service providers;

the proposed Strategy introduces several actions to enhance effective
collaboration and coordinasion between a variety of local organizations
such as the introduction of a new Leadership Table;

staff can add language around the housing continuum in the proposed
Strategy;
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staff’s outreach will be broadened to engage with more youth and
Indigenous groups in an effort to increase services to these underserved
groups;

staff are examining permanent supportive housing options for youth
experiencing homelessness in the community;

the City liaises with the Richmond School District and Vancouver
Coastal Health regularly through its Youth Services team to gain a better
understanding of vulnerable youth in the city; '

staff have ongoing discussions with BC Housing regarding upcoming
housing opportunities as well as regularly monitoring upcoming
developments for other housing opportunities;

members of the public may provide feedback on the proposed Strategy
through LetsTalkRichmond.ca as well as at an open house at the
Richmond Cultural Centre;

staff are actively monitoring Reaching Home — Canada's Homelessness
Strategy; and

staff can examine the potential for a renters advisory committee in
partnership with the City’s Planning and Development Division.

It was moved and seconded

(1) That the Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029, as
outlined in Attachment 1 of the staff report titled “Draft Richmond
Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029”, dated April 12, 2019, be
approved for the purpose of seeking public feedback on the Draft
Strategy; and

(2) That the final Richmond Homelessness Strategy, including a
summary of public feedback received, be reported back to General
Purposes Committee.

CARRIED

ADJOURNMENT

It was moved and seconded

That the meeting adjourn (4:50 p.m.).

CARRIED
3.
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Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the meeting of the General
Purposes Committee of the Council of the
City of Richmond held on Monday, May

6, 2019.
Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie Hanieh Berg
Chair Legislative Services Coordinator
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Finance Committee

Date: Monday, May 6, 2019
Place: Anderson Room
Richmond City Hall
Present: Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie, Chair

Councillor Kelly Greene
Councillor Alexa Loo
Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Linda McPhail
Councillor Harold Steves
Councillor Michael Wolfe

Absent: Councillor Chak Au
Councillor Carol Day
Call to Order: The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:51 p.m.

MINUTES

It was moved and seconded
That the minutes of the meeting of the Finance Committee held on April 15,
2019, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

1. 2018 Audit Findings on the City’s Financial Statements

C.J. James, Engagement Partner, KPMG LLP, and Asifa Hirji, Senior
Manager, KPMG LLP, presented the 2018 Audit findings on the City’s
financial statements and the following information was highlighted:

" KPMG is independent and the Audit Report is unqualified;

" the Audit Report focused on two areas: (i) deferred revenue and
development cost charges and (ii) post-employment benefits; and

" there have been no significant changes regarding the Audit Report from
the audit planning report previously presented to Council.
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It was moved and seconded
That the Audit Findings Report for the year ended December 31, 2018
prepared by KPMG LLP be received for information.

CARRIED

RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL CORPORATION

RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL CORPORATION - 2018 AUDITED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(File Ref. No.) (REDMS No. 6172799)

It was moved and seconded

That the report on the 2018 audited Financial Statements for the Richmond
Olympic Oval Corporation from the Controller of the Richmond Olympic
Oval Corporation be received for information.

CARRIED

RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL CORPORATION - 2019 ANNUAL

OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGETS
(File Ref. No.) (REDMS No. 6097633)

It was moved and seconded

That the report on the 2019 Annual Operating and Capital budgets for the
Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation from the Controller of the Richmond
Olympic Oval Corporation be received for information.

CARRIED

LULU ISLAND ENERGY COMPANY

2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE LULU ISLAND ENERGY

COMPANY
(File Ref. No. 10-6600-10-01) (REDMS No. 6166416)

In reply to a query from Committee, Alen Postolka, Manager, District Energy,
commented on how district energy charges are calculated, noting that a
combination of fixed rates based on square footage and metered rates based
on consumption are utilized for heating, cooling and domestic water.

CNCL -73



Finance Committee
Monday, May 6, 2019

6183097

It was moved and seconded

That the Lulu Island Energy Company report titled “2018 Financial
Statements for the Lulu Island Energy Company” dated April 18, 2019 from
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, be received for
information.

CARRIED
RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY
2018 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE RICHMOND PUBLIC
LIBRARY

(File Ref. No. 03-0905-01) (REDMS No. 6168884)

It was moved and seconded

That the 2018 Richmond Public Library audited financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2018, as presented in the attached report from the
Chief Librarian, be received for information.

CARRIED

FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION

2018 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(File Ref. No. 03-09-05-01) (REDMS No. 6168681 v. 2; 6143862; 6168895; 6172261)

In reply to queries from Committee, Cindy Gilfillan, Manager, Financial
Reporting, commented on the various definitions of ‘surplus’ in accounting
standards and noted that a simplified reconciliation of the City’s financials
can be provided for ease of use in upcoming reports.

It was moved and seconded
That the City’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018 be accepted.

CARRIED
ADJOURNMENT
It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (5:05 p.m.).
CARRIED
3.
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Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the meeting of the Finance
Committee of the Council of the City of
Richmond held on Monday, May 6, 2019.

Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie Hanieh Berg
Chair Legislative Services Coordinator
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City of
Richmond Minutes

Planning Committee

Date: Tuesday, May 7, 2019
Place: Anderson Room
Richmond City Hall
Present: Councillor Linda McPhail, Chair

Councillor Bill McNulty
Councillor Alexa Loo
Councillor Harold Steves

Absent: Councillor Carol Day
Call to Order: The Chair called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m.

MINUTES

It was moved and seconded
That the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on April
16, 2019, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

NEXT COMMITTEE MEETING DATE

May 22, 2019, (tentative date) at 4:00 p.m. in the Anderson Room
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PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

APPLICATION BY PAUL DOROSHENKO FOR A ZONING TEXT
AMENDMENT TO THE “INDUSTRIAL RETAIL (IR1)” ZONE TO

PERMIT A DISTILLERY AT 5800 CEDARBRIDGE WAY
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-010022; ZT 18-815709) (REDMS No. 5981442; 6157113)

Staff reviewed the application, noting that (i) the proposed zoning text
amendment will allow for the addition of distillery as a site specific use
including the retail lounge component, (ii) staff are working with the
applicant to reduce the potential parking impact to the existing tenants in the
building, and (iii) any odour issues would be dealt with through Metro
Vancouver air quality permits and the lounge component will go through the
Liquor Control and Licensing Branch’s Liquor Licensing process prior to
occupation.

Paul Doroshenko, applicant, expressed that the distillery will be processing
spirits which generally have minimal odour and that the applicant will be
working with existing tenants, such as the Richmond Food Bank, to minimize
impact to parking.

It was moved and seconded

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10022, for a
Zoning Text Amendment to the “Industrial Retail (IR1)” zone to permit
“microbrewery, winery and distillery”, as a site-specific use and limited to
one establishment, at 5800 Cedarbridge Way, be introduced and given first
reading.

CARRIED

AMENDMENT TO HERITAGE ALTERATION PERMIT (HA 18-
818536) FOR 3711 AND 3731 CHATHAM STREET AND STEVESTON
VILLAGE HERITAGE CONSERVATION GRANT PROGRAM
APPLICATION BY THE RICHMOND HOSPITAL/HEALTHCARE

AUXILIARY
(File Ref. No. HA 18-818536) (REDMS No. 6162947 v. 2)

Discussion ensued with proposed foundation repairs on-site and James
Burton, project architect, noted that the proposed foundation works will
utilize a screw pile system that will stabilize the foundation without the need
to perform significant lifting of the existing building.

It was moved and seconded

(1) That an amendment to the Heritage Alteration Permit
(HA 18-818536) for foundation replacement work at 3711 and 3731
Chatham Street, which was issued on May 14, 2018, be approved;
and
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(2) That a grant request of $150,000 to the Richmond
Hospital/Healthcare Auxiliary be approved under the Steveston
Village Heritage Conservation Grant Program to assist with the
Joundation replacement work for the heritage protected building
located at 3711 and 3731 Chatham Street and disbursed in
accordance with Council Policy 5900.

The question on the motion was not called as discussion ensued with regard to
the Steveston Village Heritage Conservation Grant Program (SVHCG) and
Barry Konkin, Manager, Policy Planning, noted that staff will continue to
promote the SVHCG for potential future conservation projects in the
Steveston Village.

The question on the motion was then called and it was CARRIED.

APPLICATION BY IBI GROUP ARCHITECTS (CANADA) INC. TO
AMEND SCHEDULE 2.10 OF OFFICIAL COMMUNITY BYLAW
7100 (CITY CENTRE AREA PLAN), CREATE THE “LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE (Z119) - BRIDGEPORT VILLAGE (CITY
CENTRE)” ZONE, AND REZONE THE SITE AT 9520 BECKWITH
ROAD FROM THE “SINGLE DETACHED (RS1/F)” ZONE TO THE
“LIGHT INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE (ZI19) - BRIDGEPORT

VILLAGE (CITY CENTRE)” ZONE
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-009931/010019/010034; RZ 18-821103) (REDMS No. 6156129 v. 6;
6166391; 6157112; 6157109; 6157114; 6157177; 5870814)

Mark McMullen, Senior Coordinator - Major Projects, reviewed the
application, and briefed Committee on the proposed amendments to the City
Centre Area Plan (CCAP) to limit stratification or airspace subdivision of
office space in situations where additional density for office use is being
considered. Also, he noted that proposed development will retain 10 trees on-
site. He added that the proposed development will include 72 parking spaces
and is in compliance with the City’s parking regulations.

It was moved and seconded

(1)  That Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 10019, to amend
Schedule 2.10 of Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100 (City Centre
Area Plan) to change the “Specific Land Use Map: Bridgeport
Village — Detailed Transect Descriptions” to provide a maximum
density of 1.85 floor area ratio (FAR) and a maximum of 60% of the
net floor area for non-industrial uses within the “General Urban (T4)
Area B — Industrial Reserve: Limited Commercial” designation for
9520 Beckwith Road, be introduced and given First Reading;
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(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

That Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 10034, to amend
Schedule 2.10 of Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100 (City Centre
Area Plan) to amend the term “Industrial Reserve” in Appendix 1 —
Definitions to require that all office use within the “Industrial
Reserve: Limited Commercial” area be limited to one strata lot or one
air space parcel per storey or a minimum floor area of 1,858m’
(20,000f¢) where the total development density exceeds that in the
underlying Transect; and amend the term “Village Centre Bonus” in
Appendix 1 — Definitions, to require that all office use within the
Village Centre Bonus (VCB) floor area be limited to one strata lot or
one air space parcel per storey or a minimum floor area of 1,858m’
(20,000f¢’) where the VCB exceeds 1.0 FAR, be introduced and given
First Reading;

That Bylaw 10019 and Bylaw 1034, having been considered in
conjunction with:

(a) the City’s Financial Plan and Capital Program; and

(b) the Greater Vancouver Regional District Solid Waste and
Liquid Waste Management Plans;

are hereby found to be consistent with said program and plans, in
accordance with Section 477(3)(a) of the Local Government Act;

That Bylaw 10019 and Bylaw 10034, having been considered in
accordance with OCP Bylaw Preparation Consultation Policy 5043,
are hereby found not to require further consultation; and

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 9931, to
create the "Light Industrial and Office (Z119) — Bridgeport Village
(City Centre)'' zone, and to rezone 9520 Beckwith Road from the
""Single Detached (RS1/F)'' zone to the "Light Industrial and Office
(Z119) — Bridgeport Village (City Centre)'' zone, be introduced and
given First Reading.

CARRIED

Discussion ensued with regard to proposed regulations to limit stratification
and airspace subdivision of office space, and as a result the following referral
motion was introduced:

It was moved and seconded

That staff be directed to conduct public consultation with property owners,
the development community and general public regarding whether potential
restrictions on stratification and airspace subdivision of office space should
be considered, and report back.

CARRIED
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APPLICATION BY EVERNU DEVELOPMENTS FOR REZONING
AT 11540 RAILWAY AVENUE FROM THE “SINGLE DETACHED
(RSIVE)? ZONE TO “ARTERIAL ROAD THE TWO-UNIT

DWELLINGS (RDA)” ZONE
(File Ref. No. 12-8060-010030; RZ 18-819258) (REDMS No. 6162976; 6163247)

Edwin Lee, Planner 1, reviewed the application noting that the proposed
duplex will be in a front-to-back configuration and one unit will be
convertible.

Discussion ensued with regard to the proposed special lane marking and
driveway paving for the site’s cycling lane crossing along Railway Avenue. It
was suggested that staff provide a memorandum to Council on the efficacy of
special pavement and markings for cycling lanes.

It was moved and seconded

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10030, for the
rezoning of 11540 Railway Avenue from the “Single Detached (RS1/E)”
zone to “Arterial Road Two-Unit Dwellings (RDA)” zone, be introduced and
given First Reading.

CARRIED

SIGNAGE IMPROVEMENTS FOR REZONING AND
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

(File Ref. No. 08-4100-01; 12-8060-20-010004/010005) (REDMS No. 6118110 v. 2; 6165828;
6122871; 6137680; 6137679)

Staff noted that the proposed signage improvements will include (i) more
information on project milestones and public input opportunities, (ii) project
renderings on Development Permit signs, and (iii) simplified language. Staff
added that the installation and maintenance of the signs will be at the
-developer’s cost and the signs will be updateable by using stickers.

It was moved and seconded

(1) That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 10004,
respecting changes to rezoning signs, be introduced and given First
Reading; and

(2) That Development Permit, Development Variance Permit and
Temporary Commercial and Industrial Use Permit Procedure Bylaw
No. 7273, Amendment Bylaw 10005, respecting changes to
Development Permit and Development Variance Permit signs and to
add Temporary Use Permit signs, be in introduced and given First
Reading.

CARRIED
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FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION

DEVELOPMENT NOTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS AND SERVICE

LEVELS
(File Ref. No. 01-0105-06-01; 12-8060-20-010031) (REDMS No. 6088524; 6164384)

David Weber, Director, City Clerk's Office, spoke on the proposed
development notification requirements, noting that staff reviewed best
practices from other municipalities and are recommending (i) updating the
format of the newspaper and mailed meeting notices, (i1) expanding the
notification radius to 100 metres, (iii) implementing early notices for
development applications, and (iv) providing members of the public the
opportunity to subscribe to email notification for development notices. Also,
Mr. Weber noted that staff can explore options to provide development
notifications through the City’s mobile app.

It was moved and seconded

(1) That the proposed updates to the format of the Public Hearing,
Development Permit Panel and Board of Variance meeting notices
and mailed notices, as outlined in the staff report dated April 2, 2019
Jrom the Director, City Clerk’s Office, be endorsed;

(2) That the opportunity to subscribe to email notifications for
development notices be provided to members of the public as an
enhanced level of service;

(3)  That staff bring forward the appropriate bylaw amendments and/or
Council policies to implement and to recover costs for an expanded
level of service in relation to development notices in accordance with
Option 3, as outlined in the staff report dated April 2, 2019; and

(4) That Richmond Development Permit, Development Variance Permit
and Temporary Commercial and Industrial Use Permit Procedure
Bylaw No. 7273, Amendment Bylaw No. 10031, to make various
housekeeping amendments, be introduced and given first, second and
third reading.

CARRIED
MANAGER’S REPORT

Community Information Session on Development, Affordable Housing,
Transportation and Sustainability in the City

Wayne Craig, Director, Development noted that a Community Information
Session took place on May 2, 2019 and was well attended. He added that the
next session will take place on May 16, 2019 at the East Cambie Community
Centre.
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Planning Committee
Tuesday, May 7, 2019

ADJOURNMENT

It was moved and seconded
That the meeting adjourn (4:31 p.m.).

CARRIED

Certified a true and correct copy of the
Minutes of the meeting of the Planning
Committee of the Council of the City of
Richmond held on Tuesday, May 7, 2019.

Councillor Linda McPhail Evangel Biason
Chair Legislative Services Coordinator
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To: Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Date: March 29, 2019

Committee

From: Jane Fernyhough File:  11-7000-01/2019-Vol
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services 01

Re: Arts Services Year in Review 2018

Staff Recommendation

That the Arts Services Year in Review 2018 as presented in the staff report titled, “Arts Services
Year in Review 2018,” dated March 29, 2019, from the Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage
Services, be circulated to the Community Partners and Funders for their information.

e

Jane Fernyhough
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services
(604-276-4288)

Att. 1
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Staff Report
Origin

The Richmond Arts Strategy 2012-2017 was developed to help guide the City’s actions to make
Richmond a city with a thriving, cultural life where the opportunities for participation in the arts
are accessible, where artists feel they have a place and are seen as contributing to the community,
where cultural industries are welcomed and where cultural activity is visible and supported.

The five strategic directions outlined in the Strategy guide the City and its stakeholders’
involvement in supporting Richmond’s arts sector and ensuring a thriving and visible arts scene
in Richmond:

Strengthen and support the arts community.

Increase the number of arts spaces and more effectively use existing ones.

Broaden the diversity of arts experiences and opportunities.

Expand public awareness and understanding of the arts.

A

Broaden the economic potential and contribution of the arts.

These strategic directions create a solid foundation and help to ensure the City is purposeful in its
continued advancement of the arts in the community and that the arts play a strong role in place
making, community building, tourism and economic development. This report presents Arts
Services Year in Review 2018 (Attachment 1), which highlights the year’s achievements in the
arts.

Analysis

The Arts Services Year in Review 2018 profiles the arts with particular attention to the programs
and activities led by Community Cultural Development, Richmond Arts Centre, Richmond
Media Lab, Richmond Art Gallery, Richmond Public Art Program and Gateway Theatre. Together,
these accomplishments reflect the City’s continued support and investment in the arts.

Highlights and achievements of 2018 include:

e Over the spring and summer, the Community Cultural Development office invited the
public to participate in the development of the new Arts Strategy to be launched in 2019.
Public engagement included a bilingual online survey (that attracted more than 470
completed responses) and more than 30 pop-up kiosks and other feedback opportunities
offered at events and public spaces throughout Richmond.

o During her tenure as the third annual Branscombe House artist-in-residence, visual and
performing artist Keely O’Brien attracted more than 500 participants to a range of free
hands-on workshops, walking tours and map drawing to explore the idea of “home” and
what it means to create a sense of belonging and build community.

e Over the summer, the Richmond Art Gallery presented Germaine Koh’s Home Made
Home, a gallery exhibition and micro-dwelling outdoor installation (in collaboration with
Public Art) to probe the complex issues surrounding housing in the Lower Mainland. In
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November, the Gallery featured colourful sculptures and paintings representing more
than 40 years of work by a previously unknown 82 year old Richmond artist, Pierre
Vassura. These exhibitions attracted approximately 3,000 visitors each.

The Public Art Program received three honours: the BC Recreation and Parks
Association Program of Excellence Awards for Pollinator Pasture, Creative City Summit
Year in Review recipient for Richmond’s Canada 150 Public Art Program and Public
Works Association of BC Project of the Year Award for the No. 2 Road Pump Station.

The Richmond Arts Centre offered more than 400 courses in visual and performing arts
taught by more than 30 professional instructors, registered 7,232 students and waitlisted
1,184.

Art Truck programming expanded from four elementary schools to six (Cook, Tomsett,
General Currie, Grauer, Blundell and Brighouse). The program provided more than 340
students facing barriers with high quality after-school arts education paired with physical
literacy and healthy eating components.

The 10th annual Children’s Arts Festival provided interactive arts programs, theatre and
music performances and roving entertainers to more than 9,000 young people on Family
Day and the following four school days. With the support of a community sponsor, a new
program was introduced to enable a school with financial barriers to attend the festival
with a full subsidy.

Created in partnership with the Richmond Arts Coalition, the Richmond Arts Awards,
emceed by Mayor Malcolm Brodie, also celebrated its 10th anniversary with a special
video presentation honouring past recipients as part of the annual ceremony in May.

The Media Lab continued to add to its complement of educational programs with Manga
& Hlustration as well as Online Comic Creation to augment programs such as Build a
Website, GIF Creation, Filmmaking, Animation, Coding and Video Game Design.

As the city’s live performing arts hub and essential local rental venue for community and
professional organizations, the Gateway Theatre facility drew audiences in excess of
33,000 to more than 152 performances. As part of the Gateway Theatre Society’s
Signature Series, the world premiere of Jovanni Sy’s Nine Dragons won a Jessie
Richardson Award for Outstanding New Play.

Richmond maintained its national status as a Top Five “medium-sized city” for the
number of activities offered over the Culture Days weekend. An estimated 5,000
participants took part in 76 individual activities by 55 different artists and cultural
organizations in 28 locations. Participants got a behind-the-scenes look at many of
Richmond’s cultural spaces and took part in hands-on activities and demos, exhibits and
activities such as calligraphy, beat-boxing, life drawing, pottery and steel drumming.

Council approved the repurposing of the Minoru Place Activity Centre to be a
community arts programming and education facility for the next ten years.
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o The second year of the Engaging Community and Public Art program saw four projects:

o Artist Faith Moosang worked with Minoru Arenas Community Association to
share the history of Minoru Park through colourful mural wraps on the interior
concrete pillars; :

o Donald Gunn and Bryn Finer worked with Hamilton Community Association to
create a steel Great Blue Heron sculpture for Hamilton McLean Park;

o The Artists Rendering Tales Collective Inc. worked in residency with the
Britannia Heritage Shipyard Society to produce a performance work that shared
little-known tales of the site; and

o Catrina Megumi Longmuir worked with the Minoru Seniors Society to record
stories of the organization and several members in films, a booklet and website.

The report also highlights the significant value and benefits the arts bring to Richmond by
encouraging self-expression, creating a sense of community identity and pride, enhancing
understanding of issues in society, providing opportunities to develop and foster new skills and
encouraging collaboration and connections. All of these benefits contribute to individual well-
being and healthy, sustainable communities.

Financial Impact

None.

Conclusion

The Arts Services Year in Review 2018 highlights activities and achievements in the arts in the
community and the importance the arts play in further enhancing Richmond’s growth into one of
the best places to live, work and play. Art in everyday life creates a sense of meaning and sense

of place for citizens. An investment in the arts is an investment in the community’s quality of
life.

Lie ] G. Jauk

Manager Arts Services
(604-204-8672)

Att. 1: Arts Services Year in Review 2018
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Report to Committee

Wy City of

Richmond
To: Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services Date: April 2, 2019
Committee
From: Jane Fernyhough File:  11-7000-01/2019-Vol
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services 01
Re: Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024

Staff Recommendations

1. That the Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, included as Attachment 1 of the staff
report titled “Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024,” dated April 2, 2019, from the
Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services, be adopted for the purpose of seeking
stakeholder and public feedback on the strategy.

2. That the Final Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, including the results of the
stakeholder and public feedback, be reported back to the Parks, Recreation and Cultural
Serviges Committee. '

Director, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services
(604-276-4288)

Att. 1

REPORT CONCURRENCE

ROUTED To: CONCURRENCE | CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER

Communications

Community Social Development
Recreation Services
Development Applications
Policy Planning

Economic Development

HRNERARE

Parks D

REVIEWED BY STAFF REPORT / INTIALS: | Ap ED BY SAO
AGENDA REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE C ‘j
NG/

CNCL - 147

6158128




April 2, 2019 -2-

Staff Report
Origin

In July of 2004, the first Richmond Arts Strategy was endorsed by Council to guide actions and
development to make Richmond a city with a thriving cultural life, where the opportunities for
participation in the arts at all levels are accessible, where artists feel they have a place and are
seen as contributing to the community, where cultural industries are welcomed and where
cultural activity is visible and supported.

The updated Richmond Arts Strategy 2012-2017 was endorsed by Council in August of 2012;
the strategy was developed with the participation of a community stakeholder Steering
Committee to facilitate the growth of the arts in Richmond by creating an environment and
culture in the City that ensures the arts play a strong role in placemaking, community building,
tourism and economic development.

As the Richmond Arts Strategy 2012-2017 reached the end of its intended life; Council approved
a one-time additional level for funding to develop a new Strategy. In January 2018, the
Richmond Arts Strategy Task Group (comprised of arts stakeholders, City staff and community
members representing a wide range of sectors, generations and cultural backgrounds) was
assembled to provide support and direction in the planning process, and throughout the spring
and summer, a wide-ranging community engagement process was implemented to gather
feedback from the general public and stakeholders. The draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024
has been prepared with a high degree of community participation, taking a collaborative and
holistic approach to advance the arts in Richmond.

On July 23, 2018, a Report to Council was submitted to provide a progress update and describe
the Guiding Principles for the Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024; the report provided
details regarding the extensive community engagement which took place as part of the project
process.

The purpose of this report is to present the Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024
(Attachment 1), as well as the next steps for the project. Pending Council’s adoption of the Draft
Strategy, City staff will seek further feedback from the public and stakeholders and will report
back to Council at a later date.

Analysis

Background

Following adoption of the Guiding Principles for the Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024 by
Council on July 23, 2018, City staff and partners developed the Vision, Strategic Directions,
Objectives and Supporting Actions for the Draft Strategy that are being presented within this
report. (Attachment 1).
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The Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024 identifies the challenges and clarifies the needs, both
within the arts community and in the general community, to facilitate the growth of the arts in
Richmond by creating an environment and culture in the city that ensures the arts play a strong
role in placemaking, community building, tourism and more. Moreover, the arts are understood
as vital both to individual well-being and as a way to transcend language in working towards
intercultural harmony.

The strategy calls upon the City to continue to play a number of roles to develop and foster a
community-wide approach to developing the arts: supporter, presenter, communicator, investor,
and facility provider/operator in advancing the arts. Five strategic directions guide the City and
its stakeholders’ involvement in supporting Richmond’s arts sector and ensuring a thriving and
visible arts scene in Richmond:

Ensure affordable and accessible arts for all.
Promote inclusivity and diversity in the arts.

Invest in the arts.

sl .

Increase awareness and participation in the arts.
5. Activate public spaces through (and for) the arts.

Under each of these strategic directions, a series of supporting actions are outlined, which have
been vetted and supported by the Richmond Arts Strategy Task Group. Opportunities will be
sought to integrate the strategic directions and actions with other City policies, strategies,
programs and initiatives to advance the arts in Richmond and help make the arts a primary
engine for further enhancing Richmond’s growth into one of the best places to live, work and

play.

An implementation framework for 2019-2024, which will be a living document to be updated
annually, is currently being developed. It will serve as a guide for identifying actions, partners
and further opportunities as well as monitoring progress and assessing the effectiveness of
strategic directions, to ensure that progress is made towards achieving objectives.

Funding Considerations

While many of the initiatives and actions will be achieved through annual work plans and
working in collaboration with internal and external partners, some actions will require additional
funding. Additional funding required will be obtained through various sources including
sponsorships, partnering with Development applications, grants and funding from other levels of
government.

Efforts will also be made to leverage civic investment to attract the investment of additional
resources, financial and non-financial, in support of the arts sector.

Any capital projects or increases in operating budgets will come forward for Council approval
within the Council approved budget process.
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Financial Impact

None.

Next Steps

Upon adoption of the Draft Strategy by Council, City staff will seek further feedback from
stakeholders and general public through May, 2019:

e Additional input will be sought from Richmond Arts Strategy Task Group which
represents stakeholders and public.

e Through targeted emails, news release, board display in Richmond Cultural Centre,
posters, etc., the stakeholders and public will be invited to provide feedback on the Draft
Richmond Arts Strategy which will be posted online at howartworks.ca.

Conclusion

This draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, with enthusiastic input from the community,
equips Richmond to be an arts destination with a thriving arts community and a rich offering of
festivals and events. The Strategy outlines five strategic directions which act as a roadmap to
guide actions and work plans.

Upon adoption of the Draft Strategy by Council, City staff will seek further validation from
stakeholders and general public. Any feedback received during the validation process will be
assessed and used to develop the Final Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2024, which will be
presented to Council at a later date.

Liest G. Jauk
Manager Arts Services
(604-204-8672)

Att. 1: Draft Richmond Arts Strategy 2019-2014
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| — Report to Committee
As®a Richmond

To: General Purposes Committee Date: April 11, 2019

From: Cecilia Achiam File: 12-8060-02-01/2019-Vol 01
General Manager, Community Safety

Re: Strengthening the Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw Related to Vacant
Homes

Staff Recommendation

1. That Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, Amendment Bylaw No. 9819, to
strengthen the City’s approach to unsightly properties and vacant homes, be introduced
and given first, second and third readings;

2. That Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321, Amendment Bylaw
No. 9820, to increase fines for unsightly properties, be introduced and given first, second
and third readings; and

3. That Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122, Amendment
Bylaw No. 9821, to add additional ticketing authority, be introduced and given first,
second and third readings.

REPORT CONCURRENCE
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General Manager,

i RouTED TO: CONCURRENCE
Community Safety
(604-276-4122) =y T
Fire Rescue =gl
INITIALS:
REVIEWED BY STAFF REPORT /
AGENDA REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE (/6
?DP?@NED BY W
\7[ //11 T~ TJ' e m—
\_/ 1

{

CNCL - 200

6129635



April 11, 2019 -2-

Staff Report
Origin

The City of Richmond is receiving an increasing number of complaints and is devoting
significant resources to manage nuisance properties left unattended and vacant. Enforcement
staff currently rely on the Fire Protection and Life Safety Bylaw No. 8306 (“Fire Bylaw”) and
the Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162 (“Unsightly Bylaw”) but have identified
several opportunities to strengthen bylaw provisions and increase penalties for non-compliance
related to nuisance properties.

Analysis

Current Enforcement Statistics

The Fire Bylaw gives fire inspectors the authority to order the owner of a vacant building to
board up or otherwise secure doors, windows and other points of entry in order to prevent fires
and unauthorized entry. Table 1 shows the number of structures that are boarded up as well as
the number of inspections undertaken by Richmond Fire Rescue (“RFR”) in order to manage
vacant properties. Many of the structures boarded up in one year, remain boarded up in the
following years and so continue to be managed by RFR staff. The numbers in table 1 represent
all files managed and some are likely to be counted in subsequent years.

Table 1 — Vacant Structures Boarded Up by RFR

Year # of Properties # of Inspections
2016 379 654
2017 423 687
2018 333 544

In addition to the work from fire inspectors, staff from Community Bylaws also regularly attend
to complaints related to unsightly properties, especially for garbage, long grass, derelict vehicles,
graftiti and discarded items. Many of these unsightly properties also contain a vacant home.
Table 2 shows the number of complaints related to unsightly premises attended by inspectors to
over the last five years.

Table 2 — Number of Complaints of Unsightly Properties

Year # of Complaints of Unsightly
Properties

2016 572

2017 559

2018 606

Strengthening Unsightly Premises Regulation

The Unsightly Bylaw regulates the appearance and maintenance of properties. It targets mostly
issues related to garbage, debris and unsightly vegetation. Pursuant to this bylaw, enforcement
officers may serve residents with an Order to Comply if the owner or occupier of the property:
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a. permits property to become unsightly (grass longer than 20 cm, or unsightly brush, trees,
weeks, or other growth); or

b. permits offending material (rubbish, noxious, offensive or unwholesome matter, filth,
discarded materials, or graffiti) to accumulate.

Following an Order to Comply owners/occupants of the property have 14 days to remove or
clear the offending material. Ifthe owner/occupants fail to remove the offending property the
City may complete the work at the owner’s expense. Any unpaid costs can be added to the
owner’s property taxes.

There are several opportunities to strengthen the enforcement powers in this bylaw and expand
the definition of what is considered unsightly to cover additional objectionable conditions. Table

3 is a summary of the proposed changes.

Table 3 — Comparison of Current and Proposed Changes to Unsightly Bylaw

Provision Current Proposed change

Time given to comply 14 days 10 days

Minimum fine on No minimum | $1,000 minimum

prosecution

Provision related to No provision | A person must not cause or permit materials to

public property accumulate on public property

Noxious weeds No definition | Add definition to bylaw to align with Provincial
Regulations

Derelict Vehicles No definition | Add definition related to vehicles not insured or not
capable of operating

Abandoned No definition | Add definition for construction material while there

Construction Materials is no actual or apparent construction occurring

Derelict Fence No definition | Add definition for fences with significant physical
decay or lack of reasonable maintenance

As shown in Table 3, it is recommended that a minimum fine is added to the bylaw in the event
that an offence of the Unsightly Bylaw is taken to Provincial Court. Taking an offence to
Provincial court is typically described as a “long form prosecution”. Long form prosecution is a
separate process from ticketing and the fine amounts for this process are set by the court. While
there is no minimum fine prescribed by the bylaw, there is a maximum which can be up to
$10,000. This report proposes setting a minimum fine amount of $1,000 for long form
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prosecutions. Setting the minimum court fine at $1,000 gives enforcement staff an avenue to
seek escalating penalties beyond tickets which range from $200 to 1,000 (maximum ticket
amount as permitted by senior government legislation).

Enforcement Provisions (Ticketing)

There are two bylaws that give the City the authority to issue tickets for bylaw violations.
Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321 (“MTI Bylaw”) and Notice of
Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122 (“BVN Bylaw”), which specify the
specific bylaw provisions that can be used to issue a ticket. The difference between tickets
issued under these two bylaws is summarized in Table 3.

There are currently only two offences related to unsightly premises and those are both contained
in the MTI Bylaw. Staff recommend that the number of violations subject to ticketing be
expanded and the fines increased, in some cases to $1,000 (the maximum allowed under
governing Provincial legislation). It is also recommended that ticketing provisions be added to
the BVN Bylaw. There are currently no ticketing provisions in this bylaw that relate to unsightly
premises. The table of offences to be added to each bylaw is shown in the bylaw amendments.

Table 3 — Comparison of Ticketing Bylaws

Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute
Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122
(C‘BVN”)

Municipal Ticket Information
Authorization Bylaw No. 7321 (“MTI”)

Ticket amount | Maximum of $1,000 Maximum of $500

Must be served to the person committing | Can be mailed or left on a car (i.e.

Serving tickets | y " tfence or acting on their behalf parking tickets)

Dlspute' Trial in Provincial Court Non-judicial adjudication without
Mechanism legal counsel.

Financial Impact

The proposed amendments to the Unsightly Bylaw will not increase costs of enforcement.
Clarifying language around what is unsightly will help property owners understand the
regulations and increased fines while ticketing provisions will give enforcement staff more
means to gain compliance in a timely manner. This is expected to make enforcement more
efficient, allowing enforcement staff to handle more files for the same cost.

Enforcement staff are instructed that compliance, and not number of tickets, is the primary goal
in bylaw enforcement. However increased ticketing provisions, along with increased fine
amounts should increase revenue by a modest amount. Any increase in revenue will be used to
offset the associated administrative and legal costs of issuing and adjudicating the tickets.
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Conclusion

The bylaw amendments proposed in this report will strengthen the City’s approach and add new
enforcement tools to resolve complaints of unsightly premises in a more timely manner while
recovering more of the associated enforcement costs.

P A A

Carli Williams, P.Eng.
Manager, Community Bylaws and Licencing
(604-276-4136)
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Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9819

The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows:

1. Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended by deleting
Sections 1.1 and 1.2 and replacing them with the following:

“1.1 Property Owner or Occupier Prohibitions
1.1.1 An owner or occupier of real property must not:
(a) allow such property to become or remain unsightly; or,

(b) cause or permit rubbish, filth, discarded materials, or noxious, offensive or
unwholesome matter or substances to collect or to accumulate on or around
such property.

1.2 Property Owner or Occupier Obligations
1.2.1 The owner or occupier of real property, or their agents, must:

(a) remove or cause to be removed from the real property, any rubbish, or
noxious, offensive or unwholesome matter or substance, or any unsightly
accumulation of rubbish, filth, discarded materials, or graffiti;

(b) clear or cause such property to be cleared of unsightly brush, trees, weeds,
or other growth;

(c) clear or cause such property to be cleared of noxious weeds; and
(d) keep grass trimmed to a height of not more than 20 centimetres.”

2. Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended by
inserting the following as new section 1.4:

“1.4  Public Property Prohibition

1.4.1 A person must not cause or permit rubbish, filth, discarded materials, or
noxious, offensive or unwholesome matter or substance to collect or to
accumulate on or around public property.”.
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Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended at Sections
2.1.1 and 2.1.2 by deleting the words and numbers “14 days” and replacing them with “10
days”.

Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended at Section
3.1 by inserting the following as new definitions in alphabetical order:

““Abandoned means an accumulation of construction materials, including but not
Construction limited to lumber, siding, insulation, windows, doors, and piping,
Materials” where there is no apparent or actual construction activity occurring

on or in the real property.

“Derelict Fence” means any fence characterized by significant holes, breaks, rot,
crumbling, crackling or peeling finish, or rust or any other condition
indicating physical decay, neglect, or lack of reasonable
maintenance;

“Derelict Vehicle” means any vehicle which:

(a) is not validly insured and/or licenced, if such vehicle would be
required to be insured, and/or licenced with current validation, to
be operated on public roads and/or waterways; or

(b) is not capable of being moved by its own motive power or is
missing parts, including, but not limited to engines, doors, hood,
trunk, tires, lights, or windows,

but excludes one such vehicle on a piece of real property, which
vehicle may only be parked or stored on hard surfacing on such

property

For the purposes of this definition, a vehicle that is not validly
insured and/or licensed, as described above, shall be deemed to be
not capable of operating under its own motive power unless the
owner or occupier of the real property on which it is located is able to
demonstrate to the Manager of Community Bylaws or a Bylaw
Enforcement Officer that the vehicle is capable of operating under
its own motive power.

“Discarded means discarded materials and substances, including but not limited

Materials” to abandoned construction materials, deteriorated lumber,
furniture (not specifically designed for outdoor use), furniture parts,
bedding, mattresses, sinks, cabinets, household fixtures, small
or large appliances (including but not limited to stoves,
refrigerators, and freezers), old newspapers, discarded bottles,
vehicle parts, tires, wire, rope, abandoned, broken or neglected
equipment, and the scattered remains of any such items.
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“Noxious Weed”

“Public Property”

“Unsightly”

“Vehicle”

“Waste”

Page 3

means a weed designated to be a noxious weed under the Weed
Control Regulation BC. Reg. 66/85, as may be amended or replaced
from time to time, and includes the seeds of the noxious weed.

means any real property owned or lease by the City and ordinarily
accessible to the public, including but not limited to parks, roads,
boulevards, sidewalks, and dikes.

means, in addition to its common dictionary meaning and regardless
of the condition of other properties in the neighbourhood, real
property having any one or more of the following characteristics:

(a) the accumulation of junk, filth, litter, brush, discarded
materials, refuse, rubbish, garbage, graffiti, and/or derelict
vehicles;

(b) derelict fence(s);

(c) landscaping that is dead, characterized by uncontrolled
growth or significant lack of maintenance, or is significantly
damaged;

(d) uncontrolled growth of noxious weeds;

(e) the condition or appearance of a structure, building, or of
real property, or parts thereof, that is characterized by
graffiti, holes, breaks, rot, crumbling, cracking, peeling,
rusting, or any other evidence of physical decay or neglect
or excessive use, or excessive lack of maintenance; or

@ any other similar conditions of disrepair, dilapidation, and
deterioration.

means any vehicle propelled otherwise than by muscle power and
includes an automobile, truck or other motor vehicle, including a
farm implement or equipment, motor home, motorized construction
equipment, motorcycle, snowmobile, boat, recreational vehicle,
aeroplane, trailer, and any other device which is capable of being
driven or drawn.

means decaying or non-decaying solid and semi-solid wastes,
including but not limited to both combustible and non-combustible
wastes, such as paper, trash, refuse, cardboard, waste material,
cans, wood, glass, broken glass, crates, rags, barrels, boxes, plastic
containers, scrap wire, scrap iron, tin and other metal, scrap paving
material, discarded appliances, dead animals, yard clippings, dry
vegetation, weeds, dead trees, accumulated branches, overgrown
vegetation and trees which may harbor insect or rodent infestations
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Bylaw 9819 Page 4

5.

8.

FIRST READING
SECOND READING
THIRD READING

ADOPTED

or may become a fire hazard, and piles of earth mixed with any of
the above.”.

Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended at section
3.1 by deleting the definition of Rubbish and replacing it with the following:

““Rubbish” includes, but is not limited to, waste, any derelict fence, and any derelict
vehicle.”.

Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended by deleing
the last paragraph from Section 4.1 and replacing it with the following:

commits an offence and upon conviction shall be liable to a fine of not less than one
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) and not more than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00), in
addition to the costs of the prosecution, and where the offence is a continuing one, each day
that the offence is continued shall constitute a separate offence.

Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended, is further amended by
inserting the following as new section 4.2:

“4.2(a) A violation of any of the provisions identified in this bylaw shall result in liability

for penalties and late payment amounts established in Schedule A of the Notice of

Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122, as amended and replaced
from time to time; and

(b) A violation of any of the provisions identified in this bylaw shall be subject to the
procedures, restrictions, limits, obligations and rights established in the Notice of
Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122, as amended and replaced

from time to time, in accordance with the Local Government Bylaw Notice
Enforcement Act, SBC 2003, c. 60, as amended and replaced from time to time.”.

This Bylaw is cited as “Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, Amendment
Bylaw No. 9819”.

CITY OF
RICHMOND

APPROVED
for content by

originating
javt

APPROVED
for legality
by Solicitor

-

5717742

MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER
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City of Richmond Bylaw 9820

Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9820

The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows:

1. Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321, as amended, is further
amended by deleting schedule B14 and replacing it with Schedule A attached hereto.

2. This Bylaw is cited as “Municipal Ticket Information Authorization Bylaw No. 7321,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9820”.

FIRST READING RIGHMOND
APPROVED
SECOND READING for content by

originating
dept,
THIRD READING %

APPROVED
for legality

ADOPTED by Sol'cit;r

MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER
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Schedule A to Bylaw 9820

SCHEDULE B 14

UNSIGHTLY PREMISES REGULATION BYLAW NO. 7162

Column 1

Offence

Allow property to become or remain unsightly

Cause or permit rubbish, filth, discarded materials, or noxious,
offensive or unwholesome matter or substance to collect or to
accumulate on or around owner’s property

Failure to remove or cause to be removed from the real property, any
rubbish, or noxious, offensive or unwholesome matter or substance,
or any unsightly accumulation of rubbish, filth, discarded materials
or graffiti

Failure to clear or cause such property to be cleared of unsightly
brush, trees, weeds or other growth

Failure to clear or cause such property to be cleared of noxious
weeds

Failure to keep grass trimmed to a height of not more than 20
centimetres

Placing graffiti on walls, fences or elsewhere on or adjacent to a
public place

Cause or permit rubbish, filth, discarded materials, or noxious,
offensive or unwholesome matter or substance to collect or to
accumulate on or around public property

Failure to meet the conditions and/or deadlines specified in an Order
to Comply

CNCL - 210
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Column 2

Bylaw
Section

1.1.1 (a)

1.1.1(b)

1.2.1(a)

1.2.1(b)

1.2.1(c)

1.2.1(d)

1.3.1

1.4.1

2.1

Page 2

Column 3

Fine

$1,000

$1,000

$1,000

$500

$500

$500

$1,000

$1,000

$1,000



5 City of
W Richmond Bylaw 9821

Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122,
Amendment Bylaw No. 9821

The Council of the City of Richmond enacts as follows:

1. Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122, as amended, is further
amended at Part One — Application by adding the following to section 1.1 in alphabetical
order:

“Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162, as amended;”

2. Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122, as amended, is further
amended by adding the content of the table in Schedule A attached to and forming part of
this bylaw as “Schedule - Unsightly Premises Regulation Bylaw No. 7162” to Schedule A
of Bylaw No. 8122.

3. This Bylaw is cited as “Notice of Bylaw Violation Dispute Adjudication Bylaw No. 8122,
Amendment Bylaw No. 98217,

FIRST READING CITY OF
RICHMOND
SECOND READING for cotent by
originating
Divigion
THIRD READING /é Y
ADOPTED APPROVED
for legality
by Solicitor

MAYOR CORPORATE OFFICER
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#‘a. Clty Of

Report to Committee

Richmond
To: General Purposes Committee
From: Kim Somerville

Manager, Community Social Development

Date: April 12, 2019

File:  08-4057-11-01/2019-
Vol 01

Re: Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029

Staff Recommendation

1. That the Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029, as outlined in Attachment 1
of the staff report titled “Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029”, dated
April 12,2019, be approved for the purpose of seeking public feedback on the Draft

Strategy; and

2. That the final Richmond Homelessness Strategy, including a summary of public feedback
received, be reported back to General Purposes Committee.

im Somerville —

Manager, Community Social Development

(604-247-4671)

Att. 1

REPORT CONCURRENCE
ROUTED TO: CONCURRENCE | CONCURRENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER
Parks

Recreation Services

Community Bylaws

RCMP

Corporate Communications & Marketing
Community Safety Admin

SCECCTY

G&) PAAN

REVIEWED BY STAFF REPORT /
AGENDA REVIEW SUBCOMMITTEE

INITIALS:
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April 12,2019 -2-

Staff Report
Origin

The purpose of this report is to present the draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029
and to request that the recommended approach and proposed actions be approved for the purpose
of seeking public feedback.

This report supports the following actions defined in the Social Development Strategy 2013—
2022:

e Action 1.5: Update the Homelessness Strategy, in collaboration with other community
partners, examining housing and support service needs and options for people who are
homeless or at risk of homelessness in Richmond; and

e Action 1.9: Continue participation in local and regional homelessness initiatives.

The report also aligns with the following strategic directions defined in the Affordable Housing
Strategy 2017-2027:

e Strategic Direction 2: Maximize use of City resources and financial tools,
o Strategic Direction 4. Facilitate and strengthen partnership opportunities; and
e Strategic Direction 5: Increase advocacy, awareness and education roles.

Analysis

In 2002, Richmond City Council adopted Richmond’s first Homelessness Strategy, It’s My City
Too. Guided by this strategy, the City and its partners achieved a number of successes, including:

e The development of Storeys, a 129-unit affordable housing development and social
service hub for families and individuals at risk of homelessness;

e The operation of new homeless-serving programs, including the St. Alban’s shower
program and the resource centre space operated by Turning Point Recovery Society;

e The development of temporary modular supportive housing, a 40-unit supportive housing
building for individuals experiencing homelessness; and

e Securing a site for an expanded emergency shelter, which will open in summer 2019.

Homelessness Trends

Despite the achievements described above, homelessness remains a critical concern for many
individuals and families in Richmond. For example, non-profit organizations estimate that over
120 individuals are currently experiencing homelessness in Richmond, with many other low-
income households at risk of eviction, housing instability or homelessness.
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Every three years, Metro Vancouver publishes more detailed statistics regarding homelessness in
the region. Based on this information, key demographic trends among individuals experiencing
homelessness in Richmond include the following:

In 2017, approximately 70% of individuals experiencing homelessness in Richmond were
men, although local service providers have suggested that the incidence of homelessness
among women is increasing;

In 2017, 24% of all individuals experiencing homelessness were seniors (age 55 and
over); and

In 2018, 18 individuals experiencing homelessness in Richmond were children and youth
(aged 13 to 24).

Project Process

Within this context, the City embarked on a process to update the 2002 Homelessness Strategy.
The draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 was developed based on:

Analysis of statistics related to homelessness in Richmond,

Research regarding best practices and emerging approaches for meeting the needs of
individuals experiencing homelessness; and

Stakeholder engagement comprised of 6 meetings with the Steering Committee, a
workshop with a broad range of community services providers and people with lived
experience, a workshop with the City’s Joint Operations Team, and interviews with key
stakeholders, including BC Housing, Chimo Community Services, Metro Vancouver, and
Turning Point Recovery Society.

Steering Committee

A Steering Committee was formed by the City to provide input into updating the City’s
Homelessness Strategy. The Steering Committee was fundamental in shaping the general
direction of the Strategy, specifically providing information on current needs in the community,
drafting the vision statement, and providing feedback on the draft actions.

Steering Committee membership was comprised of representatives from the following
organizations:

6153845

Atira Women’s Resource Society

BC Housing

Chimo Community Services

Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction
Richmond RCMP

Richmond Addiction Services Society (RASS)
Richmond Poverty Response Committee

The Salvation Army
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e Turning Point Recovery Society
e Vancouver Coastal Health

Alignment with Other City Policies

As guided by the Official Community Plan and the Social Development Strategy, the City of
Richmond is committed to establishing an equitable and inclusive community, and addressing
the diverse housing needs of residents. The Richmond Homelessness Strategy builds on this
direction, and complements the City’s Affordable Housing Strategy, by outlining a set of actions
designed to meet the housing and support needs of individuals experiencing homelessness.

The Homelessness Strategy defines various models that are appropriate for individuals with more
complex needs due to a history of homelessness, physical or mental health challenges,
addictions, traumatic events and personal crises, and poverty. The Strategy also confirms the
City’s role as a leader and partner within the housing sector, and strengthens the City’s
involvement in advocacy and education and awareness initiatives.

Engagement and Research Themes

Based on input from the Steering Committee and other local stakeholders, statistical research,
and a review of best practices, the following common themes emerged in developing the Draft
Strategy:

o Alignment with Provincial and Federal Programs — Both the provincial and federal
governments have recently announced new homelessness programs and strategies. The
Richmond Homelessness Strategy is designed to align with the priorities and funding
parameters of these initiatives.

e Flexibility and Adaptability — Experiences of homelessness are unique and varied. For
example, individuals who have experienced longer periods of homelessness may require
more intensive and longer term support services when transitioning out of homelessness.
Other specific populations, including seniors, youth and the LGBTQ2s community, may
also benefit from housing and supports designed to meet their needs. Therefore, solutions
and actions need to be individualized and adaptable to changing needs over time.

e Availability of Appropriate Housing Options — Stakeholders commented that a supply of
safe, affordable and appropriate housing is a prerequisite for transitioning individuals out
of homelessness. The Homelessness Strategy is informed by best practices in this topic
area, including supportive housing developments, which provide both housing units and
on-site supports for individuals who have experienced longer term homelessness.

e City Leadership Role — Homelessness is a complex issue and cannot be solved by any
single organization. Accordingly, the Richmond Homelessness Strategy is informed by
the principles of collaboration, partnership-building and shared funding responsibility
between all levels of government. Within this context, the City is committed to playing a
proactive leadership role in coordinating action with a range of local stakeholders.
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Collaboration and Coordination — Stakeholders emphasized the need for effective
collaboration and coordination between a variety of local organizations to enable efficient
program delivery and decision making. The Strategy introduces several actions to
enhance these activities, including a new Leadership Table.

Importance of Prevention — Stakeholders emphasized the need to enhance homelessness
prevention services in Richmond to stop homelessness before it starts. Stakeholders also
emphasized the need to collaborate between sectors—for example, health care, housing,
and emergency services—to ensure all stakeholders are collaborating to prevent
homelessness.

Information and Awareness — A key engagement theme was the need for the City to play
a proactive role in addressing myths and misconceptions about homelessness.
Disseminating information on an ongoing basis and developing an information and
awareness campaign were suggested as effective tools in educating Richmond residents
about homelessness.

Adequate Service Provision — Stakeholders commented that there is a need to enhance
existing services for individuals experiencing homelessness. Specific ideas included
securing a space for a permanent drop-in centre, exploring options to create warming
centres during the winter months, and expanding current meal and shower programs.

Dedicated City Resources — Stakeholders suggested that there is a need for dedicated City
staff resources to support the implementation of the Homelessness Strategy. Additional
staff resources may also be required at City facilities, including recreation centres, to
adequately support the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness.

Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy

The Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019—2029 is an action-oriented framework intended to
guide City and stakeholder involvement in homelessness initiatives over the next 10 years. The
Strategy synthesizes information on best practices, local trends and ideas from local stakeholders
to identify a set of specific initiatives that will make a difference in the lives of Richmond
residents experiencing homelessness. To guide the collaborative work of all stakeholders, the
Strategy defines the following vision statement:

By 2029, homelessness in Richmond will be rare, brief and non-recurring.

To assist stakeholders in achieving this vision, the Strategy emphasizes five strategic directions:

NS
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Prevent pathways into homelessness;

Support residents who are experiencing homelessness;

Provide pathways out of homelessness;

Foster collaboration and capacity-building among community partners; and
Communicate, research and monitor homelessness.
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Under the strategic directions, 26 recommended actions are defined and will be implemented
between 2019 and 2029. A portion of these actions are highlighted as short-term priorities (1-3
years), while others are identified as medium-term (4—6 years) or long-term (7—10 years). While
all 26 actions are important to meeting the needs of Richmond residents, the following actions
have been identified as high priority:

e Continue to create affordable housing rental options across the housing continuum,;

e Secure permanent space and sustainable operating funding for an enhanced drop-in
program for individuals experiencing or at risk of homelessness;

e Establish a coordinated access and referral system to connect individuals with appropriate
housing options;

e Secure funding and a permanent site for supportive housing in Richmond;

e Dedicate appropriate City staff resources to homelessness service coordination at the City
of Richmond;

e Develop a Homelessness Leadership Table for collaboration among agencies working to
prevent or address homelessness; and

e Raise awareness and educate the community about the factors contributing to
homelessness and the benefits of affordable housing and supportive services.

For a comprehensive list of the 26 recommended actions, see Attachment 1.

Public Engagement Process

In May and June 2019, staff propose conducting various public engagement activities, including
a survey on Let’s Talk Richmond, a public open house, and meetings with specific organizations,
to seek feedback on the draft strategic framework. The input received through these activities
will be used to inform the final revisions to the Strategy document. The proposed activities are
listed in Table 1.

Table 1: Proposed Public Engagement Activities

Activity Timing Stakeholders Location Format
Stakeholder | Late May — | Key stakeholders, including City Hall | Small focus groups
Meetings early June | senior levels of government and/or

and organizations from the other City
non-profit and private sectors | facilities
Let’s Talk May 27 — | People who live, work, and/or | Online Online:
Richmond June 7 participate in the community LetsTalkRichmond.ca
website in Richmond
Open House | June 5, Public and key stakeholders Richmond | Open house format
Meeting 4:00 — 8:00 Cultural with poster boards and
p.m. Centre comment cards. Staff
will be present to
answer any questions.

6153845
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Following the engagement activities, staff will compile the data received from stakeholders and
refine the Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy. The final Richmond Homelessness Strategy
2019-2029, including results of the public engagement process, will be presented to City
Council by the fourth quarter of 2019.

Financial Impact
None.
Conclusion

Guided by the Richmond Homelessness Strategy, the City is committed to playing a proactive
leadership role to make homelessness in Richmond rare, brief and non-recurring. However,
achieving this vision requires dedicated, sustainable sources of funding from all levels of
government, particularly the provincial and federal governments. With involvement from all
sectors—public, non-profit and the private sector—all Richmond residents experiencing
homelessness can receive the supports and housing options necessary to achieve stability in their
lives.

(ody S

Cody Spencer
Program Manager, Affordable Housing
(604-247-4916)

Att. 1: Draft Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The City of Richmond Homelessness Strategy is a bold, action-oriented strategy
intended to guide collaborative work within the homeless-serving system in
Richmond over the next ten years. The Homelessness Strategy is the result of a
multi-phased process that included analysis of statistics related to homelessness

in Richmond, best practice research, steering committee meetings, and public
engagement with a range of residents, including individuals with lived experience.

There are many factors that may lead someone to experience homelessness,
including lack of income, lack of access to affordable housing options and
medical services, traumatic events, addiction issues, physical health problems, or
mental health concerns. As of 2019, homelessness remains a critical issue across
Metro Vancouver and in Richmond. The 2017 Metro Vancouver Homelessness
Count estimates that a minimum of 70 individuals experience homelessness

in Richmond, although non-profit service providers in Richmond estimate this
number to be much higher, noting that collectively they serve over 120 clients
experiencing homelessness.

Building on several recent successes, including the development of Storeys and
the new Emergency Shelter, the Strategy defines a new vision statement, five
strategic directions, and a set of specific recommended actions. Based on input
from a steering committee for the project, the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029
defines the following vision statement:

"By 2029, homelessness in Richmond will be rare, brief and non-recurring.

Richmond is an inclusive community that works in collaboration to provide a
continuum of housing and support services.”

To achieve this vision, the Strategy provides five strategic directions:
1. Prevent pathways into homelessness;
2. Support residents who are experiencing homelessness;
3. Provide pathways out of homelessness;
4

Foster collaboration and capacity-building among community partners;
and

5. Communicate, research and monitor homelessness.

The City is committed to playing a proactive leadership role to make
homelessness in Richmond rare, brief and non-recurring. However, achieving
this vision requires dedicated, sustainable sources of funding from all levels
of government, particularly the provincial and federal governments. With
involvement from all sectors—public, non-profit, and the private sector—all
Richmond residents experiencing homelessness can receive the supports and
housing options necessary to achieve stability in their lives.
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1. INTRODUCTION -~ HH

The Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 is an action-oriented | |
framework intended to guide City and stakeholder involvement in homelessness 3 ' |
initiatives over the next 10 years. The Strategy was developed based on:

Analysis of statistics related to homelessness in Richmond;

Research regarding best practices and emerging approaches for meeting
the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness; and

Stakeholder engagement including, stakeholder meetings, facilitated
meetings with the Steering Committee and a workshop with a broad
range of community services providers and people with lived experience.

There are many factors that may lead someone to experience homelessness.
These can include lack of adequate income, access to affordable housing options
and medical services, experiences of discrimination, traumatic events and
personal crisis, addiction issues, physical health problems, disability or mental
health concerns. Homelessness is a difficult experience and causes physical and
mental suffering. It is not something that most people would want to experience
for themselves or their loved ones.

Homelessness is a complex issue and cannot be solved in isolation. Accordingly,
the recommended actions presented in this strategy are informed by

the principles of collaboration, partnership-building, and shared funding
responsibility. Many stakeholders, including all levels of government, non-profit
housing and service providers, community organizations and the private sector,
have important roles to play in addressing the needs of Richmond residents
experiencing homelessness.

The Need for a New Strategy

In 2002, Richmond City Council adopted Richmond's first Homelessness Strategy,
It's My City Too. Guided by this strategy, the City and its partners achieved a
number of successes, including:

® The development of Storeys, a 129-unit affordable housing development
and social service hub for families and individuals at risk of homelessness;

B The creation of a new 30 bed emergency shelter;

B The operation of new homeless-serving programs, including the St.
Alban’s shower program and the resource centre space operated by
Turning Point Recovery Society; and

The development of temporary modular supportive housing, a 40-unit
supportive housing building for individuals experiencing homelessness.

Despite these and other achievements, homelessness and housing instability
remain critical concerns for many individuals and families in Richmond. In 2018,
the City of Richmond embarked on a process to update the 2002 Homelessness
Strategy. The City of Richmond remains committed to working proactively and
through partnerships to meet the housing and support service needs of all
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Richmond residents, including those at risk or experiencing homelessness. Since
2002, a new body of knowledge has developed regarding tools that enable
individuals experiencing homelessness to achieve stability in their lives. The
actions set out in the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 will help to ensure that
up-to-date and flexible approaches are used in Richmond.

Steering Committee and Guiding Principles

A Steering Committee was formed by the City to provide input into the
development of the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029. Membership was
comprised of representatives from the following organizations:

Atira Women's Resource Society

BC Housing
® Chimo Community Services

Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction (MSDPR)
® Richmond RCMP

Richmond Addiction Services Society (RASS)
® Richmond Poverty Response Committee (PRC)

The Salvation Army

Turning Point Recovery Society

Vancouver Coastal Health Richmond (VCH)

Early in the planning process, the Steering Committee defined the following guiding
principles to direct the development of the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029:

Align with and complement existing City strategies, plans and policies
that address and affect housing and homelessness in Richmond;

Develop a strong network of supportive services for individuals
experiencing homelessness in Richmond;

Reference and use the evidence-based Housing First model (a recovery-
oriented approach that centers on moving individuals experiencing
homelessness into independent and permanent housing, then providing
additional supports and services as needed);

Focus on partnerships and collaboration among service and housing
providers to meet the diverse needs of individuals experiencing or at-risk
of homelessness; and,

B Increase awareness and education around the need for and benefits of
supporting vulnerable residents.

Alignment with Other City Policies

The Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 is an action oriented framework
that aligns with and is supported by a range of other City of Richmond plans and
strategies. Key examples of supporting projects include the following:
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Richmond 2041 Official Community Plan (OCP): The OCP cites the City's
commitment to ensuring an appropriate mix of housing options is available for
Richmond’s diverse population through the following actions:

B Encourage a variety of housing types, mixes and densities to
accommodate the diverse needs of residents;

W Collaborate with other levels of government, external agencies and
community partners to secure appropriate funding, housing and services
for people experiencing homelessness, with the aim of reducing and
ultimately eliminating homelessness; and
Facilitate the establishment of an equitable, inclusive community,
whereby City plans, policies, services and practices respect the diverse
needs of all segments of the population.

Richmond Social Development Strategy (Building our Social Future):
The following Social Development Strategy actions are achieved through the
development of the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029:

Update the Homelessness Strategy, in collaboration with other
community partners, examining housing and support service needs
and options for people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in
Richmond; and

B Continue participation in local and regional homelessness initiatives.

City of Richmond Affordable Housing Strategy 2017-2027: The Richmond
Homelessness Strategy builds on the following strategic directions provided in the
Affordable Housing Strategy:

Use the City's regulatory tools to encourage a diverse mix of housing
types;
Maximize use of City resources and financial tools;

® Build capacity with non-profit housing and service providers;
Facilitate and strengthen partnership opportunities; and

B Increase advocacy, awareness and education roles.

City of Richmond Community Wellness Strategy 2018-2023: The Wellness
Strategy commits the City to promoting community wellness, including mental
health. Specifically, the City commits to:

B Foster healthy, active and involved lifestyles for all Richmond residents
with an emphasis on physical activity, healthy eating and mental
wellness; and
Enhance physical and social connectedness within and among
neighbourhoods and communities.
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2. BACKGROUND

Defining Homelessness

The Canadian Observatory on Homelessness has established the following
Canadian definition of homelessness:

Homelessness describes the situation of an individual, family or
community without stable, safe, permanent, appropriate housing, or
the immediate prospect, means and ability of acquiring it.

It is the result of a system of societal barriers, a lack of affordable

and appropriate housing, the individual/household’s financial, mental
cognitive, behavioural or physical challenges, and/or racism and
discrimination. Most people do not choose to be homeless, and the
experience is generally negative, unpleasant, unhealthy, unsafe, stressful
and distressing.'

Living Conditions
The term “homelessness” refers to a wide range of physical living conditions for
many different groups of people, and includes those who are living outdoors
(unsheltered) and those who have some form of temporary and typically
precarious shelter. The Canadian Observatory on Homelessness provides four
categories of homelessness:
m Unsheltered or absolutely homeless, referring to people living on the
streets, parks or in other places not intended for human habitation;
B Emergency sheltered, referring to people staying in emergency shelters;
® Provisionally accommodated, referring to people whose accommodation
is temporary or lacking in security of tenure (i.e. staying with friend or
family but without permanent and secure housing); and
B At risk of homelessness, referring to people who are not homeless, but
whose economic or housing situation is precarious or does not meet
public health and safety standards.

Length of Experience
People experiencing homelessness are also often differentiated by their length of
experience:
® Chronic homelessness describes the experience of people who are
homeless for a year or longer;
m Episodic homelessness refers to people who move in and out of
homelessness; and

® Transitional homelessness refers to people who have experienced
homelessness for approximately one month or less.

! Canadian Observatory on Homelessness. (2012.) Canadian Definition of Homelessness. Toronto: Canadian
Observatory on Homelessness Press. homelesshub.ca/homelessdefinition
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People who have experienced chronic or episodic homelessness may require

more intensive and longer term support services when transitioning out of =
homelessness due to greater chances of having physical or mental health issues, |
addictions, or involvement with the justice system. 1

Stakeholder Roles

Homelessness is often the product of intersecting issues such as lack of housing,
mental wellness, poverty, and discrimination—making every person’s experience
of homelessness unique. As a result, solutions to homelessness require collective
action from many partners, and dedicated and sustained sources of funding from
the provincial and federal governments.

The Strategy recognizes the importance of partnerships in developing solutions
to homelessness and identifies a number of key partners including the City,
non-profit housing and service providers, community organizations, the faith
community, senior levels of governments, and other key stakeholders.

Government of Canada

Since 2006, the federal government has invested in a range of homelessness
prevention and reduction programs through the Homelessness Partnering
Strategy. In June 2018, the federal government announced plans to launch
Reaching Home, a replacement for the Homelessness Partnering Strategy.

The new program confirms the federal government's commitment to deliver
funding for Housing First programs. Reaching Home also prioritizes data-driven
homelessness plans, as well as prevention-based outcomes and programs.

Province of British Columbia

BC Housing is the provincial crown corporation responsible for delivering funding
and programs related to homelessness. BC Housing delivers funding to a variety
of services, including expanding and supporting the operation of shelters,
delivering homelessness prevention funding, outreach supports and services, and
funding for supportive housing projects for individuals at-risk or experiencing
homelessness.

In 2018, BC Housing developed a Rapid Response to Homelessness program. This
program included an investment of $291 million to build over 2,000 modular
supportive housing units across the province for people who are experiencing
homelessness and wish to transition from the shelter system. As part of this
program, BC Housing began implementing the Coordinated Access and
Assessment initiative in Metro Vancouver. This initiative matches individuals with
complex needs to appropriate housing and support services.

Metro Vancouver

Metro Vancouver is the community entity tasked with administering federal
funding delivered through the Homelessness Partnering Strategy in the Metro
Vancouver region. This funding is provided to community-based programs that
are aimed at preventing and reducing local homelessness.
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Municipal Role

The City of Richmond is committed to working in partnership with senior levels of
government and the private and non-profit sectors, to create the right mix of housing
and supportive services for a diverse population, including residents experiencing
or at risk of homelessness. Recognizing that senior levels of government have the
primary responsibility of providing funding for homeless prevention programs,
services and affordable housing, the City is committed to remaining a local leader
that works with community organizations to ensure that homelessness in Richmond
is rare, brief and non-recurring. Specifically, these roles include:
Advocate: The City works with community organizations to advocate
to senior levels of government for funding and programs that work to
support a reduction in homelessness.
Analyst: The City monitors local data and best practice research
regarding homelessness to update its policies and plans to reflect current
and emerging trends.
Communicator: The City uses best practice research to educate and
promote the benefits of an inclusive and mixed income community and
the necessity to create a compassionate, non-judgemental response to
experiences of homelessness.
Facilitator: The City helps build the capacity of non-profit housing and
service providers by facilitating collaboration.
® Partner: The City collaborates and partners with senior levels of
government and the private and non-profit sectors to develop a mix of
affordable housing options.
Planner: The City gathers information, research and feedback on
community needs regarding residents at risk of or experiencing
homelessness in order to create policy and implement actions that
support housing and homelessness focused services in Richmond.

Non-Profit and Social Service Organizations

Non-profit organizations play a critical role in meeting the needs of residents
experiencing homelessness. These organizations deliver critical shelter and
supportive services to clients to help promote independence, success in achieving
housing stability and full participation in their community. Outreach and drop-in
programming support clients by developing individualized plans to help them
work on their own unique barriers. Services include:

m Referrals to government programs, healthcare and mental health services;
Supportive programming including life and employment training skills;
Meal delivery;

Provision of affordable housing units;
Access to hot showers and laundry;
Social connection; and
® Assistance in finding appropriate market or affordable housing units.

In addition to these important services, the non-profit sector continues to
advocate on behalf of vulnerable residents for additional resources.
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3. NEEDS ANALYSIS

Homelessness in Richmond

Housing affordability and homelessness continue to be critical issues both
regionally and at the local level. The following needs analysis helps to identify
current and emerging trends based on an analysis of available data and
gualitative information provided by local stakeholders.

It is important to note that it is difficult to characterize people experiencing
homelessness. For example, many people become temporarily or episodically
homeless over the course of a year and are not typically captured in 24-hour
regional homelessness counts. In addition, many individuals may be experiencing
“hidden homelessness,” and are staying with friends or family members,
however do not have a permanent or secure home. The statistics summarized
below are intended to provide a summary of general trends, however they

are not a complete assessment of individuals experiencing homelessness in
Richmond.

Who is experiencing homelessness in Richmond?

The Metro Vancouver Homeless Count has been conducted regionally every
three years since 2002. The 2017 Metro Vancouver Homeless Count found 70
individuals experiencing homelessness; this is an 84% increase in the number of
individuals counted in 2014. These numbers are largely consistent with trends
seen across the Metro Vancouver region, although the Richmond count has seen
greater variation over time, as depicted in Figure 1.

Figure 1: Homeless Individuals Surveyed for Richmond and Metro
Vancouver (2005-2017)
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Of the 70 homeless individuals identified by the Richmond count in 2017, 44
individuals were sheltered and 29 individuals were unsheltered. Four of those
counted were youth.

Figure 2: Homeless Respondents by Sheltered/Unsheltered Status for
Richmond (2017)
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Consistent with prior Homeless Counts and regional trends, men represented a
substantially higher proportion of individuals counted. This imbalance may be
partially due to the “hidden homelessness effect,” whereby women are more
likely to find temporary and insecure lodging with friends and family instead of
sleeping outdoors while experiencing homelessness.

Figure 3: Percentage of Homeless Respondents by Gender for Richmond
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In the 2017 Metro Vancouver Homeless Count, 35 Richmond individuals
identified with one or more health concerns. As depicted in Figure 4, a
substantial proportion of individuals were dealing with multiple health concerns.

Figure 4: Health Concerns of Homeless Respondents for Richmond (2017)
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In the 2017 count, 17 of the 70 individuals surveyed were aged 55 and over, two
of which were 65 and over. Five individuals were under 15 in the 2017 count;
however, in 2018, Metro Vancouver reported a total of 18 children and youth
(age 24 and younger) experiencing homelessness in Richmond.

Figure 5: Homeless Respondents by Age for Richmond (2017)
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Despite the data that the Metro Vancouver Homelessness Count provides, it

is recognized that the 24-hour survey is an underestimation since all homeless
persons cannot be located in one day. Undercounting is also due to the number
of people experiencing hidden homelessness and therefore not captured by the
survey and the number of people who are experiencing homelessness but decline
to participate in the survey.

Who is at risk of homelessness in Richmond?

Overrepresentation of Low-income Households

The Low-Income Measure after Tax (LIM-AT)? provides municipalities with an
indicator of the number of households that may be struggling to find housing.
According to this measure, Statistics Canada estimates that 22% of Richmond
residents were considered low-income in 2016. The percentage of Richmond
residents is significantly greater than the regional (16.5%) and provincial (15.5%)
averages (2016 Census). However, these estimates may be inflated due to
incomplete income data for Richmond residents.

Figure 6: Low Income Measures for Richmond, Metro Vancouver, British
Columbia and Canada (2016)
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Increasing Shelter Costs and Persistently Low Vacancy Rates

Similar to Metro Vancouver, shelter costs have increased significantly in Richmond
since 1990. Average rents for purpose built rental units have increased 80% from
1990 to 2017. In 2018, market rental vacancy rates were 0.7 %. In comparison,
the average vacancy for purpose-built apartments in Canada’s 35 major urban
centres was 2.2%. Richmond's lower than average vacancy rates are indicative

of a constrained rental market adding pressure for higher rents and making it
increasingly difficult for renters to find adequate housing. Low vacancy rates also
increase competition among renters, which can lead to landlords discriminating
against people who experience barriers to housing.

2 This measurement is a fixed percentage (50%) of median adjusted after-tax income of households observed at
the person level, where “adjusted” indicates that a household's needs are taken into account. Adjustment for
household sizes reflects the fact that a household's needs increase as the number of members increases, although
not necessarily by the same proportion per additional member. For example, if a household of 4 persons has
an after tax income of less than $38,920 all members of the household are considered low-income (Statistics
Canada, 2010).
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Figure 7: Average Primary Rental Market Rents by Bedroom Type for
Richmond (1990-2017)
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Figure 8: Primary Rental Market Vacancy Rates for Richmond (1990-2017)
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Residents Living in Unsuitable Housing

Richmond has a high proportion of households living in unsuitable housing

and experiencing affordability challenges. According to the 2016 Census, 8%

of Richmond households were living in unsuitable housing that has too few
bedrooms for the size and make-up of the resident household. This is greater
than the regional (7.3%) and provincial (5.3%) averages. According to the
Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation, households should not spend
more than 30% of their before tax income on shelter costs. In 2016, 32% of
Richmond owner households and 47% of renter households spent greater than
30% of their before tax income on shelter costs, signalling that these households
may be facing housing affordability challenges.
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Figure 9: Housing Indicators for Richmond, Metro Vancouver,

and BC (2016)
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Growing Number of Richmond Households Waiting for Subsidized Housing
BC Housing provides non-market, subsidized housing throughout the

province, including rent-geared-to-income for households under specific

income thresholds. The waitlist (BC Housing Registry) for this type of housing

in Richmond has increased 58% from 2009 (429 applications) to 2017 (680
applications), with a waiting time of five to seven years. This list is an important
indicator of need of households who may be struggling with housing affordability
and may be at risk of homelessness. Of note is the number of applicants on the
waitlist that are seniors and applicants with disabilities that require affordable
housing with wheelchair access. BC Housing currently administers the waitlist.

Figure 10: BC Housing Waitlist for Richmond (2009-2017)
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What is the Local Understanding of Homelessness in Richmond?

Local non-profit organizations maintain that there are limitations to the data
in providing a complete understanding of homelessness within Richmond.
These organizations maintain that there are over 120 residents experiencing
homelessness in Richmond at any given time. Local trends that non-profit
organizations witness include:

B There are an increasing number of women and youth experiencing
homelessness who access services from local non-profit organizations.
However, due to the methodology of the Metro Vancouver Homelessness
Count, they are underrepresented;

® The Metro Vancouver Homelessness Count data does not accurately
reflect the magnitude of seniors who are experiencing homelessness and
accessing local services;

= Immigrant populations experiencing hidden homelessness are accessing
services, however this population was not captured in the Metro
Vancouver Homelessness Count; and

W Residents experiencing chronic homelessness have multiple barriers
including addiction or mental health challenges, and require more
services and support.

Local non-profit organizations continue to work together to provide services and
adapt to the changing needs of Richmond residents experiencing homelessness.

Homelessness Services Gaps and Needs

The homeless-serving sector in Richmond is comprised of a variety of dedicated
non-profit organizations, advocates, and government partners that have

the expertise to meet the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness.
Accordingly, a key component of the Homelessness Strategy update process was
identifying and building on the existing strengths and capacity of community
partners. Despite the strengths existing in the community, a number of specific
program and policy gaps were identified. This section evaluates the findings
from the data analysis and stakeholder engagement phases of the Homelessness
Strategy 2019-2029 to highlight five major gaps that currently exist.

1. The right mix of affordable housing options
Between 2007 and 2018, the City of Richmond helped secure more than 2,000
new affordable housing units. Despite this success, housing affordability remains
a critical issue in Richmond and across Metro Vancouver. While a number of
organizations provide a critical supply of affordable housing in Richmond,
stakeholders suggested that there are inadequate housing options for individuals
experiencing homelessness and other specific population groups. The following
housing gaps were identified during the stakeholder engagement and research
phases of the Homelessness Strategy project:

® Emergency housing options for youth;

@ Second stage and transitional housing units for women and chiidren;
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® Housing units for people experiencing homelessness that are suitable to
their needs and requirements;

B Culturally appropriate affordable housing for Indigenous individuals; and

B Accessible and affordable rental housing at non-market housing rates for
a range of income and demographic groups.

Figure 11: Richmond'’s Housing Continuum
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The need for dedicated low-barrier housing that meets the individual needs of
people experiencing homelessness was emphasized by stakeholders. These types
of units may be most appropriate for individuals who have experienced chronic or
episodic homelessness, as they may require more intensive and specialized types
of supports. In May 2018, Richmond City Council approved the development of
40 units of temporary supportive housing units for five years. Additional units of
permanent supportive housing were still identified as a need.

While there are approximately 3,268 units of affordable housing in Richmond,
there are significant unmet needs at all points of the housing continuum
(Figure 11). As highlighted by Figure 12, Metro Vancouver estimates that
Richmond will require 14,000 new housing units to meet the needs of new
Richmond residents between 2016-2026.

Figure 12: Metro Vancouver Housing Demand Estimates 2016-2026 for
Richmond

Richmond Housing Demand Estimates 2016-2026

Types of Housing

Very Low-income Rental 130 1,300
Low-income Rental 70 700
Moderate Income Rental 60 600
Above Moderate Market Rental 30 300
High Income Market Rental 30 300
Total Rental 320 3,200
Ownership 1,080 10,800
Total Demand 1,400 14,000

Source: Metro Vancouver, 2016.

The current housing market trends in Richmond place significant pressure on the
entire housing continuum, and without a sufficient supply of affordable housing,
individuals experiencing homelessness face significant challenges when searching
for appropriate longer-term housing options.
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2. Coordinated service delivery

Richmond has many dedicated non-profit housing and services providers and
community organizations that are committed to providing high quality services
to individuals who are experiencing homelessness or are at risk of experiencing
homelessness in the community. Since the 2002 Richmond Homelessness
Strategy, efforts have been made to provide informal and formal collaboration
to integrate service provision. This has resulted in a number of successes for
Richmond, including the establishment of a Drop-in Centre and an Extreme
Weather Response Program.

Multiple stakeholders who provided input into the Homelessness Strategy
2019-2029 however, expressed that the direct delivery of services to persons
experiencing homelessness remains uncoordinated and that non-profit providers
are largely working in isolation. This lack of coordination can cause challenges
for individuals navigating services, including geographical barriers and a lack

of coordinated access points, meaning that clients have to make multiple calls
and trips to access all relevant services. A lack of systems planning can lead to a
number of other challenges including duplication of services and the suboptimal
use of limited resources. Stakeholders suggested that specific gaps exist regarding
coordination at both the strategic (governance) and the outreach and service
delivery levels.

3. Population-specific services

Service providers in Richmond provide a variety of services in Richmond that
serve a range of populations. Despite this, youth are consistently identified as an
under-served group by stakeholders, both in terms of services and housing. In
the 2017 Metro Vancouver Homelessness Count, 12% of all Richmond residents
counted were youth. Service providers state that due to the lack of youth-specific
resources, youth who experience homelessness are likely to seek support in other
municipalities. The 2017 Metro Vancouver Homelessness Count also found that
30% of Richmond's homeless population identified as Indigenous. Despite this
overrepresentation, stakeholders suggested that there may be gaps in culturally-
responsive services that are able to reduce institutional barriers to Indigenous
individuals experiencing homelessness.

Stakeholders emphasised that more youth and Indigenous specific services are
required in Richmond. While knowing that these populations are underserved

in Richmond, little is known about the need for specific services on an ongoing
basis. Stakeholders suggested that additional research is needed and that future
programs and services need to be designed to respond to changing needs.

4. Public education and awareness about homelessness in Richmond

There are a number of community groups and faith-based organizations that
organize and volunteer for programs to support vulnerable residents who are
experiencing homelessness or are at risk of experiencing homelessness. Grass-
roots programs, including community meals and the creation of ‘survival kits," are
an important part of creating a socially inclusive community.
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However, as homelessness is not always visible in Richmond, many residents

are not aware of hardships associated with the experiences of homelessness.
Public attitudes and stigmatization have the potential to create opposition to
critical homeless-centered housing and support services. Critical projects have
the potential to be delayed or cancelled over perceived safety concerns and
misunderstandings about homelessness. Stakeholders stated that discrimination
and stigma towards persons with an experience of homelessness is the main
barrier that individuals face in accessing safe and secure housing.

Stakeholders also noted that a comprehensive public education campaign
regarding homelessness is needed. It was suggested that local initiatives that are
already underway (i.e. public art installations and theatre performances focusing
on lived experiences of homelessness) may create a broader culture of social
inclusiveness and understanding around homelessness.

5. Coordinated and reliable data

Stakeholders have highlighted that local coordinated data is needed in Richmond
to complement data from Metro Vancouver Homeless Count. It was further
noted that local data, including basic demographic information and information
about the individual's use of service, would be support service provision to
Richmond's homeless population. Stakeholders believe that coordinated data
would provide an opportunity to better understand Richmond's homeless
population and to understand how best to adapt specific resources to the needs
of people experiencing homelessness as they change over time.
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4. BEST PRACTICES

As part of the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 update process, the following 1 i ‘
national best and emerging practices were analysed. These best practices 1 | | |
were chosen due to their proven effectiveness in other communities and their , | ] B
transferability to the Richmond context.

Housing First Program

Housing First programs provide access to independent housing units for people
experiencing homelessness. Housing First programs focus on quickly moving
people from homelessness into housing and then providing individualized
supports and services as needed. Services may include mental and physical health
care, addictions treatment, employment and life skills training. The primary
assumption underlying Housing First programs is that people are better able to
move forward with their lives if they are first housed.

Housing First programs have six main principles that include:

1. Rapid housing placement with supports.

This involves helping clients locate and secure accommodation as quickly as
possible and providing moving assistance.

2. Providing clients with choice.
Clients must be given a reasonable choice in terms of housing options as well as
the services they wish to access.

3. Separating housing provision from treatment services.

Acceptance of treatment, following treatment or compliance with services is not
a requirement for clients to access securing housing.

4. Providing tenancy rights and responsibilities.

Clients need to be informed about tenant rights and responsibilities of a typical
tenancy prior to moving in to a Housing First unit. Clients need to contribute a
portion of their income towards rent. Understanding tenant expectations will add
to a client’s life skills training.

5. Integrating housing into the community.

Ideally, Housing First options are integrated into the community and not
segregated. If a client is interested, their outreach worker will work with them to
encourage participation in the community.

6. Recovery based and promoting self-sufficiency.

Housing First programs focus on the capabilities of the client, based on
individualized and self-determined goals. These may include employment and life
skills training, education and participation in the community.

Housing First programs aim to include these core elements; however,
implementing Housing First differs significantly between communities due to
specific needs of people experiencing homelessness, resources and local context.
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Housing First programs are designed to be temporary and enable clients to
transition into long-term housing options that meet their specific needs. When
leaving the program, many Housing First clients become financially independent
and are able to secure independent, private-market housing, while others require
access to non-market housing to maintain housing stability. For clients with
complex health, addiction, or other challenges, maintaining long-term stability
may require access to supportive housing with on-site supports.

Evidence from other Canadian communities, such as Calgary and Winnipeg,
shows that Housing First programs to address homelessness can have a
significant impact in reducing the number of individuals experiencing chronic or
episodic homelessness in a community.

While there is desire to implement a Housing First program in Richmond, several
limitations have been identified. For example, since Housing First programs often
provide housing units in private-market rental buildings, Richmond’s very low
rentalvacancy rate may act as a structural barrier to implementing a conventional
Housing First model.

Systems Approach to Homelessness

Creating a systems approach to addressing homelessness is built on the
foundation of viewing the homeless-serving system as an integrated set of

parts that work towards common goals. Research indicates that collaborative
decision-making is a core component of this approach. Collaboration means
that government (including local, provincial and federal governments) and non-
government stakeholders of all types work together to make collective decisions
about priority needs, strategies and resources required to address these needs.
This includes supporting local and sub-regional planning tables, supporting new
partnerships, building consensus on new regional initiatives, and encouraging
networking, information exchange and education amongst partners.

A systems approach to homelessness often includes the following elements:
Collaborative decision making;
Coordinated outreach and access points;
Community wide use of data systems;
Coordinated service delivery; and

B Integration with other systems and services, including justice, health and
poverty reduction.

An emerging approach within systems planning is to identify a specific
organization to act as the lead “systems planner” organization in the areas of
strategic planning and program administration.

Prevention

In communities across Canada, local responses to homelessness have typically
focused on emergency service provision. In recent years however, there has been
an effort to shift resources and funding to incorporate homelessness prevention
practices into local housing strategies.
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In 2017, the Canadian Observatory on Homelessness outlined three major forms
of homelessness prevention:

1. Primary Prevention

These strategies involve working on structural barriers (e.g. poverty and lack of
affordable housing options) that may cause a household to experience homelessness
and can include poverty reduction measures and ensuring that all households have
access to affordable housing that meets their needs within the community.

2. Secondary Prevention

These strategies involve identifying households who are at imminent risk of
experiencing homelessness and then providing intervention measures and
necessary supports to stabilize their housing and keep the household from
experiencing homelessness. These strategies can include rent supplements for low-
income and vulnerable households to maintain housing and one-time forgivable
loans that may support households who are not able to make a rent payment.

3. Tertiary Prevention

These strategies involve supporting people who have experienced homelessness
to decrease the likelihood they will enter into homelessness again and to
mitigate any negative impacts that may have been caused by the experience of
homelessness. These strategies break the cycle of homelessness and can involve
housing search support and dealing with physical and mental health concerns
that may have led to or been worsened during experiences of homelessness.

Prevention also involves coordinating local outreach and intake processes to help
families and individuals move through a crisis quickly. The goal of this type of
service coordination is the reduction of the type of barriers that often prevent
individuals and families from successfully navigating local services and accessing
critical supports before a crisis deepens.

Education and Awareness

Public perception regarding homelessness can be a significant barrier to a
community’s ability to increase the supply of supportive housing and services for
residents experiencing homelessness. Especially in suburban communities, the
lack of visible homelessness can often create a misperception that homelessness
does not exist. Community opposition to the development of supportive housing
for people experiencing homelessness can be the result of misunderstanding and
fear that the presence of future tenants may cause increases in crime and safety
concerns and decreases in surrounding property values.

Local research shows that neighbourhood crime and property values are

not negatively affected by proximity to supportive housing sites. Monitoring
supportive housing sites after development and publishing findings can help to
educate community members on the positive effects of this type of housing.
Continuing to share these research reports and having in-person meetings with
community members may also help to better address any public concerns at the
initial stages of future projects as well as improve relationships with neighbours.
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Public education and awareness about experiences of homelessness and the
benefits of supportive housing and services can lead to the creation of a more
liveable and inclusive community. Advocacy groups often include perspectives

of people with lived experience, which is proven to be a powerful tool. Some
examples are sharing stories of experiences of homelessness through social
media and news campaigns and supporting the production of art installation and
theatre plays that are developed by people with lived experience. These activities
can help residents understand the difficulties associated with homelessness and
create a more inclusive and accepting community.

As with any change in public perception, creating a culture of inclusiveness takes
time. It requires a multifaceted approach, involving many stakeholders including

local governments, health authorities, school boards, the non-profit and private

sector, and community and faith-based organizations.
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5. STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

The Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 sets out 5 strategic directions and 26 ';
recommended actions to be completed over a 10 year period to respond to :
the needs of vulnerable Richmond residents that are at risk or are experiencing
homelessness. Homelessness is complex and each person’s experience of

homelessness is unique. Therefore, solutions and actions to address homelessness

need to be individualized and adaptable to changing needs over time. The
Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 is centered on a partnership approach and

includes actions that will allow for continuous evolution and responsiveness

to homelessness in Richmond. The recommended actions build upon ongoing

initiatives and work that has been accomplished to date, consider current and

emerging needs, and seek to foster collaboration and cooperation among

stakeholders.

The vision for the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 is:

“By 2029, homelessness in Richmond will be rare, brief and
non-recurring.

Richmond is an inclusive community that works in collaboration to
provide a continuum of housing and support services”.

The Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 includes 5 strategic directions to guide
this vision:

1. Prevent pathways into homelessness;

2. Support residents who are experiencing homelessness;
3. Provide pathways out of homelessness;

4. Foster collaboration among community partners; and

5. Communicate, research and monitor homelessness.

Actions for Implementation

Five strategic directions and 26 recommended actions have been developed to
address the needs of Richmond'’s vulnerable residents who are at risk of or who

are experiencing homelessness. Over the 10 year time frame for the Homelessness
Strategy 2019-2029, the recommended actions have been identified as short-
term (1-3 years), medium-term (4-6 years), long-term (7—10 years) or ongoing.
Seven actions have been identified as priorities. It is important to acknowledge that
while the strategic framework covers a 10 year period, some actions may require
adaption to respond to changing needs or opportunities as they arise.

CNCL - 244



CITY OF RICHMOND | HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2019-2029

Strategic Direction 1:

Prevent pathways into homelessness

In recent years there has been an effort to shift resources and funding to
incorporate homelessness prevention practices into local housing strategies.

For example, eviction prevention programs and education programs for market
landlords can support housing stability for low-income households. Prevention-
related programs can include coordinating local outreach and intake processes to
help families and individuals access available supports, including rent subsidies,
and move through a crisis quickly. The goal of this type of service coordination

is the reduction of barriers that often prevent individuals and families from
successfully navigating local services and accessing critical supports before the
crisis deepens. From a municipal standpoint, the role of the City is to ensure that
the right mix of affordable housing options are available to meet the housing
needs of vulnerable residents and to facilitate collaboration among community
partners to develop prevention services.

1. Continue to create affordable housing rental options across the housing
continuum. (Ongoing, PRIORITY)

Ensuring the right mix of affordable housing options are available to meet the
needs of vulnerable residents can prevent people from experiencing homelessness.
In line with the City's Affordable Housing Strategy 2017-2027 and the Market
Rental Policy, the City, in partnership with senior levels of government and the
private and non-profit sectors, will continue to secure a range of housing options,
with an emphasis on developing housing for vulnerable residents who are at risk
of experiencing homelessness. Regular reviews of land acquisition needs will also
help the City to capitalize on partnership opportunities with the private and non-
market sectors regarding the development of supportive housing and other forms
of affordable housing. Staff will continue to support non-profit-driven affordable
housing developments through the development application process.

2. Facilitate the creation of a collaborative homeless prevention program in
Richmond. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

Experiences of homelessness are unique and can occur abruptly. A collaborative
homeless prevention program will limit experiences of episodic homelessness in
Richmond. The creation of this program will benefit from alignment with both
provincial and senior funding opportunities available from homeless prevention,
and may include a Rent Bank, landlord education and relationship-building building
initiatives, and active case management for individuals with more complex needs.

3. Explore solutions for discharge planning practices for individuals leaving
Richmond-based institutions. (Medium-term: 4-6 years)

Without proper discharge planning, people leaving institutions, including
hospitals, corrections, or addiction treatment and mental health facilities, can
quickly experience homelessness. Through this action, the City together with
community partners will coordinate the review of discharge planning with
Vancouver Coastal Health and non-profit housing providers to help ensure that
people are prepared to live independently in a non-institutional setting and are
able to access appropriate, stable housing and supports necessary for recovery.
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Strategic Direction 2: g
Support residents who are experiencing homelessness f :"’“,‘f’""‘-’”’!k

Homelessness prevention programs unfortunately will not be able to prevent all |

experiences of homelessness. As each experience of homelessness is unique, it is ; | B

important for a community to have a variety of services to respond to the needs of
each client. Homelessness serving agencies have an important role in supporting
residents by providing compassionate, non-judgemental services that work to
support people and to create stability within their lives. The City’s role within these
actions is to facilitate partnerships and collaboration among service providers.

1. Ensure accurate and up-to-date information on supportive services is
available. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

Providing information on how to access specific supports is the foundation
for efficient service referral and navigation. A regularly updated inventory of
supportive services will provide residents experiencing homelessness and non-
profit services providers with up-to-date knowledge of existing and emerging
community assets.

2. Develop a Service Provider Table to focus coordination of supports
for individuals experiencing homelessness or at risk of experiencing
homelessness. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

It is important for service providers and outreach workers from various

agencies to work together to share client-specific challenges, develop common
understanding of services being provided throughout the community, and help
facilitate service referrals between agencies and systems. This table will consist
of representatives from various community organizations involved in outreach in
Richmond.

3. Secure permanent space and sustainable operating funding for an enhanced
drop-in program for individuals experiencing or at-risk of homelessness.
(Short-term: 1-3 years, PRIORITY)

Drop-in programs provide safe spaces for people experiencing homelessness to
access social connection and services including meals, programming, referrals to
housing and supports. Currently, the Richmond drop-in program does not have
security of tenure or an optimal space to provide all required programming (e.qg.
enhanced meals, shower, laundry, and storage solutions for personal belongings).
The City will work in collaboration with community partners to secure adequate
space required to provide enhanced programming for individuals experiencing
homelessness.

4. Advocate to senior levels of government to secure funding for the Extreme
Weather Response Program or a Winter Shelter. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

BC Housing provides funding to communities throughout the province to host
Extreme Weather Response Shelters during the winter months. These shelters are
only activated on nights when weather is deemed severe enough to present a
substantial threat to the health of persons who are living outdoors and are typically
closed during day-time hours. In contrast, Winter Shelters provide 24 hour shelter
during the winter months, so that people living outside are given the option
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of sleeping indoors during the winter, regardless of the severity of conditions.
Richmond requires long-term funding to ensure that residents experiencing
homelessness have the opportunity to access shelter during extreme weather.

5. Explore the use of City spaces as Warming Centres. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

Warming Centres provide safe, warm and non-judgemental spaces for people
experiencing homelessness to find temporary shelter during periods of extreme
weather. Unlike Extreme Weather Response or Winter Shelter, Warming Centres
do not provide sleeping mats, but may be opened during day or nighttime hours
and typically provide snacks.

6. Enhance service provision at City facilities for individuals experiencing
homelessness. (Ongoing)

People experiencing homelessness continue to seek services provided at City
community facilities, including public libraries and community centres. Working

to expand service provision, including access to showers, for people experiencing
homelessness will help to ensure that City facilities remain inclusive and provide
opportunities for healthy and active living for all Richmond residents. In order to
achieve this action, additional resources may be required in City facilities to support
new service provision. Staff will also consider implementing a code of conduct to
ensure community centres remain inclusive and accessible places for all residents.

7. Continue to refine the City’s approach to responding to individuals
experiencing homelessness on City-owned property. (Ongoing)

The City will take an appropriate, compassionate, and consistent approach to
meeting the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness on City-owned
property. The City will work in partnership with local health and service providers
to enhance outreach and referral supports for these individuals, while ensuring
that City-owned property, including public parks, remain clean and safe for all
community residents.

8. Explore opportunities to address storage needs for people experiencing
homelessness. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

Lack of storage is a challenge for individuals experiencing homelessness, as they
have no safe space for personal and sentimental items. Experiencing removal of
personal belonging negatively impacts a person experiencing homelessness and
can create additional barriers to people trying to stabilize their lives. Working
together with community partners to improve processes and communication
practices related to the removal and storage of personal belonging may improve
peoples’ experiences of homelessness.

9. Create shelter and transitional beds for youth experiencing homelessness in
the community. (Medium-term: 4-6 years)

Currently, shelter and wraparound support services for youth (16-24 years)

are accessible only in surrounding municipalities. Therefore, many youth who
experience homelessness in Richmond are required to leave the community and
support network to access needed services. Collaborating with senior levels of
government and community partners to create youth shelter and transitional
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options continues to be a priority, as these services will help youth transition into
stable longer-term housing options, while staying connected to their community.

10. Explore opportunities to address the need for culturally-appropriate supports,
services, and housing for people experiencing homelessness. (Long-
term: 7-10 years)

People who identify as Indigenous are overrepresented in the local and regional
homeless population and often require culturally specific services to stabilize their
lives. In addition, there are a number of other groups (e.g. seniors and members
of the LGBTQ2S community) that may benefit from adaptive and culturally
specific housing and supportive services. It is important to explore opportunities
to develop new services and training of existing service providers to enhance their
service delivery for specific groups who are experiencing homelessness.

Strategic Direction 3:

Provide pathways out of homelessness

Individuals experiencing homelessness are better able to move forward with
their lives if they are first housed then provided with services and supports.
Various models, including Housing First and supportive housing, supplement
housing units with supports related to physical and mental health, education,
employment, or substance abuse. The City’s role within these actions is to
support service provider organizations in coordinating service delivery, and to
advocate to the provincial and federal governments for increased funding for
affordable housing in Richmond.

1. Establish a coordinated access and referral system to connect individuals with
appropriate housing options. (Short-term: 1-3 years, PRIORITY)

The City will provide support and collaborate with community partners to
establish a system that will assess a client’s need for supports and work to place
them in appropriate housing. This referral system will be aligned with other
regional processes, including BC Housing's Vulnerability Assessment Tool.

2. Explore the potential of establishing a Housing First program in Richmond.
(Medium-term: 4-6 years)

Richmond's low vacancy rate and increasing rental costs make it especially
challenging for people experiencing homelessness to access stable and long term
housing options. The establishment of a Housing First Program, managed by non-
profit housing providers with dedicated affordable housing units would allow
homeless-serving organizations to quickly access housing options for their clients.

3. Secure funding and a permanent site for supportive housing in Richmond.
(Short-term: 1-3 years, PRIORITY)

Permanent supportive housing is an effective option to house and support clients
who are experiencing chronic or episodic homelessness, as they may require more
intensive and specialized types of supports. Supportive housing remains a critical
need in Richmond. A permanent site for supportive housing needs to be secured
and City staff will work with BC Housing and a selected non-profit housing
provider on the development application process.
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4. Ensure that emergency housing services focus on achieving long term
housing options. (Ongoing)
Accessing services is the first step people who are experiencing homelessness
take when starting to stabilize their lives. It is important that non-profit
organizations that provide emergency services (e.g. emergency shelter and drop-
in programs) work in collaboration with one another to connect clients with the
correct services, including housing search support. Supportive services, including
life skills and employment training, and addictions and mental health resources
may help to break the cycle of homelessness.

Strategic Direction 4:

Foster collaboration among community partners

Homelessness is a complex issue, and cannot be solved by one organization or
one level of government alone. Collaboration and service coordination is the
most efficient and cost effective way to meet the needs of people experiencing
homelessness and to build capacity within the non-profit sector to provide
enhanced service provision. The role of the City within this strategic direction is
to facilitate and support collaboration among non-profit housing and services
providers to address agreed upon actions.

1. Dedicate appropriate staff resources for homelessness service coordination at
the City of Richmond. (Short-term: 1-3 years, PRIORITY)

Dedicated staff and resources are required to support the continued implementation
of the actions within the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029. The Richmond non-
profit community has stated the need for an individual to coordinate homelessness
initiatives among stakeholders. A dedicated City position (i.e. Homelessness Services
Coordinator) would benefit the community by liaising with community partners to
facilitate service coordination and systems-level planning. Additional staff resources
may also be required at City facilities, including community centres, to adequately
support the needs of individuals experiencing homelessness.

2. Develop a Homelessness Leadership Table for collaboration among agencies
working to prevent or address homelessness. (Short-term: 1-3 years,
PRIORITY)

The Homelessness Leadership Table will play an important role in guiding

the implementation of the Homeless Strategy. Comprised of leaders from

local services providers, the City, BC Housing, Vancouver Coastal Health,

and Richmond RCMP, the table will build on the strengths of the various
organizations, promote collaboration, foster innovation, and encourage ongoing
learning amongst local organizations. The table will continue to monitor

the implementation of the strategy, advocate to the provincial and federal
governments on behalf of the community, and explore opportunities related to
governance and decision-making within the homeless-serving sector.
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3. Continue the annual Health, Social and Safety Grants to support local |
homelessness services. (Ongoing) o ‘

Annually, the City provides Health, Social and Safety Grants for local non-profit a2 AR
organizations to increase organizational capacity and enhance current program |
services. A number of these grants support homelessness services that work to s i
enhance the health and wellbeing of Richmond residents experiencing homelessness.

4. Monitor and pursue funding opportunities for support services for residents
at-risk or experiencing homelessness. (Ongoing)

The City will continue to monitor funding available through provincial and federal
programs, including Reaching Home — Canada’s Homelessness Strategy, as well as
non-profit and philanthropic funding sources, and pursue funding opportunities
for support services for residents at-risk or experiencing homelessness. In
addition, the City will disseminate funding information to community partners.

Strategic Direction 5:

Communicate, research and monitor homelessness

Richmond is committed to fostering an inclusive and healthy community. Public
perception can be a significant barrier to a community’s ability to provide

critical supportive housing and services for residents experiencing or at risk of
homelessness. Positive changes in public perceptions regarding homelessness can
help people experiencing homelessness in the community feel accepted, safe and
supported to access services. The City’s main role is to help facilitate awareness
and education opportunities regarding homelessness and supportive services, and
to trade information.

1. Implement a local data system to track trends and the changing needs of
individuals experiencing homelessness. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

A local data system will supplement the point-in-time data provided by the Metro
Vancouver Homeless Count with more detailed statistics regarding homelessness in
Richmond. This tool will enable the development of more effective programs and
projects that meet the needs of Richmond residents experiencing homelessness.

2. Provide training regarding homelessness service provision to City and
community partner staff working in City facilities. (Short-term: 1-3 years)

People experiencing homelessness are increasingly seeking programming and
support at City facilities. Training of staff at City facilities, including libraries,
community centres, parks as well as Community Bylaws, Fire Rescue and RCMP
staff will support enhanced service provision for Richmond residents experiencing
homelessness. This training should include education about homelessness and
poverty, skills to interact with persons experiencing homelessness (including
persons experiencing mental health and addictions challenges), and an
understanding of self-care for frontline workers.
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3. Raise awareness and educate the community of the factors contributing to
homelessness and the benefits of affordable housing and supportive services.
(Short-term: 1-3 years, PRIORITY)

A communications strategy, including public awareness events regarding housing
and homelessness will provide an opportunity for residents to learn about and
discuss housing affordability and homelessness issues in the community and help
to destigmatize experiences of homelessness. In addition, awareness training

will assist in educating the community on the benefits of supporting vulnerable
residents. Awareness activities would benefit from the perspectives of people
with lived experience to ensure that their voices are included in community
dialogue and to provide local context to experiences of homelessness. Continuing
to research best and emerging practices related to public education will help
ensure that communication is effective and adaptive to any cultural shifts.

4. Advocate to senior governments regarding the changing needs of
homelessness in Richmond and the need for additional funding. (Ongoing,
PRIORITY)

Richmond requires additional funding to support program and project
development for residents who are experiencing homelessness. The City will
continue to advocate to senior levels of government to request funding and
resources to meet the housing and homelessness services need of Richmond
residents and to build awareness of the homelessness needs in Richmond.

5. Report out annually on the progress of the Homelessness

Strategy 2019-2029. (Ongoing)
Presenting annual update reports to City Council will ensure that the City and
community partners are accountable to implementing the Strategy’s actions and
will provide a transparent and public record of ongoing progress made. Annual
reporting will also provide opportunities to refine the Strategy as appropriate to
respond to the changing homelessness needs in the community.
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6. MONITORING
AND EVALUATION

The performance measures and targets defined below are intended to guide
the ongoing monitoring and evaluation of the Richmond Homelessness Strateqy
2019-2029. The measures will be used to monitor the effectiveness of the
Strategy as-a-whole, as well as the impact of specific projects and programs.
Additional measures may be developed as determined by City staff and the

Leadership Table.

Table 1: City of Richmond Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 Monitoring
and Evaluation Framework

Strategic Direction

Prevent pathways into homelessness

Support residents who are
experiencing homelessness

Provide pathways out of
homelessness

Foster collaboration and capacity-
building among community partners

Communicate, research and monitor
the needs of Richmond residents
experiencing homelessness

Performance Measure

Percentage of individuals receiving
support from homeless prevention
programs who are still housed three
months after program intervention.

Number of individuals turned away
from emergency shelters due to
insufficient capacity.

Percentage of shelter clients who
are referred to appropriate housing
options within 30 days.

Number of individuals who are
experiencing chronic homelessness
(individuals without permanent
shelter for one year or longer) in
Richmond.

Number of long-term supportive
housing units created for individuals
experiencing homelessness.

Number of Leadership Table
members satisfied with the Table
(to be collected through annual
membership surveys).

Percentage of front line workers
in City facilities and services who
have participated in homelessness
awareness training.

Target
90% of all program clients by 2029.

Zero individuals turned away
annually by 2029.

100% of shelter clients are referred
to housing options within 30 days
by 2029.

Zero individuals experiencing chronic
homelessness by 2029.

50 long-term units by 2025.

Average membership rating 4 out of
5 on an annual basis.

85% by 2025.
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7. NEXT STEPS

Moving forward, the City will work with community stakeholders to undertake
the recommended actions outlined within the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029.
An immediate priority is creating the Leadership Table to build support amongst
local stakeholders to guide the implementation of the Strategy. Other short-
term actions include promoting the Strategy and its actions to the provincial

and federal governments, Metro Vancouver, and other key stakeholders. On

an ongoing basis, the City will monitor the progress and performance of the
Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029.
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8. CONCLUSION

There are many factors that may lead someone to experience homelessness.
These can include lack of adequate income, access to affordable housing options
and medical services, experiences of discrimination, traumatic events and
personal crisis, physical health problems, disability or mental health concerns.

The City of Richmond is committed to playing a proactive leadership role

to facilitate solutions to homelessness in partnership with a wide range of
community stakeholders. The Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029 will be the
guiding document to further the goal of making experiences of homelessness in
Richmond rare, brief and non-recurring. The Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029
identifies partnerships with senior governments and the private and non-profit
sector to accomplish the recommended actions set out in its Implementation
Plan. Dedicated resources, including City staff time and financial contributions
will also be required to meet the needs of Richmond residents experiencing
homelessness and to implement the Homelessness Strategy 2019-2029.

With involvement from all sectors—public, non-profit, and the private sector—all
Richmond residents experiencing homelessness can receive the supports and
housing options necessary to achieve stability in their lives.
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Staff Report
Origin

Sections 98 and 167 of the Community Charter require that the City prepare annual audited
financial statements. The City’s audited consolidated financial statements for 2018 have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the
Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.

Analysis

KPMG LLP (KPMG) has been appointed by City Council to independently audit the City’s
consolidated financial statements. They have expressed an opinion, that the City’s consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
the City as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated results of operation, its consolidated
changes in net financial assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

The annual financial statements and the auditor’s report for the year ended December 31, 2018
are attached as Appendix 1.

The consolidated financial statements combine the accounts of the City of Richmond, Richmond
Olympic Oval and Richmond Public Library. The City’s investment in Lulu Island Energy
Company (LIEC), a wholly owned government business enterprise (GBE), is accounted for using
the modified equity method. Further information about the basis of consolidation is listed in Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the consolidated financial statements as prepared by management is provided in
the Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis (FSD&A) included in Attachment 2. The
FSD&A explains the significant differences in the financial statements between the reported year
and the previous year as well as between budgeted and actual results. This analysis is intended to
be read in conjunction with the 2018 audited consolidated financial statements.

2018 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

The financial position of the City and its subsidiaries is strong as accumulated surplus increased
in 2018 by $185.0 million to $3.1 billion. These figures reflect the cumulative balance of all
previous activity as of the reporting date December 31, 2018.

Highlights of the 2018 consolidated statement of financial position:
e $3.1B - Accumulated surplus (net worth)

e $2.4B —Net book value of tangible capital assets

e §$540.2M — Reserve balance, including $208.7M committed towards active capital
projects

e $207.2M — Appropriated surplus for future commitments

e  $24.0M — Surplus (cumulative unallocated balance of general, water and sewer
funds), including $6.7M for the City’s 2018 operating surplus (based on the
budget presentation and including transfer to reserves and transfers to/from other
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accumulated surplus items), that, as approved at the December 10, 2012 Council
meeting, will be transferred to the Rate Stabilization Account to minimize future
tax increases or to offset one-time expenditure requests.
$763.1M — Net financial assets

e $1.1B — Cash and investments

e ($158.9M) — Development cost charge balance, including $48.9M committed
towards active capital projects

e ($113.6M) — Deposits and holdbacks

o ($67.4M) — Deferred revenue

e ($32.8M) — Net debt

Overall, the City continues to be in a relatively strong financial position. In aggregate, the City’s
reserve balances, accumulated surplus and developer contributions, have increased from prior
year. Staff will continue to provide Council with updated financial information on a quarterly
basis during 2019 through the Quarterly Financial Reporting process.

2018 Consolidated Statement of Operations

The consolidated revenues exceeded expenses by $185.0 million. These figures represent the
activity during 2018 from January 1 to December 31.

Highlights of the 2018 consolidated statement of operations:

$599.4 million total revenues

o $216.9M taxation and levies

e $109.5M utility fees

e $88.0M contributed assets through development

e $39.1M sales of services
$414.5 million total expenses

e §$162.3 million wages and benefits

e $73.5 million contract services, including RCMP

e $67.9 million supplies, materials and other

e $60.5 million amortization expense
$185.0 million — Annual surplus (the increase in net worth which includes the increase in
capital equity, reserves, appropriated surplus and surplus). The 2018 annual surplus is
comprised of:

e $124.7M increase in investment in tangible capital assets
$55.3M increase in the reserve balance
$2.2M increase in appropriated surplus for future commitments
$1.5M for investment in LIEC
$1.3M net increase in surplus and other, inclusive of an increase of $6.7M for the
City’s 2018 operating surplus that will be transferred to the Rate Stabilization
Account.

Financial Impact

None.
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Conclusion

The City’s audited consolidated financial statements for 2018 have been prepared in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. As noted in the Auditors’
Report, it is the Auditors’ opinion that these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2018, and
its consolidated results of operation, its consolidated changes in net financial assets and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Cindy Gilfillan, CPA, CMA
Manager, Financial Reporting
(604-276-4077)

Att. 1: 2018 City of Richmond Consolidated Financial Statements
2: 2018 Financial Statement Discussion and Analysis
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KPMG LLP

PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3

Canada

Telephone (604) 691-3000

Fax (604) 691-3031

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Mayor and Council of the City of Richmond

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Richmond (the “City"),
which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

e the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended

« the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then ended

¢ the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

e and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated
results of operations, itsconsolidated changes in net financial assets and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our
auditors’ report.

We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
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City of Richmond
Page 2

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Page 3

of Richmond

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the group entity to express an opinion on the
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, Canada

[Date]
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017
Financial Assets
Cash $ 121,861 $ 47,867
Investments (note 3) 1,004,928 972,783
Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC”) (note 4) 29,780 28,289
Accrued interest receivable 7,443 6,651
Accounts receivable (note 5) 29,151 27,036
Taxes receivable 11,844 8,976
Development fees receivable 25,545 22,376
Debt reserve fund - deposits (note 6) 508 508
1,231,060 1,114,486
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 7) 95,231 99,036
Development cost charges (note 8) 158,882 130,684
Deposits and holdbacks (note 9) 113,620 82,786
Deferred revenue (note 10) 67,364 66,287
Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits (note 11) 32,842 37,603
467,939 416,396
Net financial assets 763,121 698,090
Non-Financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (note 12) 2,371,694 2,251,901
Inventory of materials and supplies 3,602 3,762
Prepaid expenses 2,673 2,376
2,377,969 2,258,039
Accumulated surplus (note 13) $ 3,141,090 $ 2,956,129

Contingent demand notes (note 6)
Commitments and contingencies (note 18)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Consolidated Statement of Operations
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018
Budget 2018 2017
(notes 2(p)
and 24)
Revenue:
Taxation and levies $ 216,703 $ 216,908 $ 206,901
Utility fees 100,786 102,915 99,493
Sales of services 39,246 39,111 39,430
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 14,245 15,489 14,647
Provincial and federal grants 7,692 10,355 9,276
Development cost charges (note 8) 31,638 17,432 15,710
Other capital funding sources 58,685 95,859 57,570
Other revenue:
Investment income 14,694 20,705 17,832
Gaming revenue 16,500 16,837 16,753
Licenses and permits 10,384 13,637 13,011
Other (note 21) 10,921 48,678 31,502
Equity income in government business
enterprise (“GBE”) (note 4) - 1,491 1,042
521,494 599,417 523,167
Expenses:
Community safety 101,786 98,500 89,933
Utilities: water, sewer and sanitation 90,460 89,959 87,757
Engineering, public works and project
development 76,077 68,793 66,120
Community services 66,159 63,882 77,387
General government 61,796 52,549 51,720
Planning and development 16,120 15,368 15,417
Richmond Olympic Oval 16,211 15,424 15,331
Library services 10,758 9,981 9,619
439,367 414,456 413,284
Annual surplus 82,127 184,961 109,883
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 2,956,129 2,956,129 2,846,246
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3,038,256 $ 3,141,090 $ 2,956,129

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018
Budget 2018 2017
(notes 2(p)
and 24)
Annual surplus for the year $ 82,127 $ 184,961 $ 109,883
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (162,318) (92,851) (110,742)
Contributed tangible capital assets (47,410) (88,021) (52,249)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 58,717 60,542 58,012
Net loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets - 324 (3,293)
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 213 5,361
Reclassification of assets to LIEC as GBE - - 31,036
Classification of LIEC as GBE - - (2,182)
(68,884) 65,168 35,826
Acquisition of inventories of materials and supplies - (3,602) (3,762)
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (2,673) (2,376)
Consumption of inventories of materials
and supplies - 3,762 3,138
Use of prepaid expenses - 2,376 2,525
Change in net financial assets (68,884) 65,031 35,351
Net financial assets, beginning of year 698,090 698,090 662,739
Net financial assets, end of year $ 629,206 $ 763,121 $ 698,090

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018, with comparative information for 2017

2018 2017
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 184,961 109,883
Items not involving cash:
Amortization 60,542 58,012
Loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 324 (3,293)
Contributions of tangible capital assets (88,021) (52,249)
Accounting adjustments upon transition of LIEC to a GBE - 5,846
Equity income in GBE (1,491) (1,042)
Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accrued interest receivable (792) 321
Accounts receivable (2,115) 730
Taxes receivable (2,868) 446
Development fees receivable (3,169) (5,664)
Inventories of materials and supplies 160 (624)
Prepaid expenses (297) 149
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (3,805) 2,316
Development cost charges 28,198 13,087
Deposits and holdbacks 30,834 9,990
Deferred revenue 1,077 (33)
Net change in cash from operating activities 203,538 137,875
Capital activities:
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (92,851) (110,742)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 213 5,361
Net change in cash from capital activities (92,638) (105,381)
Financing activities:
Repayments of debt (4,761) (4,578)
Investing activities:
Net sale (purchase) of investments (32,145) 5,855
Contribution to LIEC - (4,239)
Net change in cash from investing activities (32,145) 1,616
Net change in cash 73,994 29,5632
Cash, beginning of year 47,867 18,335
Cash, end of year $ 121,861 47,867

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

1. Operations:

The City of Richmond (the “City”) is incorporated under the Local Government Act of British
Columbia. The City’s principal activities include the provision of local government services to
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation,
infrastructure, environmental, recreational, water, sewer, and drainage.

2. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada.

(a) Basis of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements reflect a combination of the City's General Revenue,
General Capital and Loan, Waterworks and Sewerworks, and Reserve Funds consolidated
with the Richmond Public Library (the “Library”) and the Richmond Olympic Oval (the “Oval”).
The Library is consolidated as the Library Board is appointed by the City. The Oval is
consolidated as they are a wholly owned municipal corporation of the City. Interfund
transactions, fund balances and activities have been eliminated on consolidation. The City’s
investment in Lulu Island Energy Company (“LIEC"), a wholly owned government business
enterprise (“GBE"), is accounted for using the modified equity method effective January 1,
2017 (note 2(f)).

(/) General Revenue Fund:

This fund is used to account for the current operations of the City as provided for in the
Annual Budget, including collection of taxes, administering operations, policing, and
servicing general debt.

(7i) General Capital and Loan Fund:

This fund is used to record the City's tangible capital assets and work-in-progress,
including engineering structures such as roads and bridges, and the related debt.

(iif) Waterworks and Sewerworks Funds;

These funds have been established to cover the costs of operating these utilities, with
related capital and loan funds to record the related tangible capital assets and debt.

(iv) Reserve Funds:

Certain funds are established by bylaws for specific purposes. They are funded primarily
by budgeted contributions from the General Revenue Fund and developer contributions
plus interest earned on fund balances.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b) Basis of accounting:

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenue and expenses. Revenue is
recognized in the year in which it is earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as
they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods and services and/or the
creation of a legal obligation to pay.

(c) Government transfers:

Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and recognized as revenue as the
related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are met.
Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be
received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid money market investments and
short-term investments with maturities of less than 90 days from date of acquisition.

(e) Investments:

®

Investments are recorded at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums or discounts.
Provisions for losses are recorded when they are considered to be other than temporary.

Investment in government business enterprises:

Government business enterprises are recorded using the modified equity method of
accounting. The City’s investment in the GBE is recorded as the value of the GBE's
shareholder's equity. The investment’s income or loss is recognized by the City when it is
earned by the GBE. Inter-organizational transactions and balances are not eliminated, except
for any gains or losses on assets remaining within the City.

(g) Accounts receivable:

Accounts receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts and therefore represent
amounts expected to be collected.

(h) Development cost charges:

Development cost charges are restricted by legislation to expenditures on capital
infrastructure. These amounts are deferred upon receipt and recognized as revenue when
the expenditures are incurred in accordance with the restrictions.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

@)

)

Post-employment benefits:

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan. As this plan is
a multi-employee plan, contributions are expensed as incurred.

Post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees. The liabilities related to these
benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement ages
and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these benefits plans are
accrued based on projected benefits prorated as employees render services necessary to
earn the future benefits.

Non-financial assets:

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in
the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are
not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

() Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly
attributable to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the assets. The
cost, less the residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized
on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset Useful life - years
Buildings and building improvements 10-75
Infrastructure 5-100
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 3-40
Library’s collections, furniture and equipment 4-20

Amortization is charged over the asset’s useful life commencing when the asset is
acquired. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for
productive use.

(i) Contributions of tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(7if) Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets:

Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as
assets in the consolidated financial statements.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

@

(k)

o

Non-financial assets (continued):
(iv) Interest capitalization:

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible
capital asset.

(v) Labour capitalization:

Internal labour directly attributable to the construction, development or implementation of
a tangible capital asset is capitalized.

(vi) Leased tangible capital assets:

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership
of property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses
as incurred.

(vii) Impairment of tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer
contribute to the City’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net
book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations.

(viii) Inventory of materials and supplies:

Inventory is recorded at cost, net of an allowance for obsolete stock. Cost is determined
on a weighted average basis.

Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that gave
rise to the revenue. All revenue is recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals
cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is
impractical.

The City is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain taxes and fees imposed by
other authorities. Collections for other authorities are excluded from the City’s taxation
revenue.

Property taxes:

The City establishes property tax rates based on assessed market values provided by the
British Columbia Assessment Authority (BCA). Market values are determined as of July 15t of
each year. The City records taxation revenue at the time the property tax bills are issued. The
City is entitled to collect interest and penalties on overdue taxes.

DRAFT - April 15, 2019

CNCL 2272



CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(m) Deferred revenue:

(n)

(0)

P)

(@)

The City defers a portion of the revenue collected from permits, licenses and other fees and
recognizes this revenue in the year in which related inspections are performed, other related
expenses are incurred or services are provided.

Deferred revenue also represents funds received from external parties for specified
purposes. This revenue is recognized in the period in which the related expenses are
incurred.

Deposits:

Receipts restricted by the legislation of senior governments or by agreement with external
parties are deferred and reported as deposits and are refundable under certain
circumstances. When qualifying expenses are incurred, deposits are recognized as revenue
at amounts equal to the qualifying expenses.

Debt:
Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances.
Budget information:

Budget information, presented on a basis consistent with that used for actual results, was
included in the City's 5 Year Consolidated Financial Plan (2018-2022) (“Consolidated
Financial Plan”) and was adopted through Bylaw No. 9800 on March 12, 2018.

Contaminated sites:

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, or
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material of live organism that exceeds an
environmental standard. Liabilities are recorded net of any expected recoveries.

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive
use and the following criteria are met:

() An environmental standard exists;

(ify Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;

(iif) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;

(iv) Itis expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
(v) Areasonable estimate of the amount can be made.

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy
for a contaminated site.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(r)

(s)

Use of accounting estimates:

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenditures during the reporting period.
Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the value of
contributed tangible capital assets, value of developer contributions, useful lives for
amortization, determination of provisions for accrued liabilities, performing actuarial valuation
of employee future benefits, allowance for doubtful accounts, and provision for contingencies.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the
consolidated financial statements in the period that the change in estimate is made, as well
as in the period of settlement if the amount is different.

Segment disclosures:

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives of
the standard. The City has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial
information in segment format.

3. Investments:

2018 2017

Market Market

Cost value Cost value

Short-term notes and deposits $ 577,416 $ 577,060 $ 499,541 $ 488,215
Government and government

guaranteed bonds 164,943 165,401 177,648 178,246

Municipal Finance Authority

pooled investment 46,150 44716 45,065 43,943

Other bonds 216,419 213,577 250,529 249,120

$ 1,004,928 $ 1,000,754 $ 972,783 $ 959,524
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

4,

Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd:

The City owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of LIEC, which was incorporated
under the British Columbia Business Corporation Act on August 19, 2013. LIEC develops,
manages and operates district energy utilities in the City, on the City’s behalf, including but not
limited to energy production, generation or exchange, transmission, distribution, maintenance,
marketing and sales to customers, customer service, profit generation, financial management and
advisory services for energy and infrastructure.

Summarized financial information relating to LIEC is as follows:

2018 2017
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments $ 8,596 $ 6,227
Accounts receivable 2,242 1,488
Tangible capital assets 32,361 32,033
Total assets 43,199 39,748
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,922 1,550
Deferred contributions 5,268 3,522
Concession liability 6,229 6,387
Total liabilities 13,419 11,459
Shareholder’s equity $ 29,780 $ 28,289
Total revenue $ 4,888 $ 4,224
Total expenses 3,397 3,182
Net income $ 1,491 $ 1,042

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the City's consolidated statement of
financial position are payables to LIEC in the amount of $1,375,799 (2017 - $360,766).

On October 30, 2014, LIEC and the Oval Village district energy utility developer (‘the
Concessionaire”) entered into a 30-year Concession Agreement, which is a public-private
partnership project (“P3"), where the Concessionaire will design, construct, finance, operate, and
maintain the infrastructure for the district energy utility at the Oval Village community. As part of
the Agreement, the infrastructure will be owned by LIEC.

On October 30, 2014, the Concessionaire and the City entered into a Limited Guarantee
Agreement. The City is the Guarantor and guarantees the performance of some of the
Company’s obligations under the Concession Agreement to a maximum of $18.2 million (2017 -
$18.2 million).
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

5. Accounts receivable:

2018 2017

Water and sewer utilities $ 11,999 $ 12,661
Casino revenue 4,010 4,025
Capital grants 5,003 2,929
Other trade receivables 8,139 7,421
$ 29,151 $ 27,036

6. Debt reserve fund deposits and contingent demand notes:

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (the “MFA"). As a
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds is withheld by the MFA in a
Debt Reserve Fund. The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture
whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are
contingent in nature and are not reflected in the City’s accounts. The details of the cash deposits
and contingent demand notes at December 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Contingent
Cash demand
deposits notes
General Revenue Fund $ 508 $ 2,447
7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
2018 2017
Trade and other liabilities $ 64,917 $ 68618
Post-employment benefits (note 15) 30,314 30,418
$ 95231 $ 99,036
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

8. Development cost charges:

2018 2017
Balance, beginning of year $ 130,684 $ 117,597
Contributions 42,792 26,866
Interest 2,838 1,931
Revenue recognized (17,432) (15,710)
Balance, end of year $ 158,882 $ 130,684
9. Deposits and holdbacks:
Balance Balance
December 31, Deposit Refund/ December 31,
2017  contributions  expenditures 2018
Security deposits $ 58,083 $ 63,785 $ (32,311) $ 89,557
Developer contributions 6,953 360 - 7,313
Contract holdbacks 7,830 2,748 (3,928) 6,650
Other 9,920 8,814 (8,634) 10,100
$ 82,786 $ 75,707 $ (44,873) $ 113,620
10. Deferred revenue:
Balance External Revenue Balance
December 31, restricted earned/ December 31,
2017 infows  adjustments 2018
Taxes and utilities $ 19,613 $ 20,450 $ (19,613) $ 20,450
Building permits/development 13,726 7,545 (5,673) 15,598
Oval 6,515 10,304 (10,500) 6,319
Capital grants 20,278 7,240 (7,960) 19,558
Business licenses 2,510 2,136 (2,123) 2,523
Parking easement/leased land 2,423 54 (47) 2,430
Other 1,222 6,833 (7,569) 486
$ 66,287 $ 54,562 $ (53,485) $ 67,364
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

11. Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits:

The interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2018 on the principal amount of the MFA
debentures was 3.30% (2017 - 3.30%) per annum. Interest expense incurred for the year on the
long-term debt was $1,676,895 (2017 - $1,676,895). The maturity date of the MFA debt is April 7,
2024,

The City obtains debt instruments through the MFA pursuant to security issuing bylaws under
authority of the Community Charter to finance certain capital expenditures.

Gross amount for the debt less principal payments and actuarial adjustments to date are as

follows:
Gross Repayments
amount and actuarial Net debt Net debt
borrowed adjustments 2018 2017
General Fund $ 50,815 $ 17,973 $ 32,842 $ 37,603

Repayments on net outstanding debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

2019 $ 4,951
2020 5,149
2021 5,355
2022 5,570
2023 5,792
Thereafter 6,025

$ 32,842
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

12. Tangible capital assets:

Balance Additions Balance

December 31, and December 31,

Cost 2017 transfers Disposals 2018

Land $ 905,118 $ 78,883 $ - $ 984,001
Building and building

improvements 416,029 26,210 (58) 442,181

Infrastructure 1,697,075 47,729 (3,124) 1,741,680

Vehicles, machinery and

equipment 130,776 16,434 (4,417) 142,793
Library’s collections,

furniture and equipment 9,047 1,072 (674) 9,445

Assets under construction 140,752 10,544 - 151,296

$ 3,298,797 $ 180,872 $  (8,273) $ 3,471,396

Balance Balance

December 31, Amortization December 31,

Accumulated amortization 2017 Disposals expense 2018
Building and building

improvements $ 170,579 $ (52) $ 15,752 $ 186,279

Infrastructure 789,365 (2,865) 33,887 820,387

Vehicles, machinery and

equipment 81,260 (4,148) 9,714 86,826
Library’s collections,

furniture and equipment 5,692 (671) 1,189 6,210

$ 1,046,896 $ (7,736) $ 60,542 $ 1,099,702

December 31,

December 31,

Net book value 2018 2017
Land $ 984,001 $ 905,118
Buildings and building improvements 255,902 245,450
Infrastructure 921,293 907,710
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 55,967 49,516
Library’s collection, furniture and equipment 3,235 3,355
Assets under construction 151,296 140,752
Balance, end of year $ 2,371,694 $ 2,251,901
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

12. Tangible capital assets (continued):
(a) Assets under construction:

Assets under construction having a value of $151,295,702 (2017 - $140,751,542) have not
been amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into
service.

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets:

Contributed tangible capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of
contribution. The value of contributed assets received during the year is $88,020,879 (2017 -
$52,248,550) comprised of land in the amount of $69,654,386 (2017 - $36,128,140),
infrastructure in the amount of $13,666,004 (2017 - $13,694,410), and buildings in the
amount of $4,700,489 (2017 - $2,426,000).

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values:

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, the tangible capital asset was recognized
at a nominal value.

(d) Works of art and historical treasures:

The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical cultural
assets including building, artifacts, paintings, and sculptures located at City sites and public
display areas. The assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized.

(e) Write-down of tangible capital assets:

There were no write-downs of tangible capital assets during the year (2017 - nil).

13. Accumulated surplus:

General
and Richmond
Reserve  Waterworks ~ Sewerworks Olympic
Funds Utility Fund Utility Fund Oval Library 2018 Total 2017 Total
Investment in
tangible capital $ 2,323,998 $ - $ - $ 92566 §$ 3235 $2336489 $2,211,771
assets
Reserves (note 14) 533,829 - - 6,324 - 540,153 484,883
Appropriated surplus 183,477 13,533 8,576 1,357 230 207,173 205,010
Investment in LIEC 29,780 - - - - 29,780 28,289
Surplus 15,750 247 6,247 592 1,193 24,029 22,618
Other equity 3,466 - - - - 3,466 3,558
Balance, end of year  § 3,090,300 $ 13,780 $ 14,823 $17,5629 $ 4,658 $3,141,090 $ 2,956,129

DRAFT - April 15, 2019
CNCL 280



CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

14. Reserves:

15.

Balance, Balance,

December 31, Change December 31,

2017 during year 2018

Affordable housing $ 10,168 $ 668 $ 10,836
Arts, culture and heritage 4,183 (180) 4,003
Capital building and infrastructure 69,731 12,032 81,763
Capital reserve 163,599 12,543 176,142
Capstan station 19,725 12,607 32,332
Child care development 3,006 3,800 6,806
Community legacy and land replacement 8,623 229 8,852
Drainage improvement 56,956 (824) 56,132
Equipment replacement 22,168 (2,568) 19,600
Hamilton area plan community amenity 735 17 752
Leisure facilities 6,765 12,000 18,765
Local improvements 6,047 1,108 7,155
Neighborhood improvement 7,100 420 7,520
Oval 4,749 1,675 6,324
Public art program 3,861 999 4,860
Sanitary sewer 42,909 1,198 44 107
Steveston off-street parking 310 7 317
Steveston road ends 211 (56) 165
Waterfront improvement 344 (27) 317
Watermain replacement 53,693 (278) 53,415
$ 484,883 $ 55270 $ 540,153

Post-employment benefits:

The City provides certain post-employment benefits, non-vested sick leave, compensated
absences, and termination benefits to its employees.

2018 2017
Accrued benefit liability, beginning of year $ 30418 $ 31,303
Current service cost 1,947 1,814
Interest cost 879 1,015
Past service credit (397) -
Amortization of actuarial gain (25) (61)
Benefits paid (2,508) (3,653)
Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 30,314 $ 30418
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

15.

16.

Post-employment benefits (continued):

An actuarial valuation for these benefits was performed to determine the City’s accrued benefit
obligation as at December 31, 2018. The difference between the actuarially determined accrued
benefit obligation of approximately $28,423,000 (2017 - $29,892,000) and the liability of
approximately $30,314,000 (2017 - $30,418,000) as at December 31, 2018 is an unamortized net
actuarial gain of $1,891,000 (2017 - $526,000). This actuarial gain is being amortized over a
period equal to the employees' average remaining service lifetime of 10 years (2017 - 10 years).

2018 2017
Actuarial benefit obligation:
Liability, end of year $ 30,314 $ 30,418
Unamortized actuarial gain (1,891) (526)
Balance, end of year $ 28,423 $ 29,892

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the City’'s accrued benefit obligation are as follows:

2018 2017
Discount rate 3.30% 2.90%
Expected future inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Expected wage and salary range increases 2.50% to 3.00% 2.50% to 3.00%

Pension plan:

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for
administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is
a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As
at December 31, 2017, the plan has about 197,000 active members and approximately 95,000
retired members. Active members include approximately 39,000 contributors from local
governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate is then
adjusted to the extent there is amortization of any funding deficit.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

16. Pension plan (continued):

17.

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015, indicated a
$2,224 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. As a result of
the 2015 basic account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the joint trustee agreement,
$1,927 million was transferred to the rate stabilization account and $297 million of the surplus
ensured the required contribution rates remained unchanged.

The City paid $12,759,865 (2017 - $12,284,569) for employer contributions while employees
contributed $10,615,884 (2017 - $10,154,394) to the plan in fiscal 2018.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019.

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate,
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to
individual employers participating in the plan.

Contingent assets and contractual rights:
(a) Contingent assets:

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving
uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not
wholly within the City’s control occurs or fails to occur.

The City has legal claims, service agreements, and land dedications that may qualify as
contingent assets. Amounts cannot be estimated as of December 31, 2018. Contingent
assets are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Contractual rights:

The City has entered into contracts or agreements in the normal course of operations that it
expects will result in revenue and assets in future fiscal years. The City’s contractual rights
are comprised of leases, licenses, grants and various other agreements, including the
provision of police services with the Vancouver Airport Authority. The following table
summarizes the expected revenue from the City’s contractual rights:

2019 $ 13,609
2020 8,814
2021 2,576
2022 2,169
2023 724
Thereafter 5,573
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

17. Contingent assets and contractual rights (continued):

(b) Contractual rights (continued):

The City is entitled to receive revenue from certain other agreements. The revenue from
these agreements cannot be quantified and has not been included in the amounts noted
above,

18. Commitments and contingencies:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

Joint and several liabilities:

The City has a contingent liability with respect to debentures of the Greater Vancouver Water
District, Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District and Greater Vancouver Regional
District, to the extent provided for in their respective Enabling Acts, Acts of Incorporation and
Amending Acts. Management does not consider payment under this contingency to be likely
and therefore no amounts have been accrued.

Lease payments:

The City is committed to operating lease payments for premises and equipment in the
following approximate amounts:

2019 $ 4,808
2020 3,050
2021 3,059
2022 2,329
2023 2,314
Thereafter 9,963
Litigation:

As at December 31, 2018, there were a number of claims or risk exposures in various stages
of resolution. The City has made no specific provision for those where the outcome is
presently not determinable.

Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia (“Association”):

The City is a participant in the Association. Should the Association pay out claims in excess
of premiums received, it is possible that the City, along with other participants, would be
required to contribute towards the deficit. Management does not consider external payment
under this contingency to be likely and therefore, no amounts have been accrued.

Contractual obligation:

The City has entered into various contracts for services and construction with periods ranging
beyond one year. These commitments are in accordance with budgets passed by Council.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

18. Commitments and contingencies (continued):

(f) E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated (“E-
Comm”):

The City is a shareholder of the E-Comm whose services provided include: regional 9-1-1 call
centre for the Greater Vancouver Regional District; Wide Area Radio network; dispatch
operations; and records management. The City has 2 Class A shares and 1 Class B share (of
a total of 32 Class A and 21 Class B shares issued and outstanding as at December 31,
2018). As a Class A shareholder, the City shares in both funding the future operations and
capital obligations of E-Comm (in accordance with a cost sharing formula), including any
lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the shareholder’s withdrawal date.

(g) Community associations:

The City has agreements with the various community associations which operate the
community centers throughout the City. The City generally provides the buildings and
grounds, pays the operating costs of the facilities, and provides certain staff and other
services such as information technology. Typically the community associations are
responsible for providing programming and services to the community. The community
associations retain all revenue which they receive.

19. Trust funds:

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by
agreement or statute. The City holds the assets for the benefit of and stands in fiduciary
relationship to the beneficiary. The following trust fund is excluded from the City’s consolidated
financial statements.

2018 2017

Richmond Community Associations $ 1,837 $ 1,800
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

20. Collections for other authorities:

The City is obligated to collect certain taxation revenue on behalf of other government bodies.
These funds are excluded from the City's consolidated financial statements since they are not
revenue of the City. Such taxes collected (after supplementary adjustments) and remitted to the

government bodies during the year are as follows:

2018 2017
Province of British Columbia - Schools 169,005 $ 162,120
Greater Vancouver Regional District and others 47,298 44 702
216,303 $ 206,822

21. Other revenue:
2018 2017
Developer contributions 33,672 $ 13,014
Tangible capital assets gain on sale of land - 4,217
Penalties and fines 3,784 3,247
Parking program 2,054 1,818
Other 9,168 9,206
48,678 $ 31,502

22. Government transfers:

Government transfers are received for operating and capital activities. The operating transfers
consist of gaming revenue and provincial and federal grants. Capital transfers are included in
other capital funding sources revenue. The source of the government transfers are as follows:

2018 2017

Operating
Province of British Columbia 21,899 $ 21,368
TransLink 3,593 2,656
Government of Canada 1,700 1,580

Capital

Province of British Columbia 5,685 746
TransLink 1,680 456
Government of Canada 36 803
34,593 $ 27,609
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

23. Segmented reporting:

The City provides a wide variety of services to its residents. For segment disclosure, these
services are grouped and reported under service areas/departments that are responsible for
providing such services. They are as follows:

(@)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

)

@

(h)

Community Safety brings together the City's public safety providers such as Police (RCMP),
Fire-Rescue, Emergency Programs, and Community Bylaws. It is responsible for ensuring
safe communities by providing protection services with a focus on law enforcement, crime
prevention, emergency response, and protection of life and properties.

Utilities provide such services as planning, designing, constructing, operating, and
maintaining the City’s infrastructure of water and sewer networks and sanitation and
recycling.

Engineering, Public Works and Project Development comprises of General Public Works,
Roads and Construction, Storm Drainage, Fleet Operations, Engineering, Project
Development, and Facility Management. The services provided are construction and
maintenance of the City's infrastructure and all City owned buildings, maintenance of the
City’s road networks, managing and operating a mixed fleet of vehicles, heavy equipment
and an assortment of specialized work units for the City operations, development of current
and long-range engineering planning and construction of major projects.

Community Services comprises of Parks, Recreation, Arts, Culture and Heritage Services
and Community Social Development. These departments ensure recreation opportunities in
Richmond by maintaining a variety of facilities such as arenas, community centres, pools, etc.
It designs, constructs and maintains parks and sports fields to ensure there is adequate open
green space and sports fields available for Richmond residents. It also addresses the
economic, arts, culture, and community issues that the City encounters.

General Government comprises of Mayor and Council, Corporate Administration, and
Finance and Corporate Services. It is responsible for adopting bylaws, effectively
administering city operations, levying taxes, legal services, providing sound management of
human resources, information technology, City finance, and ensuring high quality services to
Richmond residents.

Planning and Development is responsible for land use plans, developing bylaws and
policies for sustainable development in the City including the City’s transportation systems.

Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation is formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the City.
The City uses the Richmond Olympic Oval facility as a venue for a wide range of sports,
business and community activities.

Richmond Public Library provides public access to information by maintaining 5 branches
throughout the City.
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

23. Segmented reporting (continued):

Engineering,
public works Total
Community and project Community General  Planning and City
safety Utilities  development services government  development subtotal
Revenue:
Taxation and levies $ - $ - $ - $ - $§ 216,908 $ - $ 216,908
User fees - 91,168 11,747 - - - 102,915
Sales of services 6,196 2,816 2,646 9,050 7,730 2,246 30,684
Payments-in-lieu of taxes - - - - 15,489 - 15,489
Provincial and federal grants 154 - 3,658 139 3,125 - 7,076
Development cost charges - 1,226 2,91 4,517 2,202 6,576 17,432
Other capital funding sources - 1,013 15,966 6,402 69,654 2,824 95,859
Other revenue:
Investment income - 543 - - 20,143 - 20,686
Gaming revenue 687 - - - 16,150 - 16,837
Licenses and permits 4,480 6 588 - 10 8,653 13,637
Other 2,373 3,248 701 936 39,303 106 46,667
Equity income - - - - 1,491 - 1,491
13,890 100,020 38,217 21,044 392,205 20,305 585,681
Expenses:
Wages and salaries 41,735 12,698 23,450 32,656 25,445 10,258 146,242
Public works maintenance 61 6,694 5,910 1,950 (1,447) 235 13,403
Contract services 50,867 8,957 3,609 4,609 3,552 1,484 73,078
Supplies and materials 3,094 31,151 1,777 14,438 10,641 673 61,774
Interest and finance 70 21,217 - 67 1,792 - 23,146
Transfer from (to) capital for
tangible capital assets (50) 1,113 7,353 3,241 455 1,291 13,403
Amortization of tangible
capital assets 2,750 8,070 26,809 6,921 11,764 1,331 57,645
Loss (gain) on disposal of
tangible capital assets (27) 59 (115) - 347 96 360
98,500 89,959 68,793 63,882 52,549 15,368 389,051
Annual surplus (deficit) $ (84,610) $ 10,061 $ (30,576) $ (42,838) $ 339,656 $ 4,937 $ 196,630
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

23. Segmented reporting (continued):

Richmond Richmond
Total City Olympic Public 2018 2017
subtotal Oval Library  Consolidated Consolidated
Revenue:
Taxation and levies $ 216,908 § - % - % 216,908 $ 206,901
User fees 102,915 - - 102,915 99,493
Sales of services 30,684 8,346 81 39,111 39,430
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 15,489 - - 15,489 14,647
Provincial and federal grants 7,076 2,899 380 10,355 9,276
Development cost charges 17,432 - - 17,432 15,710
Other capital funding sources 95,859 - - 95,859 57,570
Other revenue:
Investment income 20,686 - 19 20,705 17,832
Gaming revenue 16,837 - - 16,837 16,753
Licenses and permits 13,637 - - 13,637 13,011
Other 46,667 1,764 247 48,678 31,502
Equity income 1,491 - - 1,491 1,042
585,681 13,009 727 599,417 523,167
Expenses:
Wages and salaries 146,242 8,919 7,170 162,331 159,576
Public works maintenance 13,403 - 2 13,405 14,973
Contract services 73,078 - 401 73,479 64,912
Supplies and materials 61,774 4,798 1,347 67,919 65,959
Interest and finance 23,146 - 3 23,149 23,216
Transfer from (to) capital for
tangible capital assets 13,403 - (96) 13,307 25,712
Amortization of tangible capital
assets 57,645 1,707 1,190 60,542 58,012
Loss (gain) on disposal of
tangible capital assets 360 - (36) 324 924
389,051 15,424 9,981 414,456 413,284
Annual surplus {deficit) $ 196,630 $ (2,415) $ (9,254) § 184,961 § 109,883
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CITY OF RICHMOND

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2018

24. Budget data:

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the
Consolidated Financial Plan adopted by Council on March 12, 2018. The table below reconciles
the adopted Consolidated Financial Plan to the budget amounts reported in these consolidated

financial statements.

Financial Financial
plan statement
Bylaw No. 9800 budget
Consolidated financial plan:
Revenue $ 521,494 $ 521,494
Expenses 439,367 439,367
Annual surplus 82,127 82,127
Less:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (419,998) -
Contributed tangible capital assets (47,410) -
Transfer to reserves (66,999) -
Debt principal (4,761) -
Add:
Capital funding 422,925 -
Transfer from surplus 34,116 -
Annual surplus $ - $ 82,127

25. Comparative information:

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform to the consolidated financial
statement presentation adopted for the current year.
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